## **ROADMAP • OPEN ACCESS**

# 2022 Roadmap on integrated quantum photonics

To cite this article: Galan Moody et al 2022 J. Phys. Photonics 4 012501

View the article online for updates and enhancements.

## You may also like

- <u>Roadmap on quantum nanotechnologies</u> Arne Laucht, Frank Hohls, Niels Ubbelohde et al.
- <u>2021 roadmap for sodium-ion batteries</u> Nuria Tapia-Ruiz, A Robert Armstrong, Hande Alptekin et al.

- <u>The ATLAS Fast TracKer system</u> The ATLAS collaboration, G. Aad, B. Abbott et al.

## Journal of Physics: Photonics

## ROADMAP

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

CrossMark

- RECEIVED
- 9 February 2021
- REVISED 22 July 2021
- ACCEPTED FOR PUBLICATION 18 August 2021

PUBLISHED 31 January 2022

Original content from this work may be used under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 licence.

Any further distribution of this work must maintain attribution to the author(s) and the title of the work, journal citation and DOI.



# 2022 Roadmap on integrated quantum photonics

Galan Moody<sup>1,\*</sup>, Volker J Sorger<sup>2</sup>, Daniel J Blumenthal<sup>1</sup>, Paul W Juodawlkis<sup>3</sup>, William Loh<sup>3</sup>, Cheryl Sorace-Agaskar<sup>3</sup>, Alex E Jones<sup>4</sup>, Krishna C Balram<sup>4</sup>, Jonathan C F Matthews<sup>4</sup>, Anthony Laing<sup>4</sup>, Marcelo Davanco<sup>5</sup>, Lin Chang<sup>1</sup>, John E Bowers<sup>1</sup>, Niels Quack<sup>6</sup>, Christophe Galland<sup>6</sup>, Igor Aharonovich<sup>7</sup>, Martin A Wolff<sup>8</sup>, Carsten Schuck<sup>8</sup>, Neil Sinclair<sup>9</sup>, Marko Lončar<sup>9</sup>, Tin Komljenovic<sup>10</sup>, David Weld<sup>1</sup>, Shayan Mookherjea<sup>11</sup>, Sonia Buckley<sup>5</sup>, Marina Radulaski<sup>12</sup>, Stephan Reitzenstein<sup>13</sup>, Benjamin Pingault<sup>9,14</sup>, Bartholomeus Machielse<sup>9</sup>, Debsuvra Mukhopadhyay<sup>15</sup>, Alexey Akimov<sup>15,16,17</sup>, Aleksei Zheltikov<sup>16,17,18</sup>, Girish S Agarwal<sup>15</sup>, Kartik Srinivasan<sup>5</sup>, Juanjuan Lu<sup>19</sup>, Hong X Tang<sup>19</sup>, Wentao Jiang<sup>20</sup>, Timothy P McKenna<sup>20</sup>, Amir H Safavi-Naeini<sup>20</sup>, Stephan Steinhauer<sup>21</sup>, Ali W Elshaari<sup>21</sup>, Val Zwiller<sup>21</sup>, Paul S Davids<sup>22</sup>, Nicholas Martinez<sup>22</sup>, Michael Gehl<sup>22</sup>, John Chiaverini<sup>3,23</sup>, Karan K Mehta<sup>24</sup>, Jacquiline Romero<sup>25,26</sup>, Navin B Lingaraju<sup>27</sup>, Andrew M Weiner<sup>27</sup>, Daniel Peace<sup>28</sup>, Robert Cernansky<sup>28</sup>, Mirko Lobino<sup>28</sup>, Eleni Diamanti<sup>29</sup>, Luis Trigo Vidarte<sup>29</sup> and Ryan M Camacho<sup>30</sup>

- <sup>1</sup> University of California Santa Barbara, Santa Barbara, CA 93106, United States of America
- <sup>2</sup> George Washington University, Washington D.C., United States of America
- <sup>3</sup> Lincoln Laboratory, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Lexington, MA 02421, United States of America
- <sup>4</sup> QET Labs, University of Bristol, Bristol, United Kingdom
- <sup>5</sup> National Institute of Standards and Technology, United States of America
- <sup>6</sup> École Polytechnique Fédérale de Lausanne, Lausanne, Switzerland
- <sup>7</sup> University of Technology Sydney, Sydney, Australia
- <sup>8</sup> Institute of Physics, University of Münster, 48149 Münster, Germany
- <sup>9</sup> John A. Paulson School of Engineering and Applied Sciences, Harvard University, Cambridge, MA 02138, United States of America
- <sup>10</sup> Nexus Photonics, Goleta, CA 93117, United States of America
- <sup>11</sup> University of California San Diego, La Jolla, CA 92093, United States of America
- <sup>12</sup> University of California Davis, Davis, CA 95616, United States of America
- <sup>13</sup> Technische Universität Berlin, Berlin, Germany
- <sup>14</sup> QuTech, Delft University of Technology, Delft, The Netherlands
- <sup>15</sup> Texas A&M University, College Station, TX 77840, United States of America
- <sup>16</sup> PN Lebedev Physical Institute, Moscow 119991, Russia
- <sup>17</sup> Russian Quantum Center, Skolkovo, Moscow Region 143025, Russia
- <sup>18</sup> M.V. Lomonosov Moscow State University, Moscow 119992, Russia
- <sup>19</sup> Department of Electrical Engineering, Yale University, New Haven, CT 06511, United States of America
- <sup>20</sup> Department of Applied Physics, Ginzton Lab, Stanford University, Stanford, CA 94305, United States of America
- <sup>21</sup> KTH Royal Institute of Technology, Stockholm, Sweden
- <sup>22</sup> Sandia National Labs, Albuquerque, NM, United States of America
- <sup>23</sup> Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, MA 02139, United States of America
- <sup>24</sup> Department of Physics, Institute for Quantum Electronics, ETH Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland
- <sup>25</sup> Australian Research Council Centre of Excellence for Engineered Quantum Systems (EQUS), Australia
- <sup>26</sup> School of Mathematics and Physics, University of Queensland, Queensland 4072, Australia
- <sup>27</sup> School of Electrical and Computer Engineering and Purdue Quantum Science and Engineering Institute, Purdue University, West Lafayette, IN 47907, United States of America
- <sup>28</sup> Centre for Quantum Computation and Communication Technology and Centre for Quantum Dynamics, Griffith University, Brisbane, QLD 4111, Australia
- <sup>29</sup> CNRS, Sorbonne University, Paris, France
- <sup>30</sup> Brigham Young University, Provo, UT, United States of America
- \* Author to whom any correspondence should be addressed.

#### E-mail: moody@ucsb.edu

Keywords: quantum photonics, integrated photonics, quantum information, quantum computing, quantum sensing, quantum communications

#### Abstract

Integrated photonics will play a key role in quantum systems as they grow from few-qubit prototypes to tens of thousands of qubits. The underlying optical quantum technologies can only be realized through the integration of these components onto quantum photonic integrated circuits (QPICs) with accompanying electronics. In the last decade, remarkable advances in quantum photonic integration have enabled table-top experiments to be scaled down to prototype chips with improvements in efficiency, robustness, and key performance metrics. These advances have enabled integrated quantum photonic technologies combining up to 650 optical and electrical components onto a single chip that are capable of programmable quantum information processing, chip-to-chip networking, hybrid quantum system integration, and high-speed communications. In this roadmap article, we highlight the status, current and future challenges, and emerging technologies in several key research areas in integrated quantum photonics, including photonic platforms, quantum and classical light sources, quantum frequency conversion, integrated detectors, and applications in computing, communications, and sensing. With advances in materials, photonic design architectures, fabrication and integration processes, packaging, and testing and benchmarking, in the next decade we can expect a transition from single- and few-function prototypes to large-scale integration of multi-functional and reconfigurable devices that will have a transformative impact on quantum information science and engineering.

## Contents

1. Introduction	4
PHOTONIC INTEGRATED CIRCUIT PLATFORMS	7
2. Heterogeneous integrated photonics for quantum information science and engineering	7
3. Scaling integrated quantum photonics beyond silicon	11
4. Heterogeneous integration methods with III-V quantum dots	14
5. AlGaAsOI integrated quantum photonics	16
6. Integrated quantum photonics in diamond	19
7. Integrated quantum and nonlinear photonics with tantalum pentoxide	22
8. Quantum photonics with thin-film lithium niobate	25
QUANTUM AND CLASSICAL LIGHT SOURCES AND QUBITS	28
9. Heterogeneous integration of high-performance lasers for quantum applications	28
10. Chip-scale entangled-photon sources	31
11. Sources and qubits—emissive centers in silicon	34
12. Integrated photonics with silicon carbide color centers	36
13. O-band and C-band single quantum emitters	39
14. Diamond integrated quantum photonics	41
15. Quantum optics in integrated waveguides and photonic crystal fibres	44
QUANTUM FREQUENCY CONVERSION	47
16. Quantum frequency conversion using integrated nanophotonics	47
17. Single-photon nonlinearity in integrated quantum photonics	50
18. Quantum transducers	53
INTEGRATED DETECTORS	56
19. Waveguide-integrated superconducting single-photon detectors	56
20. Integrated waveguide-coupled single photon detection near room temperature	59
APPLICATIONS	62
21. Photonics for trapped-ion quantum systems	62
22. Photonic qudits on chip	65
23. Frequency bin quantum photonics	68
24. Continuous variables computing with lithium niobate photonics	71
25. Quantum cryptography	74
26. Machine learning for photonics	77
References	79

## 1. Introduction

Galan Moody<sup>1</sup>, Volker J Sorger<sup>2</sup> and Daniel J Blumenthal<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> University of California Santa Barbara, Santa Barbara, CA 93106, United States of America

<sup>2</sup> George Washington University, Washington, DC, United States of America

Integrated photonics is at the heart of many classical technologies, from optical communications to biosensors, LIDAR, and data center fiber interconnects. There is strong evidence that these integrated technologies will play a key role in quantum systems as they grow from few-qubit prototypes to tens of thousands of qubits [1]. The underlying laser and optical quantum technologies, with the required functionality and performance, can only be realized through the integration of these components onto quantum photonic integrated circuits (QPICs) with accompanying electronics. In the last decade, remarkable advances in quantum photonic integration and a dramatic reduction in optical losses [2] have enabled benchtop experiments to be scaled down to prototype chips with improvements in efficiency, robustness, and key performance metrics [3, 4]. The reduction in size, weight, power, and improvement in stability that will be enabled by QPICs will play a key role in increasing the degree of complexity and scale in quantum demonstrations. As an example, the timeline in figure 1 illustrates this rapid progression from few-component circuits enabling two-photon quantum interference in 2008 [5] to a decade later with devices combining more than 650 components capable of arbitrary and programmable two-qubit operations [6], enabling advances in foundational quantum mechanics, computing, communications, and metrology [7]. Today, experiments that until recently occupied an optical table, such as Boson sampling [8], diamond color-center emitter arrays [9], and multi-ion quantum logic [10, 11], have moved onchip. Despite these early advancements, the level of QPIC complexity lags that of conventional PICs, which today comprise  $\sim 5 \times 10^3$  components on chip. Interestingly, this progression mirrors the development of digital electronics that occurred through the 1960s and 1970s, leading to potential quantum integration scaling laws and roadmaps. Today's state-of-the-art integration, with current materials, fabrication, and packaging technologies, gives a snapshot of on-chip complexity currently achievable.

#### Roadmap organization and goals

In this roadmap article, we highlight the status, current and future challenges, and emerging technologies in several key research areas in integrated quantum photonics (figure 2), which serves as a complementary resource to the recent OIDA Roadmap on Quantum Photonics [12]. With advances in materials, PIC-based platforms, devices and circuits, fabrication and integration processes, packaging, and testing and benchmarking, we can expect a transition from single- and few-function prototypes to large-scale integration of multi-functional and reconfigurable QPICs. These circuits will play a key role in how quantum information is processed, stored, transmitted, and utilized for quantum computing, communications, metrology, and sensing. This roadmap highlights the current progress in the field of integrated quantum photonics, future challenges, and advances in science and technology needed to meet these challenges. Key areas of research and technology addressed include:

- (a) PIC platforms: While silicon-based photonics has been the workhorse for QPICs owing to the low waveguide loss and the existing foundry infrastructure, other material platforms have been developed to further extend the capabilities beyond what silicon can offer [13], including III–V semiconductors, lithium niobate (LN), silicon carbide (SiC), nitrides, diamond, and tantalum pentoxide (Ta<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub>). Future advances in quantum photonics will likely require a heterogeneous approach [14] that combines multiple PIC materials to achieve high-level functionality with integrated lasers and amplifiers, passive components, modulators, quantum frequency converters, efficient detectors or chip-to-fiber couplers, and control logic.
- (b) Quantum and classical light sources and qubits: Quantum light sources generating single photons, entangled-photon pairs, squeezed light, and other non-classical states are fundamental resources for quantum information science. Quantum sources typically fall into two categories: Quantum emitters that can produce photons on-demand, and sources based on  $\chi^{(2)}$  or  $\chi^{(3)}$  nonlinear optics that produce photons probabilistically. Rapid progress with quantum emitters based on InAs quantum dots (QDs), defects in diamond and SiC, emissive centers in silicon, and probabilistic sources in several nonlinear PICs have already been used successfully for numerous applications in communications, computing, and networking. Further technological developments that improve PIC integration must follow to increase the photon generation quality, efficiency, and rates. Likewise, as these sources currently rely on off-chip optical pumping, improvement in their efficiency will facilitate the integration of precision and tunable



**Figure 1.** Key milestones in integrated quantum photonics in the past decade, beginning with two-photon interference and fundamental quantum gates prior to 2008 to large-scale devices comprising over 650 photonic components and arrays of deterministic and probabilistic quantum light sources on a single chip in 2020. Images reprinted with permission from the American Association for the Advancement of Science and Springer Nature.





pump lasers, filters, and control electronics on chip for packaged, turn-key systems. Such heterogeneous integration may demand co-design approaches beyond current single platform design rules.

- (c) Quantum frequency conversion: Quantum frequency conversion (QFC) is essential to establish interconnections between quantum systems operating in different wavelength regimes, for example, to connect a trapped ion quantum processor to a neutral atom ensemble quantum memory or to an optical network featuring microwave-frequency superconducting qubits. Numerous approaches to frequency conversion exist, including optomechanics and nonlinear photonics and optoelectronics, providing exciting prospects for achieving high conversion efficiency spanning ultraviolet to telecommunications wavelengths with low added noise.
- (d) Integrated detectors: To take full advantage of the low loss and high throughput afforded by integrated photonics, effective schemes for on-chip coupling of high-performance photodetectors with single-and photon-number resolving capabilities are required. Detectors based on superconducting nanowires, which operate at cryogenic temperatures, are the most promising technology to date with near-unity quantum efficiency, low jitter, and low dark count rates. However, the required cooling apparatus sets

system limitations, and room-temperature approaches defeating  $k_BT$  noise would be a game-changer for QPICs. Single-photon avalanche photodiodes (APDs) are appealing due to their near-room-temperature operation, but improvements in their performance are required to compete with superconducting detectors. Notably, both technologies can be integrated with various PIC platforms through direct growth, thin film deposition, or chip-to-chip bonding.

(e) Applications: The potential impact of quantum photonic technologies is vast, ranging from all-optical quantum computing, quantum encryption, and networking to machine learning, sensing, and interfacing with other quantum systems, such as chip-scale ion traps. The key challenges are scaling up the number of integrated components, improving on-chip functionality and performance, and maintaining low excessive noise and loss, while enabling seamless assembly and packaging.

## **Concluding remarks**

In addition to the technological advances, transitioning from proof-of-principle prototypes to packaged and deployable systems used in quantum experiments and applications will require the investment in, and development of, a sustainable quantum photonic ecosystem that brings together interdisciplinary researchers, scientists and engineers, infrastructure and testbeds, and federal, academic, and private partnerships. Key long-term goals of this infrastructure should be to broaden access to quantum integrated technologies and to cultivate future generations of a quantum workforce through training, professional development, and mentorship. Other aspects important to the long-term ecosystem include modernized teaching labs and activities that enable hands-on approaches toquantum mechanics and photonics education. Each article in this roadmap provides an overview of a specific area, highlighting the status, current and future challenges, and advances in the science and technology to meet these challenges, together covering the plurality of fields in this exciting space.

## PHOTONIC INTEGRATED CIRCUIT PLATFORMS

# 2. Heterogeneous integrated photonics for quantum information science and engineering

Paul W Juodawlkis, William Loh and Cheryl Sorace-Agaskar Lincoln Laboratory, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Lexington, MA 02421, United States of America

#### Status

Integrated photonic technologies will play a central role in advancing the frontiers of quantum information science and in the full realization of quantum processing, sensing, and communication applications. The required scaling (i.e. thousands to millions of quantum processing or sensing elements) and functional complexity of these quantum systems will only be possible through the high density, enhanced performance, and environmental stability afforded by photonic integrated circuits (PICs). Photonic functions that will be needed include light generation (both uncorrelated photon beams and entangled-photons), amplification, modulation, switching, routing and qubit input/output (I/O) interfacing, passive splitting/combining, filtering, frequency translation, and detection (both single photon and linear). Due to the distinct material properties required to realize these functions over the operating wavelengths (i.e. ultraviolet to near-infrared) associated with the various quantum modalities, it is highly unlikely that the required PICs can be made using a homogeneous material platform such as silicon or a single compound-semiconductor material system. Therefore, advances in quantum information science and engineering will require the development of heterogeneous material PICs that are made available to the community through a collaborative ecosystem of design, fabrication, packaging and evaluation resources.

Figure 3 depicts a generic heterogeneous PIC platform that combines the fabrication process control and yield of advanced silicon foundry toolsets with the wide-ranging materials options and flexibility of post-silicon-fab hybrid integration of materials and components. The base platform is comprised of multi-layer dielectric (i.e. silicon nitride (SiN), alumina oxide  $(Al_2O_3)$ ) and silicon waveguides that are used to implement passive (e.g. figure 3(a) where a subset of layers were used [15]) and active components, and to create optimized interfaces for heterogeneous integration. Low optical losses have been achieved in both medium-confinement waveguides ( $<0.2 \text{ dB cm}^{-1}$  in SiN from 600–1650 nm, 3 dB cm<sup>-1</sup> in Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> at 370 nm [16]) and low-confinement waveguides ( $0.001 \text{ dB cm}^{-1}$  in SiN from 1300–1650 nm). Optical sources and other non-silicon-based active devices can be added through a combination of material growth and deposition, layer transfer, wafer bonding, and pick-and-place techniques. Exemplar demonstrations of such a heterogeneous PIC platform include high-power (>300 mW) low-noise lasers incorporating flip-chipped semiconductor optical amplifiers (figure 3(d)) [17], surface-bonded optical gain media (figure 3(c)) [18, 19], and low-loss surface-bonded thin-film lithium-niobate (TFLN) waveguides (figure 3(b)) [20]. While this initial work along with the work of other photonic developers are important first steps, a more significant and coordinated effort is required to develop the platforms needed by the community.

#### Current and future challenges

The principal challenges to developing heterogeneous PICs for the quantum community are:

- The breadth of the requirements across the different quantum modalities
- The evolution of these requirements as the field transitions from fundamental scientific investigations to scaled engineering prototypes and products
- The variety of photonic materials, devices, and integrated circuits needed to meet the requirements
- The electronic–photonic integration needed to initialize and control the photonic functions, and to process, convert, and transfer the I/O information.

We briefly address each of these principal challenges in the following paragraphs.

#### Breadth of requirements

The photonic functions and their associated requirements can be divided into two major classes based on whether the photons serve as the qubits or if they are used to interface to the physical qubit. Quantum systems based on photon qubits require sources of entangled photons, ultralow optical propagation loss, control and maintenance of optical coherence, and high-efficiency detection. For systems in which the photons serve as the I/O to the physical qubit, many of the above requirements can be relaxed. However, other qubit-specific requirements, which will depend on the physics of the photon-to-qubit coupling will be present. The need to operate at many different wavelengths is also a challenge.



#### Evolution of requirements

The requirements of photonics in large-scale quantum systems are still being defined as early demonstrations are performed. For example, consider trapped-ion-based quantum systems for quantum computing and optical atomic clocks. As mentioned by Chiaverini *et al* in section 21, MIT LL has integrated SiN waveguides and vertical-grating lenses with ion-trap surface-electrodes to deliver the six wavelengths required to perform qubit operations on a  $Sr^+$  ion (figure 3(a)) [15]. Significant challenges must be overcome to scale this architecture to the number of trapped ions required for array-based optical atomic clocks and practical quantum computing. These include waveguide loss, size and efficiency of the grating couplers, the lack of high-extinction optical switches and frequency shifters having small enough size to be integrated at each trapped-ion site, crosstalk due to scattered light in high-density PICs, fabrication yield and reproducibility, and the need for integrated optical amplifiers, single-photon sensitive photodetectors (figure 3(e)), and electronics. Equally difficult scaling challenges exist for other quantum modalities. One example is networking of superconducting quantum processors via optical fiber interconnects that will require the development of coherent microwave to optical photon conversion. Transition from the lab to the field will also require improvements in environmental stability and packaging.

#### Variety of materials, devices, and integrated circuits

It will be very costly, both in terms of dollars and time, to develop and maintain uncoordinated integrated photonics platforms to address the wide range of photonic functions and operating wavelengths required across the quantum modalities (see section 2.1 above).

#### Electronic-photonic integration

Most quantum photonic functions will require integration with electronics to provide DC power, control, and I/O with the classical world. The level of integration increases with the number and density of qubits to support the required interconnects. It will be critical that this integration be implemented in a way that is both scalable and shields the quantum elements from electromagnetic interference (EMI) generated by the electronics.

#### Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

To address the significant challenges to providing broadly applicable, scalable, and cost-effective heterogeneous integrated photonics to the quantum community, the following advances will be required:

 A community-defined set of broad-wavelength (~0.35–2.0 μm), multi-waveguide-layer base platforms containing both core photonic devices and structures for implementing a range of heterogeneous photonic

Integrated photonic functions/devices	Challenges	Required scientific and technological advances
Low-loss waveguides in UV/visible/near-IR High-Q resonators	<ul> <li>Loss limits transmission and resonator Q</li> <li>Rayleigh scattering significant at visible/UV λ's</li> <li>Material loss limits achievable Q</li> <li>Low-Γ resonators consume large area</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Develop low-loss materials and fabrication techniques</li> <li>Use low-confinement (Γ) for reducing scattering loss</li> <li>Develop high-Γ ultralow-loss platform</li> <li>Mature couplers to transition between low-Γ and high-Γ</li> </ul>
Gain media covering UV/visible/ near-IR	• Multiple compound- semiconductor (III–V) material systems needed to cover UV to	<ul> <li>Develop broadband III–V and solid-state gain media</li> <li>Use nonlinear frequency</li> </ul>
Compact lasers with ultra-narrow linewidth	<ul> <li>near-IR λ range</li> <li>Achieving required stability with compact cavity</li> <li>Low power conversion efficiency</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>conversion to cover λ gaps</li> <li>Mature on-chip SBS lasers at visible and near-IR λ's</li> <li>Improve power conversion effi-</li> </ul>
Quantum sources	<ul><li>limits scaling</li><li>Entangled-photon generation rate too low</li><li>Precise location of single-photon</li></ul>	<ul> <li>ciency of III–V gain media</li> <li>Mature on-chip SPDC sources having high efficiency</li> <li>Develop and mature new materials</li> </ul>
High-efficiency frequency conversion	<ul><li>sources in PICs</li><li>Acousto-optic frequency shifters are too large</li><li>Low conversion efficiency between</li></ul>	<ul><li>(SiC, AlN, diamond)</li><li>Develop improved electro-optic materials and devices</li><li>Develop optomechanic quantum</li></ul>
Compact high-extinction optical switches	<ul> <li>microwave and optical photons</li> <li>Required extinction (e.g. &gt;70 dB for most optically active qubits) difficult to achieve via interfero- metric switches</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Develop materials and devices for non-interferometric switches (e.g. acousto-optic, electroabsorption)</li> </ul>
Low-static-power, low-loss optical switches	<ul> <li>Power of thermo-optic switches limits scaling</li> <li>Loss of non-thermal switches limits scaling</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Develop improved materials and devices (e.g. polymers, strain- induced χ<sup>(2)</sup>, chalcogenides)</li> </ul>
Single-photon detectors	<ul> <li>Geiger-mode APDs generate large EMI</li> <li>Superconducting detectors require low-K temps</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Develop EMI shielding techniques</li> <li>Optimize heterogeneous PIC platform for low temps</li> </ul>
Very-large scale integration (VLSI) PICs	<ul> <li>Required number (&gt;10<sup>6</sup>) of current photonic devices will require area ≫ stepper reticle area</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Develop sub-wavelength photonic materials &amp; devices</li> <li>Develop wafer-scale lithography and fab processes</li> </ul>
Electronic–photonic integration	<ul><li>Difference in photonic and electronic device sizes</li><li>Proximity of photonics and electronics induces EMI</li></ul>	• Mature wafer-bonded 3D integration incorporating metallic-electrode EMI shielding layers

 Table 1. Summary of some key integrated photonics functions, challenges, and required advances for quantum information science and engineering.

integration techniques (e.g. flip-chip bonding, surface bonding, epitaxial growth), and that are fabricated using silicon-foundry-compatible materials and processes well described by open process design kits (PDKs)

- A variety of application-specific materials and devices that can be heterogeneously integrated onto the base platforms using either primary foundry or secondary hybrid-integration facilities
- Three-dimensional (3D) integration with electronics using wafer-bonding techniques to decouple the photonic and electronic fabrication processes and to facilitate enhanced EMI shielding.

Table 1 summarizes a number of key integrated photonic functions/devices, the challenges to developing them, and the advances that will be required to meet the challenges. Several of the challenges require material, fabrication and device advances to reduce optical loss, realize efficient optical gain, and enable frequency translation over a wide spectral range. Scaling to large numbers of on-chip gain elements is expected to require improvements in heteroepitaxial material growth and integration with silicon [21] and

dielectric waveguides. Comparable material and integration advances will be required to realize high-rate, reproducible sources of single and entangled photons integrated with low-loss waveguides for transmission and optical processing. Integration of nonlinear optical materials such as surface-bonded TFLN for switches and frequency shifters will need to be scaled from chip to wafer level. Silicon-foundry-compatible piezoelectric materials (e.g. aluminium nitride (AIN)) will likely be required in the base platform to implement electro-optomechanical resonators to enable coherent transduction between microwave and optical photons. New materials and device concepts will also be required to realize large arrays of optical switches having high extinction, low excess loss, and low static power dissipation. Transitioning from the lab to the field will require low-cost, environmentally robust subsystems such as ultra-narrow-linewidth lasers based on stimulated Brillouin scattering (SBS) in optical fibers [22, 23] or ultralow-loss on-chip waveguides.

#### **Concluding remarks**

The quantum community will benefit from a collaborative and coordinated effort to develop heterogeneous PIC base platforms, materials, devices and circuits, flexible integration processes, and advanced packaging techniques. Heterogeneous integration will be necessary due to the breadth of the photonic requirements across the various quantum modalities, the evolution of these requirements as the field matures, and the wide range of technologies needed to meet these evolving requirements. The critical need for tight integration with electronics for control, processing, and I/O will also eventually require 3D electronic–photonic integration. Enabling rapid progress in the field will require cost-effective heterogeneous solutions that combine the existing silicon-foundry infrastructure with post-foundry integration of application-specific materials and devices at custom hybrid-integration facilities.

## Acknowledgments

The authors gratefully acknowledge useful discussions with MIT LL colleagues John Chiaverini, Siddhartha Ghosh, Christopher Heidelberger, Robert McConnell, and Danna Rosenberg. This material is based upon work supported by the Under Secretary of Defense for Research and Engineering (USDR&E), the United States Air Force, and the Defense Advanced Research Projects Agency (DARPA) under Air Force Contract No. FA8702-15-D-0001. Any opinions, findings, conclusions or recommendations expressed in this material are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily reflect the views of the USDR&E, the United States Air Force and DARPA.

## 3. Scaling integrated quantum photonics beyond silicon

*Alex E Jones, Krishna C Balram, Jonathan C F Matthews and Anthony Laing* QET Labs, University of Bristol, Bristol, United Kingdom

#### Status

Silicon photonics has been pivotal for increasing the complexity and component-number of on-chip quantum circuitry and revealing the disruptive potential an engineered integrated approach can take for a quantum technology [7]. Optical circuits in silicon benefit from compatibility with established CMOS processes, and silicon's high component density, operation at telecom wavelengths, and nonlinear properties mean it ticks a lot of boxes on the wish list for an integrated photonics platform. Research also benefits from the maturity of the platform that has to date been largely developed for classical telecommunications. As a result, it has been the material of choice for many early demonstrations of building blocks for photonic quantum computing and has seen rapid growth in the number of generated photons and integrated components over the last 10 years [7, 24, 25].

Yet while silicon as a largely homogenous platform for quantum photonics provides a straightforward route to manufacturability, relying on a single material to deliver almost all of the core functions required for quantum information processing (QIP) incurs severe overheads. In silicon, or indeed in other homogenous integrated quantum photonics platforms, photon generation is spontaneous and there is no direct photon–photon interaction. The lack of deterministic methods to generate, store, and entangle photons is addressed by deploying large amounts of probabilistic measurement and feed-forward operations. The feasibility of these schemes to deliver fault tolerant quantum computing is as yet unproven.

Taking a step back, we can consider the hardware elements of a more sophisticated and intrinsically scalable photonic quantum processor. Ideally, this would comprise deterministic sources of single-photons or photonic entangled states, frequency conversion modules, quantum memories, and controlled light–matter interaction. To support the integration of some, or even all of these capabilities, a heterogeneous platform would benefit from an interfacing material with a broad transparency, such as SiN, LN, or AlN, to name a few. However, manufacturing such a heterogeneous device is also extremely challenging.

Here we discuss the challenges to further scale silicon quantum photonics as a contemporary manufacturable solution for QIP. We then discuss the necessary long-term endeavour, to mass-integrate arrays of functional quantum components, as well as classical readout and control, into a heterogeneous platform for quantum computing.

#### Current and future challenges for silicon

To maintain its role as a contemporary option for QIP, silicon quantum photonics must continue to make progress against a number of key challenges:

#### Photon loss

While loss-tolerant approaches to photon QIP tasks exist, reducing propagation losses remains desirable e.g. for integrated delay lines. Tight confinement of light in silicon waveguides increases sensitivity to sidewall roughness, typically leading to significant propagation losses. Tapering from single- to multi-mode waveguides for straight sections can drastically reduce this. A different approach is to interface silicon with a different material such as SiN, where a lower index contrast means better propagation losses that can be pushed down to <0.1 dB m<sup>-1</sup> [26]. Another important loss mechanism in silicon is two-photon absorption (TPA). When operating in the near-IR telecom band, this nonlinear process limits the strength of pump fields when generating photons through spontaneous four-wave mixing (SFWM). Once again, moving to a material with a wider band gap like SiN eliminates this problem. Alternatively, recent work has demonstrated the advantages of operating at longer wavelengths within silicon, to heavily suppress TPA, thus reducing nonlinear propagation losses whilst retaining the full toolbox of silicon photonic components [27]. Although supporting infrastructure for longer wavelength operation is still required. A variety of approaches for reduced loss in/out-coupling to photonic chips exists, but many specialised processes are not currently available in commercial foundries [28].

#### Detectors and cryogenic operation

Superconducting nanowire detectors are increasingly being integrated with optical circuitry [29] (also, see sections 19 and 20 of the roadmap). Associated challenges are pump field rejection from photon generation and co-integration of cryogenic amplifiers and logical electronics for processing detector signals: silicon electronics becoming susceptible to carrier freeze-out that alters e.g. transistor behaviour. Reading out large arrays of superconducting detectors for processing using room temperature electronics may require many



**Figure 4.** An integrated electronics die directly wire-bonded with a silicon photonics integrated circuit reduces total device capacitance, thereby enabling in this instance [33] a high bandwidth homodyne detection for squeezed light detection on-chip (Photo credit: Joel Tasker, University of Bristol).

coax cables, increasing heat load from cryostats, but optical readout methods could circumvent this. Integrated arrays of high-efficiency room temperature APDs would allow full operation at ambient temperatures, leveraging one of the greatest advantages photons have over other quantum technology platforms.

#### Switching

Fast, low-loss modulation and switching are critical for many quantum computing protocols and multiplexing strategies for making e.g. probabilistic photon generation near-deterministic. Common switching mechanisms in silicon are carrier injection modulation and thermal phase shifting, but these respectively suffer from phase-dependent losses and limited speed. While silicon lacks a natural second-order nonlinearity, it is possible to induce one by applying DC fields that enables fast, cryogenically compatible switching [30]. An alternative approach is to integrate materials capable of supporting fast electro-optic (EO) switching such as LN or barium titanate, and engineer high efficiency coupling to silicon [31, 32].

#### Interfacing photonics and electronics

The ability to drive and process electrical signals to manipulate and to measure light on a chip motivates better integration of electronics and photonics. Recent work on high-bandwidth detection of squeezed light using a silicon photonic integrated chip wire-bonded directly to a silicon electronics die demonstrated the importance of leveraging the best performing photonic and electronics components, even if they are not available from the same foundry process [33] (figure 4). By bringing the components close together, the total device capacitance in [33] was curtailed, thus enabling the highest bandwidth of shot-noise limited detector performance yet reported—a tangible advantage to a quantum application brought about by miniaturization and integration. Research into the performance of monolithic electronic–photonic integrated circuits is currently hampered by limited availability of high-performance components across both at commercial foundries and a reduced pool of simultaneous expertise in integrated photonics, high speed, low noise microelectronics and quantum technology.

As quantum processors increase in size and complexity, chip-to-chip connectivity will become critical, not just for exploiting superior component performance in different materials, but also for devices to expand beyond a single wafer. Transmission of quantum information between silicon chips has been demonstrated using optical fibre and sophisticated locking mechanisms for stability [34]. Like approaches for powerful modern computer processors, integrated optical and electronic interposers would provide a more stable, manufacturable and scalable method of quantum and classical communication between different dies.

## Advances in science and technology for photonic quantum computing hardware

A grand ambition for photonic quantum technologies is to bring forth a CMOS-like manufacturable approach for heterogeneous integrated quantum photonic processors. This would enable the promised generations of disruptive quantum technologies, including fault tolerant quantum computing. Some immediate and important advancements required to achieve this can be specified.

## Interfacing integrated photonics and functional components

Incompatible with the top-down fabrication methods in today's commercial foundries, heterogeneous integration at scale is a key challenge for modern nanofabrication. While it is relatively straightforward to integrate a few atom-like systems in a cavity, it is not understood how to integrate O(10) solid state atoms in cavities that can then be connected to deliver a real system-level advantage for QIP. We must therefore develop methods to interface foundry fabricated photonic devices, as a photonic interconnecting backbone, with solid state systems, which are typically in the form of nanoscale inclusions such as NV centres in nanodiamonds or membranes such as InAs QDs.

## Control and readout

While there are multiple electronic methods to control to tune, stabilize, and drive the spin transitions of a single emitter in a cavity, the electrical wiring for tens of emitters becomes problematic. Here, quantum photonics is different from other purely electrical quantum platforms like superconducting and spin qubits, as one needs to keep the metallic wires far enough away from the optical cavities to reduce the excess scattering losses, while still being close enough to drive the spins efficiently. Two chip solutions where the photonic circuitry is implemented in one platform and the RF and control circuitry is implemented on another ASIC provide one way to address this problem. Yet technical challenges, mainly related to efficiency, must be addressed for this approach to work reliably at cryogenic temperatures with low thermal power budgets.

## Characterisation

New rapid characterisation techniques for emitter identification are required. The current gold standard for single emitter identification at a given site requires measuring the second-order intensity correlation  $(g^{(2)})$ , that can take up to 10 min per site (depending on the photon flux). This method does not scale if one is interested in building O(10) emitter systems, which might require going through 100 s of sites to find suitable emitters. Developing novel spectroscopic and algorithmic techniques to speed up this process is also critical if hybrid integrated photonics can be implemented at scale.

## **Concluding remarks**

We expect that silicon photonics will remain an important testbed for further scaling of QIP, if the key challenges can be overcome. However, the advances required to deliver a CMOS-like infrastructure for heterogeneous integrated quantum photonics, and delivery of fault tolerant quantum computing, will require significant and coordinated effort across the photonics community.

## Acknowledgments

The authors thank Lawrence Rosenfeld, Jacob Bulmer, and Patrick Yard for useful discussions and suggestions. J C F M acknowledges support from European Research Council starting Grant ERC-2018-STG 803665. Support from the Engineering and Physical Sciences Research Council (EPSRC) Hub in Quantum Computing and Simulation (EP/T001062/1) is acknowledged. Fellowship support from EPSRC is acknowledged by A L (EP/N003470/1).

## 4. Heterogeneous integration methods with III-V quantum dots

#### Marcelo Davanco

National Institute of Standards and Technology, United States of America

#### Status

Heterogeneous integration encompasses bonding of two dissimilar materials followed by device fabrication in a single process flow. The approach has been applied in the fabrication of optoelectronic [35] and nonlinear photonic [36] devices on silicon substrates and on-chip waveguides, with gain, absorption and enhanced optical nonlinearities provided by III-V semiconductor materials. While much of the initial work involved bonding at the chip scale, bonding at the wafer scale was later also demonstrated [37]. Heterogeneous integration at the chip scale was used by Bakir *et al* [38] to produce, for the first time, optically pumped lasers based on III-V epitaxial QDs on a silicon substrate. Further progress led to demonstration of electrically injected QD lasers on silicon [39]. In 2017, the approach was used at the chip scale to produce SiN-based photonic circuits with integrated single-photon sources (SPSs) based on single InAs QDs [40], shown in figures 5(a)-(d). Whereas devices in this work contained multiple, randomly positioned QDs, deterministic fabrication of SPSs with QDs precisely located within GaAs nanowaveguides were demonstrated in 2019 by Schnauber et al [41], shown in figures 5(e) and (f). This later work also showed triggered and post-selected indistinguishable single-photon emission into SiN waveguides, with reported coherence lengths comparable to those obtained from InAs self-assembled QDs in GaAs-only devices, under similar optical pumping conditions. The introduction of single QDs in quantum silicon photonic circuits has the potential to greatly scale integrated quantum photonic information systems that rely on probabilistic gates, which generally require highly efficient single-photon qubit generation, low-loss waveguide interferometric networks, and highly efficient single-photon detection. On-chip single QDs may act as triggered, high-rate sources of indistinguishable photons, and can couple with high efficiency to the silicon photonic circuit through carefully designed GaAs nanophotonic structures. Single QDs strongly coupled to on-chip cavities furthermore offer a path towards single-photon nonlinearities, which could enable deterministic quantum gates on chip [42]. It is worth noting that hybrid integration techniques, in which III-V and silicon-based devices are produced in separate runs and then brought together through methods such as pick-and-place or transfer-printing, have also successfully produced silicon photonic devices with on-chip QD SPSs [4].

#### Current and future challenges

Deterministic fabrication of on-chip devices with functionality based on single epitaxial QDs currently poses a formidable challenge towards scalable integration. Single-dot device functionality requires the creation of an efficient interface between a single QD and a single, efficiently accessible, spatially confined optical mode-e.g. a cavity resonance or waveguide mode. This in turn requires positioning the single dot with sub-wavelength-scale precision at specific locations within the extent of the spatial optical mode, in order to maximize coupling. While site-selective QD growth techniques have allowed such an achievement [43], self-assembled QDs produced via the Stranski-Krastanow (S-K) growth mode have generally demonstrated superior coherence, a critical characteristic for quantum photonic applications. In contrast with site-controlled dots, self-assembled QDs are produced at random positions across the growth wafer surface, and generally present a wide heterogeneity of optical properties such as transition energies, quantum yield and coherence times. Deterministic fabrication of a single S-K dot device, then, requires first that an individual emitter with the desirable optical properties be identified within largely heterogeneous, as-grown ensemble. Subsequently, the photonic geometry that supports the desired, interfacing optical mode must be fabricated around the identified QD. It is worth noting that such challenges exist for any device that derive their functionality from single quantum emitters, in both homogeneous and heterogeneous material platforms, and in hybrid and heterogenous fabrication approaches.

#### Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

Advances in site-selective growth to allow better control of QD spectral homogeneity and coherence properties would significantly improve integration scalability, by allowing deterministic single QD device fabrication through standard, scalable top-down processing techniques. In the absence of such possibility, scalable integration of single S–K QD devices would greatly benefit from the development of high-throughput single-QD localization and spectroscopy systems. Ideally, such a system would allow fast identification of large number of dots emitting indistinguishable single-photons at desired wavelengths, for integration with nanophotonic geometries. Because S–K QDs occur at random locations, however, such an approach would result in randomly located single-dot devices. These devices would then have to be



**Figure 5.** Heterogenous integration for single QD devices. (a) Schematic of SiN waveguide-based quantum photonic circuits with directly integrated SPSs. As shown in the inset, the sources are GaAs-based nanophotonic geometries (here a straight waveguide with adiabatic mode transformers) that host single QDs, which can be triggered to emit single-photons at a time. (b) Possible process flow for the geometry in (a). (b) False-color scanning electron micrograph of fabricated SiN-coupled SPS as in (a). (d) Emission spectrum and second-order correlation for a single QD in the device in (c), indicating single-photon emission [40]. (e) While in (c) the QDs were randomly located within the GaAs waveguides, in [41] cathodoluminescence (CL) images were used to identify single QDs before fabrication (top left). The CL image was used to deterministically produce the waveguide shown on the right-hand side around the located QD with high precision, as evidenced in the post-fab CL map. (f) Second-order correlation of light emission from the QD in (e), where the strong anti-bunching at zero time delay indicated pure, triggered single-photon emission into the SiN waveguide [41]. Panels (a)–(d) reprinted with permission from [40]. Panels (e) and (f) reprinted with permission from [41], © 2019 American Chemical Society.

connected to the photonic circuit through ad hoc routes, which cannot be produced predictably with optical projection lithography. Hybrid integration techniques can in principle circumvent such issues, since prefabricated QD devices (even if produced at random locations on the origin chip) can be deterministically placed onto pre-determined locations on the destination chip. Scalable integration would, however, require high throughput device transfer techniques, which may be challenging depending particularly on alignment tolerances.

## **Concluding remarks**

In summary, heterogeneous integration has considerable potential for large-scale quantum silicon photonic circuits with functionality based on single III–V semiconductor QDs. Although the approach in principle allows completely top-down processing, integration scalability is principally hampered by the necessity to locate and analyse QDs at an individual level prior to fabrication. Importantly, though, such non-trivial and time-consuming tasks are generally necessary in any integration platform for devices that employ single quantum emitters.

## 5. AlGaAsOI integrated quantum photonics

#### Lin Chang, John E Bowers and Galan Moody

Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering, University of California Santa Barbara, Santa Barbara, CA 93106, United States of America

#### Status

A primary goal in quantum photonics is the construction of fully integrated and versatile quantum photonic circuits comprising tunable classical and quantum light sources, active and passive components, programmable networks, and detectors [7, 36]. Over the last decade, remarkable progress along this direction has been achieved on the silicon-on-insulator (SOI) platform, which leverages the mature manufacturing infrastructure of the semiconductor industry for high volume and low-cost production. To further extend the capabilities beyond what silicon can offer, a variety of material candidates, such as SiN, LN, and III–V semiconductors have been developed and investigated. Among the diverse photonic platforms, (aluminium) gallium arsenide [(Al)GaAs] on insulator has attracted significant interest recently [44, 45] due to its direct bandgap structure for light generation, large bandgap minimizing TPA at telecom wavelengths, and large  $\chi^{(2)}$  and  $\chi^{(3)}$  optical nonlinear coefficients, which are orders of magnitude higher than commonly used dielectric photonic media.

Traditionally, III–V photonic platforms suffered from high waveguide loss and low optical confinement because all of the devices were processed on a native III–V substrate [46]. (Al)GaAs-on-insulator [(Al)GaAsOI] overcomes this constraint by heterogeneously integrating an (Al)GaAs film with an oxidized Si substrate by wafer bonding technology (figure 6(a)). The high index contrast attained by this approach brings a plethora of new opportunities in nonlinear and quantum applications by enhancing the light intensity and tailoring the waveguide geometry. Another key advance for this platform is the significant reduction in waveguide loss. By combining optimized lithography, etching, and passivation, the propagation loss of AlGaAsOI waveguides ( $<0.2 \text{ dB cm}^{-1}$ ) is one order of magnitude lower compared to those of previous III–V platforms, which enables optical resonators with a quality factor *Q* beyond 3 million (figure 6(b)) [47], on par with many state-of-the-art dielectric material platforms.

Presently, various types of nonlinear devices have been demonstrated on (Al)GaAsOI (figures 6(c)–(f)). Based on the novel direct-phase-matching between TE and TM modes, a record-high normalized second harmonic generation (SHG) efficiency >40 000% W<sup>-1</sup>cm<sup>-2</sup> has been attained in a GaAsOI waveguide (figure 6(d)) [48]. For  $\chi^{(3)}$ -based nonlinear processes, a record-low threshold around 20  $\mu$ W for Kerr comb generation is achieved in a high-Q AlGaAsOI resonator (figure 6(e)) [47], where the AlGaAs material bandgap is engineered to avoid two photon absorption at the telecom band. Similar types of waveguides are also used for efficient wavelength conversion in optical signal processing (figure 6(f)) [49] with pump power compatible with integrated laser sources.

Such high-efficiency nonlinear processes are essential for multiple quantum purposes. A recent milestone with AlGaAsOI quantum photonics is the demonstration of entangled photon pair generation from a microresonator through SFWM [50]. Combining the high *Q*-factor and the strong Kerr coefficient, a waveguide-integrated source exhibits a pair-generation rate greater than  $20 \times 10^9$  pairs s<sup>-1</sup> mW<sup>-2</sup> near 1550 nm, with a heralded single photon purity >99%, entanglement visibility >97% and coincidence-to-accidental ratio (CAR) >4300. The brightness of this source (2 × 10<sup>11</sup> pair s<sup>-1</sup> mW<sup>-2</sup> GHz<sup>-1</sup> bandwidth) is about 1000-fold higher compared to traditional on-chip entangled-pair sources. Such high-efficiency and high-quality quantum light sources in AlGaAsOI points towards exciting prospects for combining state-of-the-art nonlinear components into the quantum regime and can potentially benefit a wide range of system-level applications.

#### Current and future challenges

Due to its short history, (Al)GaAsOI requires significant research and development in order to reach a similar level of integration as current quantum photonic circuits on silicon. Compared to the rich library of PDKs based on SOI waveguides, so far very few devices using (Al)GaAsOI have been developed to realize the necessary components in PICs, such as wavelength demultiplexing, Mach–Zehnder interferometers, modulators, and detectors. One challenge that must be overcome to support the growth of (Al)GaAsOI technology is to transition from research development level fabrication to commercial vendors and/or foundries. Another potential challenge for the scalability of this platform is the cost of III–V materials, which is one of the key advantages that silicon photonics holds over traditional native III–V platforms.

#### Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

Due to the exemplary properties of III–V semiconductors for photonics, plentiful functions can be implemented on the (Al)GaAsOI platform for quantum applications. Besides following the route of SOI in



**Figure 6.** Demonstrations on (Al)GaAsOI platform. (a) Scanning electron microscopy (SEM) image of the cross section of an AlGaAsOI waveguide. (b) Transmission spectrum of an AlGaAs resonator. The extracted Q is  $3.3 \times 10^6$ . (c) The transfer function of SHG normalized efficiency for a GaAsOI waveguide. (d) SHG spectrums under different temperatures by a GaAsOI waveguide, whose normalized efficiency is >40 000% W<sup>-1</sup>cm<sup>-2</sup>. (e) The generated frequency comb lines from an AlGaAs resonator under 23  $\mu$ W power. (f) Frequency conversion for communication experiment by an AlGaAsOI waveguide. Panel (a) reprinted with permission from [45]. Panel (d) reprinted with permission from [48]. Panel (e) reprinted with permission from [47]. Panel (f) reprinted with permission from [49].

standardizing the basic passive components, (Al)GaAsOI provides several prospective advantages for the monolithic integration of active and passive components. In terms of quantum light sources, the large  $\chi^{(2)}$  nonlinearity can lead to entangled and single-photon generation based on spontaneous parametric down-conversion (SPDC), which is expected to be even more efficient compared to SFWM, further easing the pump power requirements. Similarly, producing squeezed optical states—another essential resource for quantum optical information processing in the continuous variable (CV) regime—can be realized via either the  $\chi^{(2)}$  or  $\chi^{(3)}$  nonlinearities. In addition to the nonlinear processes, one key feature of the material system of (Al)GaAs and its alloys is the compatibility with InAs/GaAs QDs, which can be used for generating on-demand single photons and for achieving single-photon nonlinearities.

By leveraging III–V quantum well or QD epitaxial layers, electrically pumped lasers can be directly integrated along with the passive circuits on (Al)GaAsOI, which can serve as a tunable pump for quantum light generation and an on-chip local oscillator for interferometry. The existence of the EO and piezo-electric effects potentially can enable high-speed modulators with low insertion loss. Importantly, those modulators are suitable to work under cryogenic temperature, which are required for operating QD-based single photon emitters as well as superconducting nanowire single-photon detectors (SNSPDs), which recently has also been successfully integrated on GaAs waveguides [51]. Therefore, a route exists to fully integrated quantum PICs by monolithically integrating all those functions onto (Al)GaAsOI, as shown in figure 7.

To further improve the scalability, (Al)GaAsOI can be heterogeneously integrated onto SOI PICs to harness large-scale CMOS compatible production. Another strategy to lower the cost of III–V materials is direct epitaxial growth on Si wafers instead of native III–V substrates. Remarkable advances have been made along this direction for the (Al)GaAs material system, whereby the film qualities are comparable with layers on GaAs native substrates.

#### **Concluding remarks**

With the remarkable performance of quantum light sources and the convenience of system-level integration, rapid growth of research in (Al)GaAsOI for integrated quantum photonics is expected. The efficiencies of



current nonlinear devices will be further improved, and novel capabilities will be enabled by exploring different properties of the material system. The simultaneous realization of lasers, quantum light sources, modulators, and photodetectors will be the next key steps to accomplish fully integrated quantum photonics with this platform. These developments will also benefit other applications in integrated photonics and it will enable a wide range of new opportunities in classical and quantum computing, communications, and sensing.

## Acknowledgments

We gratefully acknowledge support via the UC Santa Barbara NSF Quantum Foundry funded via the Q-AMASE-i program under Award DMR-1906325. G M acknowledges support from AFOSR YIP Award No. FA9550-20-1-0150 and the National Science Foundation under Award CAREER-2045246.

## 6. Integrated quantum photonics in diamond

Niels Quack<sup>1</sup>, Christophe Galland<sup>1</sup> and Igor Aharonovich<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> École Polytechnique Fédérale de Lausanne, Lausanne, Switzerland

<sup>2</sup> University of Technology Sydney, Sydney, Australia

#### Status

The unique combination of extraordinary physical and optical properties of high-purity single crystal diamond has propelled this material far beyond its traditional use as gemstone in jewellery, fostering a growing body of scientific research in the field of diamond PICs [52]. While PICs made of silicon or III-V materials have reached commercial applications, e.g. in telecommunications and interconnects, quantum PICs are still in their infancy [53]. They notably require on-demand generation of indistinguishable single photons, low-loss optical signal routing, on-chip single photon manipulation and detection, and engineering of specific quantum functionalities, such as quantum registers or quantum memories [54]. In this context, diamond's ability to host paramagnetic, optically active atomic defects [55], such as the nitrogen-vacancy (NV) colour centre [56], has led to its widespread recognition as a promising material for QIP [57]. Diamond PICs have the potential to host large arrays of long-coherence electronic and nuclear spin qubits linked by flying photonic qubits and coherently controlled by microwave circuits [58]. In addition, diamond's unrivalled mechanical properties makes it promising for cavity quantum optomechanics, which provides additional opportunities for implementing quantum coherent frequency conversion and quantum memories in a same platform [59]. As an almost ideal quantum photonic material, diamond holds the promise to combine in a single platform all the required components for large-scale quantum PICs with the potential to operate at ambient temperature (figure 8). To date, an impressive collection of experiments has been realized at the individual component level [60]. This progress has been enabled by the advances in chemical vapour deposition (CVD) growth of single crystal diamond with the level of purity and low defect density required for quantum photonics, and by advances in micro- and nanofabrication, allowing for precision shaping of diamond at the nanoscale [61]. This advancement has recently led to several small scale quantum photonic circuit demonstrations, using hybrid integration of diamond with other photonic material platforms [62]. However, despite these recent achievements, large-scale diamond quantum PICs, with thousands or millions of individual components, remain elusive. This roadmap aims at outlining the requirements for establishing such a platform.

#### Current and future challenges

In order to establish mature and scalable diamond quantum PICs, several challenges need to be addressed, which can be divided into four major areas, namely (a) components, (b) platform, (c) integration, and (d) quantum technology. Over the past decade, an abundance of individual components for integrated diamond photonics has been investigated in academic research. For example, grating couplers, waveguides, phase shifters, power couplers, cavities, optomechanical resonators, SPSs, light emitting diodes, Raman laser, supercontinuum generation and detectors have all been demonstrated [52]. These *components* have to be matured and their operation optimized for a selected wavelength range; for scalable quantum operation, their insertion loss has to be drastically reduced; finally, they must be combined into a standardized technology. The component-level challenges go naturally hand in hand with the establishment of a platform technology. Building on high quality thin film single crystal diamond as the photonic layer, a manufacturing process flow needs to be developed that can host at the same time passive photonic devices (e.g. couplers, waveguides) as well as active components (e.g. sources, detectors, modulators). The related micro- and nanostructuring techniques need to be transferred from academic settings to foundry-compatible fabrication processes for producing circuits with large quantities of components with high yield. For the construction of large-scale quantum circuits with coherent spin control in thousands to millions of qubits, the most suitable technology approach appears the tight co-integration of electronic integrated control circuitry. While electronic integrated circuits are by themselves a mature technology, this *integration* challenge requires not only the realization of the physical interface between the electronics and the diamond photonic quantum devices, but also adequate circuit control strategies, which is tightly linked to the development of overlaid quantum protocols and algorithms, and the abstraction from the physical layer into logic and software operation. This full stack integration from the quantum effects in the diamond photonic layer through the physical signal routing, the interface with electronic control towards the quantum protocol can be summarized as the quantum technology challenge.





**Figure 9.** Roadmap for the transformation of single crystal diamond into large-scale diamond QPICs, involving efforts ranging from the physical diamond thin film up to the abstract quantum algorithm layers, highlighting future requirements and associated research and engineering challenges.

#### Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

The outlined challenges to be met for the establishment of diamond quantum PICs require advancements ranging from scientific developments in the physical layer, significant innovations in manufacturing, to implementation of novel concepts in the abstract logical layer, as schematically represented in figure 9. At the diamond quantum photonic *component* level, further improvement in the coherent control and single-shot readout of quantum degrees of freedom such as individual spin and photon states are required. Electrically driven SPSs, low loss passives and on-chip single photon detectors (SPDs) have to be developed.

The closely related *platform* challenge requires significant technology developments. First, advances in material science and engineering are required to deliver high quality single crystal diamond thin films at wafer level. Quantum PICs will require diamond layers with a thickness of a few 100 nm with excellent wafer-level uniformity, low surface roughness, bow and intrinsic stress, as well as excellent crystal quality with low density of defects such as impurities, voids or dislocations. The required innovations in wafer scale growth or layer transfer, polishing, flattening, etching, bonding are far from trivial, and the technology needs to mature in order to achieve required yields. Second, diamond micro- and nanostructuring technologies have to advance, including diamond etch procedures, surface roughness and residual stress control, to achieve excellent dimensional control and photonic performance. Third, embedding optically active spin

qubits requires novel approaches in manufacturing, in order to create individual colour centres with few nanometer positioning precision and high yield in a massively parallel way. It would be particularly efficient if future diamond quantum PICs can directly interface with existing telecom infrastructure, such as optical fibers or classical photonic components and integrated circuits, demanding research and engineering on new colour centres or optical frequency conversion.

*Integration* of the diamond photonic quantum components with their control circuits demands innovative approaches for the photonic-electronic interaction and the engineering of microwave circuits. Finally, the full *quantum technology* stack has to be addressed in a holistic manner, including abstraction to higher-level programming strategies and the development of optimized diamond photonic quantum algorithms addressing standardization and providing PDKs for accessibility, as has been proven successful in the electronic integrated circuit industry.

#### **Concluding remarks**

Displaying unequalled gleam and internal fire, diamond also exhibits record material properties, that have been thoroughly explored for emerging quantum applications. The unique spin properties of the optically active colour centres in the diamond lattice provide unparalleled prospects for a platform integrating spin, photonic, and possibly phononic qubits. With recent advances in material science, increased availability of high-quality diamond wafers, and progress in micro- and nanofabrication techniques, diamond has now been established as a prime candidate for realisation of integrated quantum photonic circuits with emerging applications in QIP, quantum sensing and single molecule detection. Decades of research generated significant knowledge of the fundamental properties of diamond colour centres and a wealth of optimized nanofabrication protocols. The time is ripe to expedite engagement with industry and foundries to scale these laboratory experiments up to market level.

## Acknowledgments

N Q acknowledges funding by the Swiss National Science Foundation under Grant Nos. 157566 and 183717. C G acknowledges funding by the Swiss National Science Foundation under Grant No. 170684. I A acknowledges the Australian Research Council (via DP180100077 and CE200100010).

## 7. Integrated quantum and nonlinear photonics with tantalum pentoxide

#### Martin A Wolff and Carsten Schuck

Institute of Physics, University of Münster, 48149 Münster, Germany

#### Status

Optical waveguiding in  $Ta_2O_5$  (also known as tantala) thin films was investigated as early as the 1970s but it was not until recently that  $Ta_2O_5$ -on-insulator is emerging as a promising platform for integrated nonlinear and quantum photonics. Ion beam sputter-deposited  $Ta_2O_5$  thin films have been produced with excellent optical properties for several decades, enabling most demanding and timely applications from gravitational wave detection to mHz-linewidth lasers. In integrated photonics, low optical absorption and high refractive index contrast of  $Ta_2O_5$  waveguides on oxidized silicon wafers have yielded propagation loss as low as 3 dB m<sup>-1</sup> in CMOS compatible fabrication processes [63]. Notably, compact  $Ta_2O_5$  micro-ring resonators with several million optical quality factors at telecom wavelengths [64] have already been demonstrated, underlining the great potential of amorphous oxides for matching or even exceeding current benchmarks for all waveguide-integrated devices set with significantly more mature dielectric material platforms.

Combining these achievements with the material's wideband transparency from 300 nm to 8  $\mu$ m wavelength and a third order nonlinear Kerr coefficient of about three times that of SiN, makes an obvious case for exploiting Ta<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub> in integrated nonlinear photonics applications. The large bandgap of Ta<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub> (3.8–5.3 eV) here outweighs the lower nonlinear refractive index as compared to silicon waveguides, which however suffer from two-photon and free-carrier absorption. Initial work has focused on dissipative Kerr-soliton-based optical frequency combs in the IR spectrum [64] (see figure 10(a)) and supercontinuum generation extending from the IR into the visible range of the spectrum [65] (see figure 10(b)), which benefit from dispersion engineering in thick Ta<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub> layers that form without cracks due to the low intrinsic material stress [64]. While these results provide an excellent starting point for integrated nonlinear photonics, Ta<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub> has several other intriguing material properties that uniquely benefit integrated quantum photonics. Especially interesting in this regard are the record low thermo-optic coefficient [66], enabling stable operation of high quality-factor devices, in particular at cryogenic temperatures, and the extremely low intrinsic photoluminescence, which is an indispensable requirement when working at the single-photon level.

#### Current and future challenges

The implementation of  $Ta_2O_5$  PICs aims at realizing passive, active, and nonlinear functionalities. Moreover,  $Ta_2O_5$  can host rare-earth ions, including erbium [67], which enables use as a gain medium, thus providing optical signal amplification and lasing capabilities on-chip. While ongoing efforts are mainly concerned with transferring established device concepts to the  $Ta_2O_5$  material system and optimizing performance at the device level, future PICs will increasingly rely on combining several functionalities in a nanophotonic network. This is particularly relevant to integrated quantum photonics, where both scaling to large system size and detrimental effects from photon loss are outstanding challenges.

Essential building blocks of an integrated quantum technology platform will have to include quantum light sources, nanophotonic circuit components and efficient single-photon detectors. The exceptional material properties of  $Ta_2O_5$  have allowed progress with all of these key components. While the generation of photonic quantum states has remained a challenge as yet, the attractive nonlinear properties of Ta<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub> offer exciting prospects for producing quantum optical frequency combs [68]. On the other hand, the low intrinsic photoluminescence and optical transparency at visible wavelengths also allows for integrating a wide range of solid-state quantum emitters, such as color centers in diamond [69], with Ta<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub> nanophotonic circuits (see figure 11(a)), which had remained elusive for SiN. Moreover, SNSPD seamlessly integrate with  $Ta_2O_5$ waveguides (see figure 11(b)) and provide an efficient, low-noise photon counting solution with excellent timing properties [70]. Importantly for realizing reconfigurable quantum photonic information processing systems, active and passive nanophotonic circuit components have been demonstrated with single-mode Ta<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub> waveguides [71]. Directional couplers and multi-mode interference devices with tunable splitting ratios as well as electrostatically actuated phase shifters, as those shown in figure 11(c), show suitability for controlling interference throughout complex, programmable PICs. Lastly, quantum communication (QC) scenarios between remote devices will require efficient optical interconnects, as those in figures 11(c) and (d). Going from the device level to large system size, however, will require minimizing optical insertion and propagation losses across the entire network and accommodating heterogeneous processing techniques.







right fri vanophotomic crystal cavities (blue) in Ta<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub>-our-matoric (a) nanothanolis (orange) containing quantum chirters coupled to 1D-photonic crystal cavities (blue) in Ta<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub>-waveguides for optical excitation and single-photon collection. (b) Ta<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub>-waveguide-integrated SNSPD (white). (c) Opto-electromechanical phase shifter (top) embedded in a Mach–Zehnder interferometer formed by multimode interference devices (center) accessible from optical fibers via grating couplers (bottom). (d) Total internal reflection coupler (orange) produced in 3D direct laser writing, providing an efficient optical interface to Ta<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub>-waveguides (blue). Panel (b) reprinted with permission from [70] under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License. Panel (c) reprinted with permission from [71].

## Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

Leveraging the full potential of  $Ta_2O_5$  PICs will require more detailed investigation of optical loss contributions from material absorption, impurities and inhomogeneities as well as the influence of design and thin-film processing techniques on waveguide scattering at both IR and visible wavelengths. Importantly for nonlinear optical processes, low loss should be achieved for strongly confined optical modes and  $Ta_2O_5$ thin films of single crystal quality may here offer new perspectives. However, loss studies must also consider cladding materials for which new approaches to minimizing optical absorption may be required, e.g. deposition of deuterated SiO<sub>2</sub>-claddings with reduced H-content, which may allow circumventing restrictions arising from the need for annealing  $Ta_2O_5$  at approx. 600 °C for enabling low loss waveguiding. The longer-term potential of Ta<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub>-PICs for quantum photonics will to a certain extent rely on the possibility of creating entangled photon pairs as a key resource across all disciplines of quantum technology directly on-chip. SFWM has already been shown in Ta<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub>-waveguides but nonclassical correlations have yet to be demonstrated. Similar to (quantum) frequency comb and supercontinuum generation, dispersion engineering will play a crucial role for exploring phase-matching conditions that strike an optimal balance between nonlinear parametric gain and loss.

In the short term, the range of functionalities currently available with Ta<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub>-nanophotonic devices needs to be expanded considerably. On the one hand, the Ta<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub>-toolbox of active and passive circuit components needs additions from established device concepts such as efficient spectral filters, e.g. for separating pump light from a desired single-photon signal. On the other hand, heterogeneous integration of quantum emitters, active devices and detectors, including operation under cryogenic conditions and from UV to IR wavelengths, will be necessary to enable the full range of quantum technology applications.

In the longer term, these functionalities need to be combined in larger numbers within chip-scale nanophotonic networks.  $Ta_2O_5$  has proven its suitability in semiconductor industry processes but in order to fully exploit the attractive material properties for realizing complex integrated quantum photonic circuits, a concerted community effort will be required for making foundry-type processing capabilities widely available.

### **Concluding remarks**

 $Ta_2O_5$  offers a combination of material properties that uniquely benefit key functionalities in integrated nonlinear and quantum technology. The fact that extremely low loss performance and a wealth of nonlinear optical effects could be demonstrated at an early stage of developing this material system for nanophotonic applications speaks to the tremendous potential for going beyond state-of-the-art PIC applications. It is particularly noteworthy, that key building blocks of integrated quantum technology are already available on  $Ta_2O_5$ -on-insulator chips with much room for future improvement following both intrinsic and hybrid material approaches. The prospect of realizing compact devices with Q-factors reaching billions, low thermo-refractive noise, operation from UV to IR wavelengths and excellent power handling capabilities may suggest that  $Ta_2O_5$  can replace SiN over a wide range of applications [2], however much work remains to be done to turn such visions into reality.

## Acknowledgments

We thank Philip Schrinner, Thomas Grottke and Helge Gehring for their support and discussions on nanophotonic device designs. C S acknowledges support from the Ministry for Culture and Science of North Rhine-Westphalia (421-8.03.03.02–130428).

## 8. Quantum photonics with thin-film lithium niobate

#### Neil Sinclair and Marko Lončar

John A. Paulson School of Engineering and Applied Sciences, Harvard University, Cambridge, MA 02138, United States of America

#### Status

Optical photons have many attractive properties for realization of quantum technologies [53]: they exist under ambient conditions, are generally impervious to environmental noise, and, to an extent, can be generated, manipulated and detected easily. Since they can also travel long distances without significant loss, individual photons are well-suited for quantum key distribution (QKD), which aims to secure messages between distant parties using quantum uncertainty. Yet, these properties of photons also introduce challenges to realize quantum technologies that require deterministic interactions between individual photons, e.g. for photonic QIP.

Integrated photonics will play a crucial role in realizing long- (e.g. worldwide), medium- (e.g. metropolitan- or room-sized), and short-range (e.g. inter- or intra-chip) quantum networks. However, the performance of a photonics platform for quantum technology applications needs to be much better than, and in some ways different from, what is required for classical applications. For example, a quantum photonics platform needs to: (a) be ultra-low loss in order to preserve fragile quantum states; (b) enable precise control of the temporal and spectral profiles of photons; (c) allow fast and low-loss optical switches to route quantum information; (d) be able to operate in visible and telecom wavelengths, where many SPSs and quantum memories operate, and low-loss optical fibers exist, respectively; (e) feature strong nonlinearities for efficient frequency up- and down-conversion, quantum transduction, and entangled photon pair generation; (f) allow integration of photodetectors and operating electronics. Silicon and silicon-nitride, the leading integrated photonic platforms, do not meet these requirements due to the lack of a second-order nonlinearity, which restricts their functionality [53]. Although this could be addressed with crystal modification or heterogeneous integration, it remains to be seen what trade-offs, e.g. in terms of efficiency and scalability, this would encompass.

TFLN has emerged as a promising quantum photonic platform. LN is transparent to optical photons (band gap of  $\sim$ 4 eV), possesses a strong EO effect, allowing the phase of light to be rapidly varied using microwaves, and has a high second-order optical nonlinearity that can be engineered through ferroelectric domain modulation (i.e. periodic poling) [72]. Importantly, 4" and 6" TFLN wafers have recently become commercially available, which have stimulated interest in this exciting material platform.

#### Current and future challenges

Breakthroughs in TFLN nanofabrication [73] have enabled the creation of opto-electronic components with performance that surpasses those based on bulk LN, laying the groundwork for developing state-of-the-art photonic quantum processors. These components (figure 12) range from high-bandwidth EO modulators (EOMs) [74], which can enable rapid encoding of qubit states onto light or low-latency routers, to poled waveguides and resonators that convert the wavelength of a photon [75, 76] as well as generate non-classical states of light. These devices are particularly appealing for frequency-domain photonic processing applications that leverage wide bandwidth of optical photons but requires high speed modulators as well as frequency shifters/beam splitters. The latter could be realized using an EO photonic molecule [77, 78], formed by coupling two electrically-driven resonators.

Among several challenges, one common to all on-chip photonic platforms is propagation loss. TFLN has demonstrated ultra-low optical loss of less than 3 dB m<sup>-1</sup> and on/off a chip coupling loss of 1.7 dB/facet using TFLN waveguide tapering [80]. The insertion loss of active EO devices must be considered, often taking into account trade-offs between efficiency and loss when designing the metal electrodes for example.

The bandwidths of TFLN EOMs already exceed 100 GHz and is thus sufficient for many quantum applications. However, further reduction in drive voltages is important, especially when considering realization of multiplexed and dynamic switch networks and gates. These must also be interfaced with large-scale microwave circuitry for precision control and synchronization.

TFLN allows EO control of optical photons without any additional uncorrelated optical (noise) photons being induced by the (low-energy) microwave field. However, optical frequency conversion is accompanied by additional noise photons, e.g. due to Raman processes, which must be suppressed for single photon-level operation. Such conversion is important for interfacing telecommunication-wavelength photons with visible-wavelength devices, e.g. Si photodiodes and quantum memories. For that matter, TFLN circuits which operate at wavelengths out of the infrared must be further developed beyond that shown in proof-of-principle demonstrations. This would also benefit quantum state generation by way of nonlinear



**Figure 12.** Integrated TFLN photonics. (a) Ultra-low loss (3 dB m<sup>-1</sup>) optical waveguides and high-*Q* resonators (Q ~ 10 000 000). (b) Microwave-to-optical transducer. (c) Periodically poled TFLN frequency converter. (d) Efficient and wideband EOM. Panels (a)–(c) reprinted with permission from [73], [79] and [75], respectively. Panel (d) reprinted from [74] with permission from Springer Nature.



Figure 13. Multiplexed quantum repeater node in LN that combines diamond quantum memories with low-loss nonlinear photonics.

processes such as SPDC, which can convert a visible photon into two telecommunication wavelength photons, and squeezing.

Heterogeneous integration of devices with TFLN, an exciting prospect to realize high-bandwidth photonic interconnects between hybrid systems, is still in its infancy. Hybrid systems include acousto-optics, SPDs, or atomic interfaces on TFLN. The latter could be QDs,color centers, or rare-earth ions, of which could act as SPSs or mediate photonic gates. SPDs on TFLN must be improved beyond that shown in initial demonstrations, e.g. with respect to efficiency (46%) and timing resolution (32 ps) [81], while also sourcing feed-forward signals for control of later operations.

Finally, full integration of all functionalities must be realized (figure 13). This is especially challenging for quantum circuits that require high-contrast interference, meaning no distinguishing information about a photon may be introduced by the devices. Chips must be robust to environmental disturbances, e.g. heat generated at electrodes, and operate over long periods of time in order to allow statistically relevant measurements. The latter could be problematic due to photorefraction in LN [72], which is a change of refractive index with high laser intensities, e.g. during optical frequency conversion.

#### Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

Along with device demonstrations and improvements, photonic loss must be reduced to the levels of the material limit, which is  $0.1 \text{ dB m}^{-1}$  for LN. This could allow optical nonlinearities at the single photon level inside ultra-high-Q TFLN resonators. Large waveguides will help in this regard by ensuring the optical mode does not interact with the rough sidewalls that are introduced by etching, but this will reduce the interaction strength with LN, and hence reduce device performance. Sidewall loss can be mitigated with further optimization at the etch step, e.g. using purer chamber gases or improved removal of re-deposited material during dry etching. The role of surrounding materials must be carefully examined, including absorption or surface chemistry from deposited oxides. Further, imperfections from the TFLN production process, such as surface roughness or impurities can be addressed by polishing and annealing. Material improvement itself

must be investigated, including stoichiometric or doped TFLN, including magnesium doping which will reduce the impact of photorefraction. These improvements must be consistent across the wafer and be repeatable.

Other fundamentals, such as improving the EO bandwidth of modulators must be undertaken. For resonator-based modulators, this bandwidth is restricted to tens of GHz by the width of the optical resonance and resistance-capacitance limit of the electrode. Traveling-wave modulators allow bandwidths into the hundreds of GHz using optimized velocity and impedance matching between microwave and light. The role of piezoelectric loss should also be accounted for. Among other improvements, poling precision, uniformity, repeatability, and scaling must also be addressed. Shortfalls of TFLN must be overcome with suitable heterogeneous integration, e.g. integration of diamond color centers or by leveraging microwave-frequency quantum acoustics.

### **Concluding remarks**

We are currently only beginning to see the potential that TFLN can provide to develop quantum photonics. Further steps must be taken to realize advanced and fully integrated quantum functionalities at scale. This will critically advance emerging quantum technologies, in particular quantum networks, and will result in improvements to devices used for classical photonics and telecommunications. Going forward, we expect light to play a significant role in quantum technology due to its ability to carry large amounts of frequency-multiplexed qubit information in a single spatial mode, which will allow the redundancy needed to overcome system loss and errors with a lower scaling overhead. Thus, focus should be placed on creating and improving light-matter qubit interfaces, a task well-suited to TFLN.

## Acknowledgments

N S and M L thank Bart Machielse and Ben Pingault for manuscript comments, Boris Desiatov for the illustration shown in figure 13, and the rest of the Lončar group for discussions. N S acknowledges support by the NSERC, INQNET research program, and by the DOE/HEP QuantISED and QCCFP programs. M L acknowledges support by NSF, DARPA, ARO, AFRL, ONR, AFOSR and DOE.

## QUANTUM AND CLASSICAL LIGHT SOURCES AND QUBITS

## 9. Heterogeneous integration of high-performance lasers for quantum applications

## *Tin Komljenovic*<sup>1</sup>, *David Weld*<sup>2</sup> and *John E Bowers*<sup>2</sup>

- <sup>1</sup> Nexus Photonics, Goleta, CA 93117, United States of America
- <sup>2</sup> University of California Santa Barbara, Santa Barbara, CA 93106, United States of America

#### Status

Quantum science is a field at a technological inflection point. Recent advances in control and readout of quantum bits have underscored the spectacular promise of QIP [82, 83]. However, this promise will only be realized if the current laboratory successes mature into a fully integrated approach. In the development of classical information processing, the transistor represented a crucial advance, but equally important (and meriting a separate Nobel prize) were techniques for assembly and integration of heterostructures, leading to the integrated circuits which pervade our world today. Synthesis and assembly of integrated quantum platforms is a grand challenge which will require contributions from a diverse range of fields. Photonics will play a key role in this effort, thanks not only to the maturity and power of photon manipulation technologies but also to the unique quantum mechanical properties of the photon.

Visible light photonics is an area of particular importance, due to the typical energy scale of transitions in the atoms and ions that comprise a key element of quantum technology (see figure 14). An atom is the paradigmatic quantum mechanical system. The precise tools of atomic spectroscopy that gave birth to quantum mechanics have evolved into tools of control, allowing experimental access to all internal and external degrees of freedom and enabling, for example, the realization of states of matter in which millions of atoms occupy a single quantum state at nanokelvin temperatures. The precision and control available in such atomic physics experiments makes them a promising platform for QIP and also an ideal tool for quantum-enhanced sensing, navigation, and timekeeping.

A key bottleneck in the development of atom-based quantum technology is the complexity of laser sources and associated optical hardware. Modern atomic physics began with the invention of the laser and has always depended upon it. As experiments grow more complex, involving for example molecules or multiple independently addressed atomic elements, the need for individually controlled laser sources at numerous distinct frequencies has limited scalability and restricted commercial applications. Integrated photonics will overcome this challenge and realize the potential of quantum technology [10, 15].

#### Current and future challenges

A central challenge to wider deployment of quantum technology-based sensing systems is the need for tunable high-performance narrow-band lasers at a variety of frequencies which are used to cool, trap and manipulate atoms. Semiconductor lasers, due to their inherent size, weight, power and cost (SWaP-C) advantage are the preferred choice, but it has been challenging to make native lasers based on GaN or GaAs meet the requirements at atomically relevant wavelengths. The challenge is mostly due to a need for low-loss waveguides to form the laser cavity and enable the narrow-linewidth. The communications industry (historically mostly using InP based semiconductor lasers operating between 1.3 and 1.6  $\mu$ m) had similar challenges regarding laser linewidth with the transition to advanced modulation formats, a challenge that to a large degree was addressed by combining multiple materials (e.g. InP for gain and Si for waveguide/resonator), either by hybrid integration or with heterogeneous integration. In both cases low-loss silicon waveguides reduce phase noise by 40 dB and enable linewidths in the range of 100 Hz while providing >100 nm of tuning range [84]. The heterogeneous integration approach brings many benefits including wafer scale processing and testing for improved uniformity and cost reduction, and is the path that many companies are pursing in Datacom markets e.g. Intel, Juniper and HPE [85]. Ideally such approach would be scaled down to wavelengths of interest for atom manipulation. Unfortunately, silicon waveguides cannot support wavelengths below 1200 nm so new materials have to be introduced. The leading candidates are SiN, Ta<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub>, Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, AlN, LN or similar high-bandgap materials providing good optical performance [2]. A second challenge is related to providing either direct generation active material supporting the wavelength range of interest or using non-linear materials to convert sources in more established wavelength ranges  $(1.2-1.6 \ \mu m)$ using various non-linear processes. Direct generation at the short end of the wavelengths (UV to green) can be supported with GaN based active devices, while wavelengths longer than  $\sim$ 630 nm can be supported with GaAs based active devices. There is a partial gap for direct generation between wavelengths supported by GaN and GaAs based active devices, that is currently an active area of research with recent demonstrations showing up to 33% wall-plug efficiency LEDs at 565 nm [86]. In the case of non-linear generation, if both

	Atom	Transition	Wavelength	Saturation Intensity	Linewidth
	Sr	(5s <sup>2</sup> ) <sup>1</sup> S <sub>0</sub> -(5s5p) <sup>1</sup> P <sub>1</sub>	461 nm	~40 mW/cm <sup>2</sup>	32 MHz
	Sr	(5s <sup>2</sup> ) <sup>1</sup> S <sub>0</sub> -(5s5p) <sup>3</sup> P <sub>1</sub>	689 nm	~0.003 mW/cm <sup>2</sup>	7 KHz
	Li	2 <sup>2</sup> S <sub>1/2</sub> -2 <sup>2</sup> P <sub>3/2</sub>	671 nm	~2 mW/cm <sup>2</sup>	6 MHz
	к	4 <sup>2</sup> S <sub>1/2</sub> -4 <sup>2</sup> P <sub>3/2</sub>	767 nm	~2 mW/cm <sup>2</sup>	6 MHz
	Cs	6 <sup>2</sup> S <sub>1/2</sub> -6 <sup>2</sup> P <sub>3/2</sub>	852 nm	~2 mW/cm <sup>2</sup>	5 MHz
		5 <sup>2</sup> S <sub>1/2</sub> -5 <sup>2</sup> P <sub>3/2</sub>	780 nm	~2 mW/cm <sup>2</sup>	6 MHz

Figure 14. (Left) Atom-based experiments in quantum science like this lithium quantum gas apparatus typically utilize benchtop equipment and free-space optics which dominate the cost and complexity and restrict scalability. (Right) Properties of some atomic transitions of general interest.

gth (nm)	Gain	Waveguide	Mirror
4600	InGaAlAsPQCL	GeOI	FP, DFB
3900	InAlAsSb	SOI	FP, DFB
2000-2300	InGaAsPQW	SOI	FP, DFB, DBR, R
1240-1600	InGaAsPQW	SOI	FP, DFB, DBR, R
1250-1350	InAs QD	SOI	FP, DFB, DBR, R
980	GaAs QW	SNOI	FP, DFB, DBR, R
800-900	GaAs QW	SNOI	FP, DFB, DBR, R
400-440*	InGaNQW	SNOI	FP

**Figure 15.** (a) Summary of laser technologies on silicon (GeOI—germanium on insulator, SOI—silicon on insulator, SNOI—silicon-nitride on insulator, R stands for one or more rings), (b) automated wafer scale testing of lasers captured with operation Si camera showing light emission below Si bandgap, (c) exemplary LIV curves showing very good laser performance (the wavelength of is 980 nm) and (d) heterogeneous GaAs-on-SiN wafer with multiple active components including lasers, amplifiers, photodetectors and tuners.

frequency doubling and frequency tripling can be used, then telecommunication sources can be used to cover most of the wavelengths of interest. The challenge is then pushed to the design of non-linear elements to provide good phase matching and address other design constraints for better conversion efficiency. Very high on-chip efficiencies were demonstrated in high-contrast heterogeneous semiconductor platforms [46], although there are challenges in pushing such approach in UV to green range where the use of higher bandgap materials might be needed.

#### Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

Depending on the approach, multiple advances are needed to enable chip-scale optical sources meeting the requirements of next generation quantum technology-based sensing systems. Improvements in active materials (e.g. direct gain in green-yellow range) and passive materials (low loss, especially in the UV-blue range) can enable path for wafer-scale integration in full wavelength range. In the case of non-linear generation, improvements in heterogeneous integration to enable higher contrast waveguide geometries can increase efficiencies by reducing the mode volume. At the same time, processing has to be improved as phase matching generally requires very precise control of waveguide dimensions. The use of multiple materials can place additional restrictions on the processing thermal budget due to different coefficients of linear thermal expansion, which can be especially important when defining metal contacts. Once material related limitations are addressed, optical coupling between various materials has to be optimized. The main challenge is to facilitate efficient optical coupling between dielectric materials with refractive indices generally in the range of 1.45–2.2, and semiconductor materials that can provide gain and/or efficient

non-linear conversion but typically have refractive indices in the range of 2.3–3.6. Such large difference in refractive indices, in case direct adiabatic power transfer is designed, requires narrow taper tips.

Many of said challenges are being actively addressed with recent demonstration of heterogeneous integration of GaAs lasers on SiN waveguides [87] where efficient coupling between materials with refractive index larger than 1.5 was demonstrated and is shown in figure 15.

## **Concluding remarks**

PICs are emerging as low-cost replacements for bulk and fiber-optic systems, where integration allows for a very large improvement in SWaP-C. First commercial PIC-based systems targeted telecom and datacom markets, but more recently there has been significant push to realize complex PIC-based sensors to leverage said SWaP-C benefits, especially in LIDAR space and now quantum applications. There are numerous tailwinds to accelerate said transition; primarily the increased activity in PICs in general leading to improved photonic fabrication capabilities in modern foundries that have transitioned to larger scale wafers and higher quality tools. Additional materials and processes will have to be developed to provide chip-size PICs supporting relevant wavelengths for atom cooling, trapping and manipulation.

## Acknowledgments

The authors thank Galan Moody, Steve DenBaars, Lin Chang, Weiqiang Xue, Chao Xiang, Hyundai Park, Chong Zhang and Minh Tran for useful discussions.

## 10. Chip-scale entangled-photon sources

#### Shayan Mookherjea

University of California San Diego, La Jolla, CA 92093, United States of America

#### Status

Entanglement is a useful resource in quantum networks. Entangled-photon sources play a crucial role in realizing such networks, similar to lasers in classical data networks. Similar devices can also be used to generate heralded single-photon states and squeezed light. Integrated photonics can generate and manipulate quantum states of light in a scalable and efficient way [53, 88–90]. Entangled photons can be generated from QDs without fine-structure splitting, as well as from optically-pumped nonlinear devices which use SPDC or SFWM. Figure 16 shows some of the popular photonic materials choices and devices formed using them towards the major goals of current research in chip-scale entangled-photon sources. In-depth progress reviews are presented elsewhere [91–94]. Here, we will mainly focus on SPDC and SFWM devices which can be easily realized at the micro-chip scale using simple dielectric or semiconductor materials, and the devices do not require cryogenic cooling.

When pumped with continuous-wave light, the signal and idler photons are entangled in a time-energy basis, if the joint spectral intensity (JSI) of the signal and idler photons is not separable. To realize a heralded source of pure, indistinguishable single photons, a separable JSI can be engineered through device design and adjusting the properties of the pump pulse. When the device is pumped with a sequence of closely-spaced short pulses, entanglement in a time-bin basis is created. By using various waveguide components such as beam splitters, polarization rotators and frequency shifters, entanglement can be created in the spatial, polarization, mode and frequency domains as well. Higher-order entanglement (dimension d > 2) allows for more information (qudits) to be transported by photons, which are inevitably lost due to absorption, scattering or diffraction during propagation [95]. Since scalability of on-demand entangled-photon sources has not yet been realized, current practice relies on multiplexing probabilistic pair sources through linear optical gates and post-selection [6, 34], but other schemes have been proposed [96].

Recent advances in device fabrication techniques have led to the ability to lithographically create highly-confined waveguides and compact micro-resonators, which enables precise dispersion engineering [97]. For quasi-phase matching (QPM) through periodically-poled thin-film materials, a combination of electron-beam lithography and optical lithography has been used to precisely define electrode structures for short-period poling [98], which has benefits in classical nonlinear optics as well. Table 2 compares two approaches for room-temperature entangled photon sources, those based on the  $\chi^{(2)}$  optical nonlinearity and those using  $\chi^{(3)}$ , from an integrated photonics perspective.

Although the  $\chi^{(2)}$  nonlinearity used in SPDC is absent in un-strained Si and SiN, the weaker  $\chi^{(3)}$ -based SFWM nonlinearity can be enhanced by using micro-resonator and coupled-microresonator devices [99–101]. To achieve entanglement generation rates that are comparable to  $\chi^{(2)}$  devices and comparable QD technology, it is critical to achieve a high quality factor  $Q_{\text{loaded}} > 10^5$  since the pair generation rate scales with the third power (approximately) of the quality factor, while also supporting a high pump power. The pump and entangled photon pairs can be placed within the telecommunications wavelength range, where low-noise pump laser diodes and filters are readily available. A dual-pump SFWM process can be used to generate frequency-degenerate signal and idler photons, with some additional considerations for noise management [102]. In contrast to fiber or SiN sources, the Raman noise contribution in Si SFWM is narrowband, and spectrally well separated from the pump. Silicon microelectronic components can be incorporated in, or used with, silicon photonic structures, such as p-i-n diodes fabricated across the waveguide cross-section for resonance monitoring [103], and step-recovery diodes which generate short pulses using a continuous-wave RF input, and can drive an EOM for shaping optical pump pulses [104]. Out-of-band laser light transmission can be used for stabilization [34]. To help realize pure heralded single-photon states, different waveguide-resonator coupling coefficients are needed for the pumps, and for the signal or idler photons. Since the wavelengths are similar in SFWM, a more sophisticated coupling structure may be useful, such as the two-point interferometric couplers [105].

While it is possible to induce a weak  $\chi^{(2)}$  effect in centrosymmetric materials, it is also possible to bring the stronger  $\chi^{(2)}$  effect of SPDC in LN into silicon photonics ecosystem, for example, by using TFLN and bonding. SPDC requires a short-wavelength pump; however, low noise 775 nm pump diodes are common, although microchip-scale short-pulse lasers at these wavelengths are not yet widely available. Because of the small waveguide cross-sectional area, significant performance benefits can be achieved in comparison to traditional SPDC waveguides in LN [98, 106]. Waveguides in TFLN have a high group-velocity dispersion, and therefore require a shorter QPM poling period. Traditional SPDC requires ultrashort optical pump pulses generated by a mode-locked laser, which is difficult to integrate monolithically [107]. Although

Category	Nonlinear optics: SPDC and SFWM	Artificial atoms: Quantum dots and vacancy centers
Materials	Si, Si <sub>3</sub> N <sub>4</sub> , AlGaAs, LN, BBO, KTP, AIN, SiC, As <sub>2</sub> S <sub>3</sub>	GaAs, InGaAs, InAsP, InAs Diamond, SiC
Devices	Waveguides, resonators, external coupling structures, tuning knobs, filters, switches, detectors. Linear gates and nonlinear operations.	
Architec- tures	(Quasi) On-dema photons High-dimension e Graph, cluster and	

Table 2. Comparison of photon-pair and heralded single photon generation using silicon and LN.

Core material	Si	(Thin-film) LN
(core thickness)	(220 nm)	(300 nm)
Nonlinearity	Spontaneous four-wave mixing (SFWM)	Spontaneous parametric down-conversion (SPDC)
Туре	Micro-resonator	Waveguide with QPM <sup>a</sup>
Bandwidth	$1.4~{ m GHz} \ (Q_{ m loaded} \sim 9.2  imes 10^4)$	140 GHz
Footprint	$20 \times 20 \ \mu \text{m}$	$5 \text{ mm}  imes 2 \ \mu \text{m}$
$CAR \times PGR^{b}$	$0.6 \times 10^9$ pairs.s <sup>-1</sup> CAR 532 at $1.1 \times 10^6$ pairs.s <sup>-1</sup>	$7.6 \times 10^9$ pairs.s <sup>-1</sup> CAR 668 at $1.1 \times 10^7$ pairs.s <sup>-1</sup>
$g^{(2)}{}_{H}(0)^{c}$	$0.0053 \pm 0.0021$ at $N_{\rm H} = 18$ kilo-pairs s <sup>-1</sup>	$0.0022 \pm 0.0004$ at $N_{\rm H} = 15$ kilo-pairs s <sup>-1</sup>
Heralding (Klyshko) efficiency <sup>d</sup> Energy-time entanglement visibility <sup>e</sup>	$\begin{array}{l} 4\% \\ 98.2 \pm 0.9\%, 97.1 \pm 0.5\% \\ (at PGR = 68 \text{ kHz}) \end{array}$	2% 99.3 ± 1.9%, 99.5 ± 1.8% (at PGR = 1 MHz)

<sup>a</sup> QPM: quasi-phase matching.

<sup>b</sup> CAR: coincidences-to-accidentals ratio; PGR: pair-generation rate. Generally, at high PGR,  $CAR \propto (PGR)^{-1}$ .

 $^{\rm c}$  Heralded self-autocorrelation at zero time delay;  $N_{\rm H} = ({\rm off}{\rm -chip})$  detected herald rate.

<sup>d</sup> Including all on-chip and off-chip loss contributions, in [101] (Si) and [98] (LN).

<sup>e</sup> Measured using a Franson-type two-photon interference experiment, in two bases.

dispersion engineering over wide wavelength spans is challenging, TFLN and other  $\chi^{(2)}$  materials can also be used in the micro-resonator configuration, achieving very high nonlinear efficiencies [108].

## Current and future challenges

Improving the heralding efficiency for pure single-photon states

The heralding efficiency of spontaneously-pumped integrated sources is low (typically < 10%) whereas an on-demand single-photon probability >50% has been achieved using a QD [109]. (A heralding efficiency of 50% has been quoted for a microring SFWM device using a different definition of heralding efficiency [34].) To bridge this gap, several advances will be needed. Accurate fabrication of integrated coupling structures is needed in resonant devices, such that the pump is coupled to the resonator with a different coupling efficiency than the signal/idler photons. Integrated filters and heralding detectors may avoid the insertion loss and experimental complexity of stand-alone modules. At present, only superconducting detectors show an adequately high detection efficiency and low jitter, but their integration with other photonic components can be difficult. High extinction ratio, low insertion loss integrated filters are required to isolate and possibly filter the signal and idler photons and divert the residual pump beam. Because fiber-chip coupling is imperfect, scattered light must be carefully managed.

## Multiplexing

Since the heralding efficiency of a spontaneous source is fundamentally limited to 25%, multiplexing is essential to improving the heralded single-photon generation probability (per pump pulse) [110]. A variety of multiplexing experiments have been demonstrated on a breadboard or optical tabletop, including frequency multiplexing schemes which require nonlinear wavelength-shifting operations [111]. To realize a microchip-scale, low size, weight and power (SWAP) and low-cost quasi-deterministic source of pure single photons will require engineering improvements in source brightness, indistinguishability, heralding efficiency, and (feed-forward) switching of single photons. Several hundred multiplexed sources might be required, depending on the level of loss and detection efficiency [112]. While this is not impossible to envision this level of integration using integrated photonics, a hybrid approach which uses some integrated photonics circuitry, and some discrete optical components may be more practical.

### Compatibility of sources with quantum memories

The bandwidths of long-lived quantum memories are typically much narrower than the bandwidths of photons generated by SPDC or SFWM, or for that matter, using QDs or other typical single-photon and photon-pair emitters. To bridge this gap, researchers are studying narrow-bandwidth SPDC using backward-wave QPM, bandwidth compression through transduction, and construction of ultra-narrow linewidth cavities. Development of short poling periods is also benefitting research in quantum wavelength conversion between widely separated wavelengths. With the incorporation of feedforward logic and/or single-photon nonlinearity, efficient construction of graph states and entanglement purification circuits can also be realized using integrated photonics. These advances will benefit the development of quantum repeaters for interconnects as well as quantum sensing and quantum computing.

### **Concluding remarks**

Entangled photon-pair source devices are now available from research and commercial sources, similar to crystals for other nonlinear optics applications such as second-harmonic generation and wavelength conversion. However, they will not meet the needs for building a future scalable quantum network. Aside from the technical performance limitations, many traditional designs do not generally benefit from modern silicon-based microfabrication, which can realize hundreds or thousands of devices on a wafer. While silicon photonics is obviously (mostly) compatible with silicon microfabrication in industry, other integrated photonics approaches which offer better performance may also be compatible with the silicon industry, including  $\chi^{(2)}$  materials such as LN. A quantum photonics designer can now benefit from a variety of engineering ideas, such as heterogeneous bonding, pick-and-place assembly and transfer printing, post-fabrication trimming and reprogrammable photonic circuits. Together, these advances will comprise a much richer set of tools with which to address the grand challenges of building low SWAP (size, weight, and power), low-cost, manufacturable *and* high-performance entangled-photon sources for large-scale entanglement distribution and error correction in quantum networks and QIP.

## Acknowledgments

This work was supported by National Science Foundation (NSF) (EFMA-1640968), NASA, Sandia National Laboratories, United Technologies Research Center, Keysight Technologies and IBM.

## 11. Sources and qubits-emissive centers in silicon

#### Sonia M Buckley

National Institute of Standards and Technology, United States of America

#### Status

Similar to the NV center in diamond, there exist many different emissive centers in the silicon lattice. These silicon emissive centers (SECs) were characterized extensively in the 1980s [113], and underwent a resurgence in popularity in the 2000s by groups looking to develop silicon lasers for telecommunications applications [114]. While there was one report of the lasing G center, a carbon-based SEC, work on SECs for the development of lasers has largely been abandoned. Many SECs are only luminescent at cryogenic temperatures, which is unappealing to the telecommunications industry, but an accepted part of quantum technologies. SECs have been relatively underexplored for QIP as they must emit below the silicon bandgap, where the most efficient APDs are insensitive. The increased availability of superconducting single-photon detectors has finally allowed the study of quantum SECs.

Many SECs form states within the bandgap of silicon, allowing electrical injection. Several electrically-injected all-silicon LEDs have been demonstrated, including an electrically-injected waveguide-coupled cryogenic optical link with a W center (silicon interstitial based SEC) LED [115] (figure 17(i)). The W and G centers exhibit some of the brightest emission of any SECs, and are promising as SPSs. In the past year, first measurements of single-photon emission from G centers have been reported [116, 117], and single SECs across the telecom wavelength range have also been observed in carbon-implanted silicon [118]. A silicon photonic spin-donor qubit quantum computing platform has recently been proposed [119], with the idea of using photonic coupling between chalcogenide spin qubits in silicon (figure 17(ii)). Spin qubits in silicon have exceptionally long coherence times due to the availability of isotopically pure silicon. Isotopically pure silicon has also been shown to favorably impact the linewidths of some SECs [120]. The spin-photon interface in silicon, could it be realized, would therefore have significant advantages both due to this property and the advanced fabrication capabilities available in silicon. Rare earth SECs, with very stable emission across crystalline hosts, have also been investigated for quantum applications. Rather than using optical emission, which has a very long lifetime, optical addressing of a single Er ion in silicon has been demonstrated, in conjunction with the injection of a single electron spin for manipulation [121].

#### Current and future challenges

Generation of SECs is usually performed by ion implantation followed by annealing. For many SECs, the process leaves significant damage in the crystal lattice, causing unintentional introduction of non-radiative recombination centers. The structure of many SECs and these non-radiative centers are also often poorly understood. The emission from single G centers that has been observed so far showed strong inhomogenous broadening. Ion implantation processes may generate many different types of SECs, offering opportunities but also challenges to develop processes that only create the SECs of interest [118]. For many applications, placement of individual SECs will also be necessary. For SPSs, there are several remaining challenges. The long radiative lifetimes of SECs lower the quantum efficiency due to competitive non-radiative processes, as well as reducing the maximum repetition rates. Single-photon emission has only recently been observed from G centers and SECs in carbon-implanted silicon, while single-photon emission still remains elusive for many other SECs interest. The most promising SECs may emit in the mid-IR, a technologically challenging wavelength range. From the point of view of an electrically-injected SPS, the ability to inject a single electron on-demand and generate indistinguishable single-photons is a holy grail, but work is still needed to develop the types of structures needed for this. The spin-photon properties of several types of SECs have been investigated, including Se, Mg, as well as the G, W and T centers (all based on interstitial silicon complexes either with or without carbon). It appears that the Se+ and T center are both promising as a spin photon interface, while the right energy level structure has not yet been observed in other SECs. A host of SECs remain unexplored, and it is likely that the perfect SEC for the application has yet to be identified. For a spin-photon interface, the emitters must be strongly coupled to a photonic cavity. This requires the development of a system of photonic cavities all on-resonance with the emitter zero phonon line, and with each other.

#### Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

Despite research in this area ongoing since the 1970s, the optimal conditions for generation of specific SECs, the physics of formation of many of the most common SECs, and the sources of non-radiative recombination are not well understood. Techniques such as atomistic simulations, variable energy positron spectroscopy,



and Rutherford backscattering could help elucidate some of these properties. More study on the quantum properties of different SECs is ultimately needed. The main improvements in technology needed are improved detectors in the infrared, and ultra-low-loss integrated photonic elements in the mid-infrared. Coupling of W centers to microresonators has been demonstrated recently [122] (figure 17(iii)), but Purcell enhancement and strong coupling of SECs to photonic cavities are still awaiting experimental demonstration, despite indications that this is well within reach of silicon photonic microresonator technology. Purcell enhancement could overcome the long radiative lifetime that is characteristic of many SECs. It is unclear what effect the presence of the etched surfaces introduced by these cavities will have on the performance of SECs, and advances in our understanding of this effect are needed. For a photonic spin-qubit interface, a mechanism for overcoming homogeneous and inhomogeneous broadening of the emitters, such as electrical tuning, is needed, as well as tunable high-Q low mode-volume silicon photonic cavities for matching resonant wavelengths of cavities to each other and to the emitters. Placement of SECs with atomic-level precision will also be needed; this has been demonstrated with spin qubits in silicon based on phosphorus donors, but may be much more challenging for complexed SECs involving multiple atoms. For useful electrically-injected SPSs, a first demonstration of electrically-injected single-photon emission is needed, as well as a mechanism for resonant electrical injection for to ensure the generation of indistinguishable photons. The technologies used for single-electron injection and optical addressing of spin qubits in Er ions may prove useful in this case. With major technological developments, there is also the potential for SECs to contribute to quantum technologies in other ways, such as an electrically-injected cryogenic silicon laser to pump on-chip pair sources, or as an optical interface from cryogenic to room temperature.

## **Concluding remarks**

Emitters in silicon show promise for quantum technologies on several fronts. First, they may lead to silicon-compatible electrically-injected single-photon emitters, potentially enabling a wide variety of quantum information experiments. They may provide a spin–photon interface for a system with very long coherence time spin qubits, allowing a mechanism for long distance coupling between qubits. However, for these technologies to become a reality, the right defects must be identified and studied, and the photonic and electrical interfaces needed must be developed.

## Acknowledgment

This is a contribution of NIST and not subject to copyright.
# 12. Integrated photonics with silicon carbide color centers

#### Marina Radulaski

University of California Davis, Davis, CA 95616, United States of America

### Status

SiC has attracted attention of the photonic and spintronic communities since 2010 when it was proposed as an alternative wide bandgap defect host to the prominently researched diamond, with an outlook of improved optical stability and industrial maturity. The advantages of SiC as a substrate included wafer-scale availability, presence of the second order optical nonlinearity, and easier opto-electronic integration, however, its color center properties were yet to be explored. Throughout last decade, research on divacancy and silicon vacancy (SiV) centers (predominantly in 4H-SiC polytype) demonstrated microwave and phonon driven coherent control of the electron spin, millisecond spin-coherence times (even without isotopic purification), indistinguishable single-photon emission, and, moreover, photonic and optoelectronic device integration. These results set SiC on a promising path to defining the quantum technology backbone for applications in QC and computation (figure 18).

While greatly benefiting from being a solid-state platform in terms of scalability, the optically active defects take a hit in performance due to the interactions with lattice vibrations. Overcoming this limit, the integrated color center photonics in SiC leads to both an improved, as well as a paradigm shifting, performance of quantum emitters. Placing SiV into a nanopillar [123] has shown increased light collection needed for more precise optical readout of a spin–qubit, while its integration with nanocavities has resulted in Purcell enhancement of light emitted into the zero-phonon line (ZPL) [124, 125] needed for high fidelity indistinguishable-photon operation in quantum applications. Strong cavity quantum electrodynamical coupling of one or multiple color centers to a nanocavity has been proposed for high-speed quantum light sources, as well as for the generation of hybridized light-matter states that play a key role in photonic quantum simulation [126]. Due to their small inhomogeneous broadening and nanodevice scalability, color centers are poised to overcome the stalled progress in a variety of quantum photonic geometries whose realization has proved impractical to atomic and QD systems.

#### Current and future challenges

The deployment of fiber-based quantum networks would benefit from a presence of telecommunications range quantum emitters. While Si vacancy and divacancy in 4H-SiC provide longer operating wavelengths than diamond defects and QDs, emerging SiC color centers, such as the NV [128, 129] and the vanadium center [130], are currently explored in the range 1300–1550 nm.

A major color center integration challenge is the incompatibility of well-defined defects with thin heteroepitaxial films. Most SiC polytypes do not grow on sacrificial substrates, except for cubic layers of 3C-SiC grown on silicon whose lattice mismatch prevents formation of narrow-linewidth color centers. This leaves no easy avenue for providing refractive index contrast between a structure and its surrounding, needed to confine light in nanodevices. Nevertheless, several successful directions have been pursued: photo-electrochemical etching [124], SiC thinning and bonding onto an insulator [125], and Faraday-cage angled etching [131]. These promising approaches are yet to be developed into wafer-scale arbitrary substrate processes needed for commercialization of quantum technologies.

Another exciting and complex challenge is the realization of a high-fidelity spin-photon interface using a color center with long spin-coherence time, essential to quantum repeater development and cluster-entangled state generation [127]. This task requires (a) a color center with a suitable entanglement scheme, (b) optimized coherence achieved via intrinsic symmetry of the defect, isotopic purification of the substrate, magnetic field nuclear bath dilution, or dynamic decoupling control, (c) integration into a low-loss nanocavity with a favorable dipole orientation which would strongly promote the no-phonon radiative emission, (d) efficient light coupling into an objective lens or an optical fiber.

To meet the challenges in photonic quantum simulation, collective coupling of nearly-identical color centers to a common nanocavity is to be demonstrated. Nanofabrication techniques that can both produce low-loss nanocavities and maintain low strain in the substrate are needed to achieve light-matter coupling in the cavity-protected regime which would enable exploration of polariton physics [126].

Finally, fabrication of SiC color center photonic devices with superconducting detectors on the same chip would enable fully integrated photonic quantum circuits with applications in quantum computing. The advantage of such approach compared to the competing methods are the long coherence, connectivity and scalability of qubits.



### Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

Promising experimental results on NV center generation and coherent manipulation [132], as well as theoretical proposals for their spin–photon interfaces have been demonstrated in SiC [127]. Integration of these telecommunications range emitting centers into nanophotonic devices, as well as an increase of their spin-coherence, is a work in progress. Applications in the proposed high-speed long-distance QCs, and measurement-based quantum computing (MBQC), are likely to follow.

To meet the wafer-scale and arbitrary substrate nanofabrication needs, ion beam angle-etching approaches, similar to those developed in the diamond platform, are to be explored. These methods can be used to accelerate the progress toward achieving high-Purcell enhancement, cavity quantum electrodynamical interaction, as well as bipartite and cluster entanglement.

A proof-of-principle coherent control of a Purcell enhanced divacancy in 4H-SiC was recently demonstrated in a suitably doped substrate [124]. The generalization of this method to other substrates and color centers potentially offering longer spin-coherence times and alternative wavelengths needed for versatile quantum hardware development will make for an impactful step toward quantum hardware integration.

Demonstration of indistinguishable photon emission from a single SiV [133] represents an excellent steppingstone toward both multi-emitter entanglement and cluster-entangled state generation. Extending this experiment to color centers integrated into nanocavities would increase the fidelity of entangling processes. Localized wavelength tuning implemented via strain, electric field or Raman scattering would enable entanglement of photons emitted from different color centers.

Recently, the first SNSPDs on 3C-SiC substrate were implemented [134]. Further exploration with substrates that host color centers, as well as the integration with prefabricated photonic circuits, would help meet the quantum computing frontier.

Due to the SiC's commercial presence in power electronics and MEMS, expansion of industrial involvement into quantum applications, including commercial availability of isotopically purified samples, SiC on insulator platforms and *in-situ* doping of desired defects, is expected to propel further research and development.

### **Concluding remarks**

A decade of investment into the exploration of optically active defects in SiC has borne a frontrunning platform for commercial integration of quantum hardware. With further advancements in substrate processing, photonic design, and optical and microwave control, SiC photonics and spintronics are poised to form the quantum technology backbone that supports key processes across all flavors of QIP.

# Acknowledgment

This work is supported by the National Science Foundation (CAREER-2047564).

# 13. O-band and C-band single quantum emitters

#### Stephan Reitzenstein

Technische Universität Berlin, Berlin, Germany

### Status

Quantum light sources, which emit photons in the telecom windows at 1.3  $\mu$ m (O-band) and 1.55  $\mu$ m (C-band), are basic building blocks for fiber-optic-based QC over long distances. Generally, the single-photon character can be approximated comparatively easily by attenuated lasers. However, the emission statistics of attenuated lasers is intrinsically of classical nature, which prevents their use in advanced QC approaches. In contrast to this, solid-state quantum emitters can generate individual photons in principle on demand [135]. In this context, high quality semiconductors QDs are of great interest and can be produced in a self-organized manner using modern nanotechnology processes. In fact, GaAs and InGaAs QDs emitting at around 780 and 930 nm are among the best single-photon emitters today. InGaAs QDs can also be designed for emission at telecom wavelengths. For this purpose, the difference in lattice constants between InGaAs and GaAs must be reduced by suitable measures. For emissions at 1.3  $\mu$ m, the method of strain reducing layers has been established and optimized [136], while metamorphic buffer layers are used for emission at 1.55  $\mu$ m [137]. Alternatively, InGaAs QDs at 1.55  $\mu$ m can also be realized using InP substrates [138]. In all cases, SPSs with narrow linewidths and high multi-photon suppression could be demonstrated. It was also possible to develop electrically driven entangled photon pair sources based on 1.55  $\mu$ m QDs and to use them for fiber-based QC [139].

#### Current and future challenges

Despite the enormous technological advances in the development of telecom quantum emitters, there are still many challenges and open questions that must be solved in order to open up the envisaged fields of application in photonic quantum technology. With respect to device fabrication, it is important to go beyond proof-of-principle results and realize single quantum emitter SPSs in a controlled manner and with a high process yield. This is a challenging task because the used self-organized growth process leads to randomness in the position and emission wavelength of individual QDs, which leads typically to process yields in the few percent range. With respect to the brightness of the sources, it is important to increase the photon extraction efficiency significantly from <40% achieved to date [140] to values beyond 90%. A promising approach for this is the (deterministic) integration of QDs in circular Bragg gratings (CBGs) in combination with a gold mirror on the back which promises photon extraction efficiencies >95% and Purcell factors close to 30 [141]. In addition, for the future application of SPSs as modular building blocks in photonic quantum technology, efficient on-chip coupling to single-mode fibers is essential. It is technologically very demanding to implement such a coupling: It requires not only a robust mechanical alignment with sub- $\mu$ m accuracy, especially for the often-required cryogenic temperature operation, but also an optical mode-matching between SPS and fiber. In addition, increasing photon indistinguishability to values beyond 90% is of great importance for QC applications. In fact, so far the photon indistinguishability of telecom QDs has been limited to less than 20% without temporal postselection [136, 140]—a very problematic issue which is attributed to the non-ideal crystal quality of the QDs and their surrounding semiconductor matrix and material interfaces in case of heterogenous device concepts. Finally, a very precise control and stabilization of the quantum emitter's wavelength on the order of the homogenous linewidth is essential for applications that are based on entanglement swapping through Bell-state measurements.

#### Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

Extensive technological developments are necessary in order to solve the diverse challenges towards ideal telecom SPSs (figure 19). First, it is of paramount importance to maximize the optical quality of the emitters themselves in terms of their emission linewidth, coherence and indistinguishability. In the field of semiconductor QDs, this primarily affects epitaxial growth. Here it is certainly necessary to sensitively optimize the layer design and the growth parameters in order to increase the optical quality of the QDs via structures with reduced defects—or to develop revolutionary novel growth concepts for telecom QDs. Here, Hong–Ou–Mandel measurements on photon indistinguishability, which is a very sensitive probe regarding the detrimental impact of defect states etc, can provide important feedback for iterative optimization of the QDs. Beyond that resonant excitation schemes like resonance fluorescence and two-photon resonant excitation need to be established and optimized as experimental tools for the maximization of the photon indistinguishability. Concerning the randomness associated with the typical self-assembled realization of many types of quantum emitters and the resulting poor process yield, it is important to develop and apply deterministic nanofabrication technologies. Among them *in-situ* electron beam lithography is very attractive





and has to be adopted and optimized for the deterministic device integration of telecom quantum emitters. First results in this direction have recently been published in [136], but further refinements are required to deterministically realize for instance telecom QD-SPSs that are based on CBG structures. In connection with this, it is important to develop efficient and precise techniques for the spectral control of the quantum emitters. In this context, the spectral strain tuning via attached piezo elements that are electrically controlled is extremely attractive. This technology has already been used very successfully for QDs with emission <1  $\mu$ m and could recently also be demonstrated for deterministically fabricated QD-SPS in telecom O-band. In recent years, very interesting technological approaches for on-chip fiber coupling of QD-SPSs have been developed. Published results rely either on optical alignment in combination with gluing the fiber [142] or on micromechanical fiber holders and micro-optics [143, 144]. Based on these initial successes, further technological developments must follow in order to significantly increase the photon coupling efficiency from a few percent achieved to date to values beyond 90%, for example using CBGs [141].

### Concluding remarks

Quantum light sources with emission in the telecom O- and C-band are among the most important building blocks for the implementation of fiber-based quantum networks, which can pave the way for the global quantum internet. Based on existing results, QD-SPSs are very promising candidates for meeting the diverse requirements of these application scenarios. In the future, it will be crucial to develop modular stand-alone SPSs with the highest photon coupling efficiency and the best possible quantum properties, which can be conveniently integrated into quantum networks.

# Acknowledgments

Financial support from the European Regional Development Fund of the European Union via the FI-SEQUR project and from the German Research Foundation through CRC 787, Re2974/23-1 and Re2974/24-1 is gratefully acknowledged.

# 14. Diamond integrated quantum photonics

Benjamin Pingault<sup>1,2,4</sup>, Bartholomeus Machielse<sup>1,3,4</sup> and Marko Lončar<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> John A. Paulson School of Engineering and Applied Sciences, Harvard University, Cambridge, MA 02138, United States of America

<sup>2</sup> QuTech, Delft University of Technology, Delft, The Netherlands

<sup>3</sup> Department of Physics, Harvard University, Cambridge, MA 02138, United States of America

<sup>4</sup> These authors contributed equally.

#### Status

Over the past decade, color centers in diamond have been explored with the goal of utilizing their optically accessible spin for the implementation of quantum photonics and quantum networks [57, 58]. These networks could be constructed from a series of nodes comprising color centers embedded in nanophotonic cavities, connected to each other via telecommunications fibers. The nodes act as quantum repeaters and processors, and enable novel, optically mediated entanglement topologies over distances for which photon loss would make direct transmission of entanglement impossible. Realization of such a network would enable technologies such as long distance QKD, distributed quantum computing, and enhanced long-distance quantum sensing [57].

Several breakthroughs towards this goal have already been achieved utilizing two primary color centers, the negatively charged NV center (see figure 20(a)) and the negatively charged SiV center [58] (see figure 20(b)). The NV center has been used to demonstrate loophole-free, photon-mediated entanglement between distant spins [145], as well as deterministic delivery of entanglement at a rate which exceeds the decoherence rate of the entangled state [146]. In parallel, the coherence properties of the NV spin have been improved to over a second [147]. Neighboring nuclear spins have also been harnessed through the NV spin as long-lived ancilla qubits and memories culminating in the realization of a 10 qubit quantum register and entanglement of 7 qubits [148].

More recently, the SiV center has attracted interest due to its superior optical properties [58]. In particular, the SiV maintains its charge and spectral stability when integrated into nanophotonic cavities. This property has enabled the realization of an integrated, SiV-controlled single photon switch [60], coherent interaction of two SiV spins through the optical mode of a photonic cavity [149], and memory-enhanced photonic Bell-state measurements [150] (see figures 21(a) and (b)). The cooperativity of the spin–photon interface enabled by the nanophotonic cavities now reaches above 100, thus indicating reliable coupling between itinerant photons and the SiV spin memory. Tapered waveguides allow the extraction into an optical fiber of more than 90% of SiV photons emitted into waveguides (see figures 21(a) and (b)). Integration of nanophotonic devices comprising SiV color centers with mechanical devices [151] and nonlinear optics platforms has also been demonstrated [9].

### Current and future challenges

Both the NV and SiV platforms have demonstrated the individual components required for the creation of quantum networks with quantum repeaters (see figure 21(c)), and are now pursuing integration of the required technologies and enhancement of optically mediated entanglement rates.

The highest rate of photon-mediated entanglement between two NV center spins is currently 39 Hz [57, 146]. This rate is limited by the 4% probability that the NV emits photons into its ZPL (see figure 20(a)) and by a limited collection efficiency. This can be addressed by embedding NVs into optical cavities, which in the case of fiber cavities has enabled a ten-fold Purcell enhancement [152]. Further integration requires the use of nanophotonic cavities fabricated directly in diamond, which is hampered by spectral instability of the NV near surfaces [153].

Such nanophotonic cavities, as successfully used for SiV experiments (see figure 21(b)), remain difficult to fabricate due to the lack of techniques for heteroepitaxial growth of pure, single-crystal diamond. Instead, several techniques have been used to undercut devices in bulk diamond [153]. Among these, crystallographic and angled etching are the most promising, but can produce only specific device topologies.

Furthermore, to enable large spin-photon coupling, photonic cavities rely on small mode-volumes. Reproducibility remains a challenge for such cavities due to the limited precision with which color centers can be localized through implantation and due to fabrication-induced damage. Crystal damage also causes spectral instability and inhomogeneity between centers [153]. This is a limiting factor in scaling up to larger networks, as photons most easily couple emitters with the same transition energies.

The design of larger networks will also require color centers to be integrated into or coupled to other photonic platforms for photon routing, manipulation, and conversion to telecom wavelengths [9, 154].



a sharp ZPL amounting to 4% of the total emission at 4K, with the rest corresponding to the broad phonon sideband. (b) The negatively charged SiV center has 70%–80% of its emission into the ZPL. Among the dozens of known diamond color centers these two are the most studied, as they offer long-lived, optically-accessible spin qubits. The structures of the color centers (insets) explain the differences between their properties. The inversion symmetry of the SiV reduces its sensitivity to stray electric fields but also introduces increased sensitivity to thermal phonons. Other group IV color centers such as the germanium- (GeV) and tin- (SnV) vacancy centers share the structure of the SiV, making them promising candidates for further study [151]. (a) and (b) are reprinted with permission from [58], © Springer Nature 2018.

Further integration with other quantum computing platforms, such as superconducting qubits or trapped ions, will be beneficial to hybrid approaches to QIP.

Finally, much progress could be made through the search for novel color centers combining superior spin and optical properties [154]. These properties can include high photon yield into the ZPL with near unity quantum efficiency, long spin coherence times with optical addressability at elevated temperatures, or low sensitivity to strain, charge and magnetic noise.

#### Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

Ongoing theoretical and experimental research efforts have led to several proposed solutions for the challenges facing diamond color center-based quantum networks.

Of primary interest is improving the understanding and control of the elements that impact the inherent properties of color centers. This is especially important for the NV center, but would also contribute to the development of new surface treatments, implantation techniques, annealing parameters, growth conditions, and novel strategies such as shallow implantation followed by overgrowth that could improve the properties of all forms of color centers [153].

Narrowing the range of novel emitters that need to be explored experimentally requires a systematic understanding of the desired properties of emitters and further improvement of computational methods for evaluating candidates [155]. The related efforts into reducing the cost and improving cooling power of cryogenic technologies are also important for increasing academic and industrial access to new color center technologies.

The improvement of cavities for spin–photon interfaces and their integration with new technologies requires progress in fabrication techniques. The most developed fabrication strategies rely on undercut photonic devices that can still be optimized further, while novel techniques involving the use of suspended diamond films that could enable more straightforward device fabrication require more investigation. Future diamond platforms should also continue to integrate microwave, acoustic, and electromechanical functionalities as control mechanisms for color centers [151, 153]. Improving access to ultrapure diamond substrates and facilities for overgrowth of existing substrates remains an ongoing and important effort.

The parameter space of existing techniques for nanophotonic device design also remains underexplored. Larger mode volume cavities could be coupled to NV centers, overcoupled or ultrasmall mode volume cavities could enable higher cooperativity or more efficient spin–photon gates, and inverse design techniques could be used to enable more sophisticated device properties [153, 156].



Finally, permanent packaging of diamond photonic devices that allow simultaneous addressing of multiple color centers will be essential to large scale integration. This could be accomplished by permanent splicing of fibers onto existing devices, pick-and-place integration with other platforms [9], or flip-chip technology [153].

### **Concluding remarks**

Driven by progress in nanofabrication, theoretical understanding, and experimental sophistication, diamond color centers coupled to nanophotonic devices have emerged as a leading photonics and QC platform. Technology surrounding the NV center has progressed furthest, resulting in demonstrations of long distance entanglement. The entanglement rates could be boosted to technologically relevant levels with the development of techniques for integration of the color center with cavities. The SiV center has been successfully integrated with nanofabricated cavities, has been used to demonstrate enhancement of QC rates, and is progressing rapidly towards similar demonstrations of long distance entanglement. Meanwhile, ongoing research into other color centers could lead to the discovery of emitters which can combine the best properties of existing platforms. The challenges for these platforms lie primarily on the road to large scale integration, as the individual components required for near term application for quantum networking technologies have been demonstrated.

# Acknowledgments

We thank N Sinclair and R Riedinger for helpful conversation. B M thanks NSF GRFP for funding provided via research fellowship. B P acknowledges financial support through a Horizon 2020 Marie Skłodowska-Curie Actions global fellowship (COHESiV, Project No. 840968) from the European Commission. M L acknowledges support from NSF, ONR, DoE, and AFOSR.

# 15. Quantum optics in integrated waveguides and photonic crystal fibres

Debsuvra Mukhopadhyay<sup>1</sup>, Alexey Akimov<sup>1,2,4</sup>, Aleksei Zheltikov<sup>2,3,4</sup> and Girish S Agarwal<sup>1</sup>

<sup>3</sup> M.V. Lomonosov Moscow State University, Moscow 119992, Russia

<sup>4</sup> Russian Quantum Center, Moscow Region 143025, Russia

### Status

Waveguide QED offers a complementary paradigm to cavity QED for studying and regulating light-matter interaction which forms the cornerstone of state-of-the-art chip-scale photonics. Nanofiber-controlled fluorescence from an evanescently coupled atom was first demonstrated by Kien et al [157]. The radiative behavior of multi-emitter configurations is governed by the relative location of the emitters, allowing more efficient control on photon transport and possible adoption as a prototypical element for quantum information. As quantum emitters, cold atoms have largely led the way in the engineering of strongly integrated atom-waveguide architectures, due to their perfect coherence properties. Enhanced Bragg reflection off a chain of identical atoms trapped in an optical lattice in a waveguide was demonstrated in [158]. An ensemble of emitters interfacing with a waveguide, as shown in figure 22, exhibits a myriad of exotic phenomena such as single-photon super- and sub-radiance [159, 160], nonreciprocal photon transport, and asymmetrical Fano lineshapes. When the lattice periodicity equals an integer multiple of the wavelength, the cooperative emission from the atomic array retains its Lorentzian profile with a linearly scaling decay rate, as has been demonstrated in [159, 161]. By stimulating interaction between photons, a multi-spin cluster can serve as an optical switch or nearly any possible quantum gate. Possibility of transparency due to single-photon transport across differentially detuned two-level emitters has been theoretically demonstrated, without applying any control field [160]. Directional dependence of the emission can entail asymmetric relaxation rates to the left- and right-propagating modes, which significantly modifies the transport. The interaction mediated by an optical fiber wields flexible control on both dispersive and dissipative couplings, level repulsion and attraction, and on sensing capabilities [162]. All these ideas can be contextualized in a variety of experimental models of topical interest such as resonators on a transmission line, cold atoms near a fiber and QDs coupled to plasmonic excitations in a nanowire or photonic crystal waveguides [163, 164]. Among solid-state candidates, some promising ones are epitaxy grown QDs, color centers in diamond and solids like SiC, and rare-earth defects in glasses and crystals. As a versatile platform for photonic-state engineering, SFWM stands out as a unique resource for executing a broad class of quantum phenomena in a fiber-optic format [165, 166].

#### Current and future challenges

Currently, the prime challenge is to develop a universal platform for integrated waveguide devices, which would allow easy scalability for industrial applications. The propagation of nanofiber-guided light through a periodic array of identical emitters has been extensively studied. While these works lay out a propitious roadmap for the novel possibilities with waveguide QED, a majority of them, starting from the demonstration of transparency to sensing of anharmonicity, premise their analyses on loss-free or low-decoherence models. To realize these effects with better precision requires better control on extraneous decoherence and overlap in the spatial modes of incident and scattered waves. Indeed, if one considers current information technologies, the only photons used now are at telecom frequencies, while the majority of trailblazing results are being unveiled in the visible and near-infrared domains, where there are plenty of convenient laser sources and familiar high-quality emitters. The conversion of optical to telecom frequency at the level of single photons, which is interesting for QIP, still poses a challenge. Remarkable progress has been achieved with diamond-based waveguides. No less challenging is optimizing the choice of quantum emitter itself. An obvious trend is to deploy solid-state emitters, but unavoidable decoherence and strong scattering off phonons brings down the quality of these emitters, even at cryogenic temperatures. Nevertheless, the impact of decoherence channels in generic waveguide-QED models has been theoretically studied from rigorous, first-principle considerations [167]. NV color centers in diamond can boost the coherence at cryogenic temperatures but defects intrinsic to nanostructures can be an issue. The problem of inadequate coupling could be overcome to some extent by integrating photonic cavities to waveguides, but cavities are unfortunately bulkier. Previously mostly ignored for their very weak optical transition, rare-earth ions in crystals are showing functionalities via their telecom transitions and possibility of strong enchantment in photonic crystal cavities. Furthermore, quite generally, chiral waveguides provide an entirely different setup for manipulating photon scattering. Therefore, the controllability of chiral characteristics and the feasibility of unidirectional emission merits further investigation. Finally, with regards to quantum-state generation,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Texas A&M University, College Station, TX 77840, United States of America

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> PN Lebedev Physical Institute, Moscow 119991, Russia



**Figure 22.** (Left) Model of a string of N quantum emitters side-coupled to a 1D continuum. (Right) An on-chip integrated-waveguide quantum gate with color-center nanodiamonds; the blue and red colours represent single photons of different frequencies, with output dependent on the state of the color center.

nonlinear methods like FWM in optical fibers are becoming successful as recent efforts have shown [165, 166].

### Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

Although experimental investigations on photon transport in waveguide-integrated setups have picked up speed over the last two decades, it is imperative to make continual upgrades to bridge the chasm between theory and experiment. The subwavelength-sized mode volumes in cavity QED made it possible to reach even ultrastrong atom-photon coupling, however many waveguide-based platforms are still lagging behind in implementing efficient photon-emitter interaction required for fabricating chip-scale optical devices. Interestingly, the cold-atom community is now investigating not only multi-atomic systems coupled to waveguides, but also into possibilities of constructing waveguides from atomic arrays themselves [168]. With diamond-based platforms, several amazing results involving SiV centers, on strong coupling, all-optical switching of photons and realization of quantum gates in all-optical cavities in diamond-made cavity were demonstrated [60]. While color centers in SiC show clear promise in moving to industry-friendly applications, they have a lot of catching up to do in comparison to diamond-based structures. There has been a number of advances in positioning and even fabrication of the nanocrystals themselves, which has created potential for these systems to compete with pure diamond cavities or silicon-carbide cavities [169]. Plasmonic structures recently focused on development of low-loss surface plasmon polaritons as well as growing low-loss plasmonic materials. When implemented in optical fibers, spontaneous FWM provides a vast arsenal of methods and an ample parameter space for engineering photon entanglement in spectral, temporal, spatial and polarization modes. Advanced methods of fiber-dispersion management, on the other hand, may prove instrumental for entanglement-time engineering [166]. As one of the recent trends, FWM with cross-polarized pump and sidebands finds growing use as a powerful resource of quantum entanglement, enabling creation of efficient fiber-optic sources of strongly antibunching heralded single photons [165] and high-brightness entangled photon pairs [166].

Fiber-mediated coherence between emitters is instrumental to the sensing potential of these devices and can also generate long-range inter-emitter entanglement. In order to deftly explore topological phenomena in qubits coupled to fiber waveguides, more technical sophistication based on modern nanofabrication methods is needed to increase the qubit-waveguide coupling.

#### **Concluding remarks**

With the sheer amount of progress being made in waveguide QED, waveguide-integrated circuits and networks are continually expanding the frontiers of research in purely optics-based QC. The Fano-like interference between multiple emission pathways in the photonic interaction with an array of spatially separated emitters makes the photon transport strongly nonreciprocal and sensitive to the spatial separation. In addition, regulation of chiral couplings grants tremendous information processing potential to fiber-integrated multi-emitter devices. The dissipative interaction mediated between the emitters enables one to not merely entangle these emitters but also to explore exceptional point induced phase transition, without resorting to extrinsic gain as is usually the case with directly coupled systems. Finally, optical fields tailored in waveguide and fiber-optic systems lend a vast parameter space, defining the spatial, temporal, spectral, polarization, and spin modes of photons, thus opening new avenues for quantum information science, quantum metrology, and ultrahigh-resolution quantum imaging.

# Acknowledgments

The authors acknowledge the support of The Air Force Office of Scientific Research (Award No. FA9550-20-1-0366), The Robert A Welch Foundation (Grant Nos. A-1943; A-1801), Herman F Heep and Minnie Belle Heep Fellowship, Texas A and M University (X-Grant 497); National Science Foundation (PHY-1820930), Texas A&M College of Science STTR grant, Russian Foundation for Basic Research (Project Nos. 18-29-20031, 19-02-00473), Russian Science Foundation (Project No. 20-12-00088), Ministry of Science and Higher Education of the Russian Federation (Project No. 14.Z50.31.00400).

# QUANTUM FREQUENCY CONVERSION

### 16. Quantum frequency conversion using integrated nanophotonics

#### Kartik Srinivasan

Joint Quantum Institute, NIST/University of Maryland and Physical Measurement Laboratory, National Institute of Standards and Technology

### Status

QFC generally refers to the spectral translation of a quantum state of light, such as a single-photon state, between frequency bands. Its role in quantum information science and technology is well-defined in the context of quantum networks (figure 23), where it can enable telecom-wavelength fiber optic links between visible wavelength local quantum systems (e.g. quantum memories). More generally, QFC is needed to make interconnections between quantum systems operating at different wavelengths, for example, to connect a trapped ion quantum processor to a neutral atom ensemble quantum memory. QFC may also have relevance in being able to convert photons to wavelengths for which single-photon detectors have the highest performance, though ever-improving superconducting single-photon detector technology has now made efficient and low-noise detection from the ultraviolet to the near-infrared possible.

The two main requirements for QFC are high conversion efficiency, so that a large fraction of the input photon flux is frequency converted to the target output frequency, and low added noise, so that the output frequency channel is dominantly composed of light originating from the input source (rather than spurious photons). In the 30+ years since QFC was first discussed explicitly in the literature [170], efficient and low-noise QFC demonstrations have been powered by advances in nonlinear optical technology, in particular based on sum- and difference-frequency generation in quasi-phase-matched nonlinear crystals [171] and four-wave mixing in optical fibers [172], though multi-level atomic systems can also be used to mediate QFC, as has been demonstrated with cold atomic gases [173], for example. QFC with true SPSs has by now been demonstrated many times [174], and in recent years has been used to connect disparate systems such as a cold atomic gas (at 780 nm) and a solid-state crystal (at 606 nm) [175] and to enable entanglement of Rb quantum memories (at 780 nm) across a >20 km fiber optic link [176].

For many such experiments requiring discrete QFC elements, a blueprint for operation has been established. The dispersion of a material creates a phase-mismatch between the fields involved in a nonlinear process and without compensation, limits the maximum achievable conversion efficiency. Materials such as LN combine the ability to realize quasi-phase-matching by periodic poling [171]—a particularly effective approach for overcoming dispersion—with a strong nonlinear coefficient and broadband optical transparency, resulting in near-unity internal conversion efficiency being shown in some cases. Waveguide geometries provide a few centimeter interaction length while retaining bandwidths that are sufficiently wide for a broad range of quantum sources and memories. Low-noise operation typically involves having wide spectral separation between the pump source that mediates frequency conversion (whose power can easily be >10<sup>13</sup> that of the input quantum light source) and the input signal frequency and target output frequency. Together with appropriate spectral filtering, this limits the extent to which broadband processes (e.g. Raman scattering, parametric fluorescence, and defect-mediated fluorescence) can produce noise that overlaps with the input and output frequency channels, particularly when a long wavelength pump can be selected [178].

#### Current and future challenges

Although existing QFC technology is thus already being used to help construct elementary quantum networks, there are many areas in which further development is needed. QFC across large spectral gaps—for example, from the visible (or ultraviolet) to the telecom remains a challenge, as the frequency separation of >300 THz ensures that in a single three-wave mixing process, the pump will need to be placed between the input and output frequency channels, making simultaneous high conversion efficiency and low added noise difficult to achieve. Wider frequency separations also tend to make poling (and other phase-matching techniques) more difficult. A challenge specific to heterogeneous quantum networks is the need to not only match photon frequencies, but also bandwidths (more generally, temporal profiles) to ensure optimal storage of a frequency-converted photon in a quantum memory, for example. Nonlinear optics provides some mechanisms by which such temporal shaping can be realized [179], though this issue can also be addressed by other quantum network components (e.g. in the quantum light generation or quantum memory stages).

One significant challenge is in making QFC systems extensively deployable. Along with the nonlinear medium and pump laser(s), QFC typically requires optical fiber coupling, wavelength (de)multiplexers, and narrowband optical filters to create a full setup (these components also reduce the overall conversion





efficiency from near-unity to  $\approx$ 50%). This combination of lasers with linear and nonlinear optics is accessible in table-top setups, but the size, weight, and power requirements of such systems are not ideal for deployment in all environments. Integrated photonics provides a compelling route to combine such functions and create full QFC systems in a deployable and scalable platform.

### Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

Integrated photonics is being developed in a wide range of materials of relevance to quantum photonics [180]. This section identifies several important aspects of this technology as it pertains to QFC.

### Materials for QFC

Although the maturity of silicon nanophotonics provides strong motivation for its adoption when possible, applications often require functionalities such as gain, broadband optical transparency, and fast, low-loss switching, that are not easy to achieve in silicon. This has motivated research on platforms that have more suitable properties but are still amenable to similar nanofabrication processes. For nonlinear optics, LN remains a preferred choice for second-order processes, and its availability in thin film form offers new opportunities for dispersion control, power reduction, and integration. AlN is another wide-bandgap, second-order nonlinear material available in thin-film form. For third-order nonlinear processes, SiN and Ta<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub> offer broadband optical transparency and a nonlinear coefficient that is more than an order of magnitude larger than silica optical fibers, which have been the dominant four-wave mixing platform for decades and have been used in QFC experiments based on the four-wave mixing Bragg scattering process [177]. With an appropriate choice of material composition, III–V materials from the InGaP and AlGaAs families can provide both sufficiently broad optical transparency and a very large optical nonlinearity (both second-order and third-order), while diamond may be a natural choice for third-order QFC applications that involve its color center quantum emitters and/or spins. To that end, we also note that QFC approaches involving multi-level single quantum emitters coupled to nanophotonic elements have also been proposed [181].

## Control of nonlinear processes

Nanophotonic geometries provide stronger optical confinement than conventional geometries such as optical fibers or silica planar lightwave circuits. One consequence of this confinement is its impact on dispersion, as the fraction of the field that resides within the waveguide core strongly depends on wavelength and core geometry. As a result, intrinsic material dispersion can often be compensated by precise tailoring of a nanophotonic geometry [182], thereby providing phase-matching that has enabled QFC configurations not easily accessible otherwise. For example, four-wave mixing QFC between 980 and 1550 nm (on-chip efficiency  $\approx 60\%$ ) was recently shown in SiN microrings [183] and constituted a wider spectral gap than previous demonstrations in optical fibers; efficient and low-noise visible-to-telecom QFC has also been proposed using similar devices [184]. Geometric dispersion engineering can also be combined with quasi-phase-matching [185]. Moreover, nanophotonics can provide access to other frequency shifting mechanisms, for example based on acousto-optics, that can be used in some scenarios [186].

#### Low power QFC

A typical pump power for efficient QFC in conventional quasi-phase-matched waveguides is about 100 mW, while in optical fibers, Watt-level powers are often needed. Nanophotonic geometries can reduce such powers, particularly when microresonator geometries are employed, due to the combined effect of confinement and long photon lifetimes. The aforementioned SiN microring QFC [183] achieved high efficiency at the  $\approx$ 10 mW power level, and reduction to the 1 mW level should be possible through improved





cavity performance (higher quality factors) or a more nonlinear material (e.g. a wide-bandgap III–V system). Such powers can easily be accessed by chip-integrated lasers; alternately, it would also allow a single off-chip pump laser to service multiple QFC elements. While a resonant cavity limits the photon conversion bandwidth, the  $\approx$ 1 GHz bandwidth typical of high quality factor integrated microcavities is adequate for most high-performance quantum emitters, including InAs/GaAs QDs (as used in nanophotonic QFC in [187]).

#### Understanding and mitigating noise

One important task for nanophotonic QFC platforms is an understanding of added noise sources. While it can be expected that the main noise categories will include Raman scattering, spontaneous parametric processes, and fluorescence, each must be understood and characterized in the context of the material platform and geometry under investigation. Moreover, although a nanophotonic geometry can provide enhancement of the target QFC process, it may also enhance unwanted noise processes. Moving beyond creation of spurious photons, thermorefractive noise may limit the frequency stability of converted photons, which can be of importance when working with narrow linewidth sources.

### Integration

One of the most compelling reasons for pursuing nanophotonic QFC is the potential for seamless integration with other photonics technologies, which can simplify the deployment of full QFC systems in applications. Along with combining the QFC element(s) with linear components such as filters and couplers, integration with pump lasers and other quantum photonic elements, such as SPSs and solid-state spins, is feasible, particularly in the context of hybrid photonic platforms that combine the advantageous characteristics of dissimilar materials [4]. Figure 24 gives two examples of nanophotonic QFC systems that can be envisioned based on current technology.

### **Concluding remarks**

QFC is an important physical resource for enabling photonic interconnects in quantum networks. While existing QFC devices based on conventional nonlinear waveguide geometries are already being used to build early-stage quantum networks, integrated nanophotonic platforms can play an important role in future construction of more complex and functional networks. They offer clear advantages with respect to control of nonlinear processes, size, weight, and power consumption, integration with pump lasers and other photonic components, and scalability of the underlying manufacturing processes. While much work remains to be done in understanding noise generation in these platforms, they offer the potential to make QFC a truly plug-and-play component for quantum information applications.

# Acknowledgments

The author acknowledges funding from the NIST-on-a-chip and DARPA LUMOS programs.

# 17. Single-photon nonlinearity in integrated quantum photonics

#### Juanjuan Lu and Hong X Tang

Department of Electrical Engineering, Yale University, New Haven, CT 06511, United States of America

### Status

QPICs have received growing interests since such platforms offer the stability and integrability towards solid state quantum applications. By encoding quantum information into the optical photons, the QIP, QC and quantum metrology would benefit from the merits of the bosonic carriers, including the high propagation velocity, long propagation distance and infinite-dimensional Hilbert spaces. Single-photon nonlinearity enabled by quantum two-level systems is essential for future quantum information technologies, as they are the building block of quantum photonics logic gates, deterministic SPSs and for coupling distant nodes to form a quantum network.

Microwave photons could be processed by superconducting quantum circuits, where high fidelity quantum operations approaching error-correction thresholds are achieved by the lossless nonlinearity inherent to Josephson effect at cryogenic temperatures [188]. However, at optical frequencies, the absence of the single-photon nonlinearity has been a major roadblock in developing quantum photonic circuits. While the photon–photon interactions required to realize quantum gate can be mediated through light–matter interaction with atomic or atom-like solid-state emitters, their cryogenic temperature requirements greatly reduce the prospects for portable devices and routes to scaling such systems remain challenging [135].

Recent progress in nonlinear optical materials and micro-/nano-resonators has brought single-photon non-linearity employing bulk optical nonlinearities into the realm of possibility [96]. One significant advantage of this approach is its great potential for emitter-free, room temperature quantum photonics applications. In figure 25(a), we illustrate the single-photon nonlinearity in a  $\chi^{(2)}$  cavity, which is intrinsically attributed to the strong single-photon coupling rate g surpassing its dissipation rate  $\kappa$  and thereby is quantified by the figure of merit FOM =  $g/\kappa$ . Figure 25(b) summarizes the coupling rates, dissipation rates as well as the corresponding single-photon nonlinearity FOMs in various integrated  $\chi^{(2)}$ photonics platforms, which are elaborated in [189]. We note that the state-of-the-art  $g/\kappa$  is approximately 0.01 and remains two orders of magnitudes smaller than unity for practical applications.

### Current and future challenges

Significant engineering efforts are required to maximize the nonlinear coupling strength *g* while minimizing the cavity loss  $\kappa$  simultaneously and thereby advance the directions and applications laid out in the previous section via single-photon nonlinearity. Theoretically, in a  $\chi^{(2)}$  cavity,  $g \propto \chi^{(2)}_{\text{eff}} \gamma / V$  and  $\kappa \propto 1/Q$  give the single-photon nonlinearity FOM  $\propto \chi^{(2)}_{\text{eff}} \gamma Q / V$  and, where  $\chi^{(2)}_{\text{eff}}$ ,  $\gamma$ , *V*, and *Q* denote the effective nonlinearity, spatial mode overlap, mode volume and optical quality factor, respectively. While individual parameter seems readily optimized in different platforms, several technological challenges should be tackled to ensure an ultimate optimization of FOM in one single platform as outlined below:

### Trade-off between Q and V

A high Q/V resonator is always demanding to realize single-photon nonlinearity. However, cavity Q factor typically decreases as its dimension scales down. For example, Q of  $10^6$  has been demonstrated for micro-resonator ( $V \sim 100(\lambda/n)^3$ ) while  $Q \sim 10^4$  is typical for photonic crystal nano-resonator ( $V \sim (\lambda/n)^3$ ), which is mainly limited by the scattering loss induced in the fabrication and radiation loss as the device dimension is extremely small rather than intrinsic material properties (n is the refractive index). Therefore, a significant reduction of loss is expected in the near future via the careful device design and optimized fabrication techniques.

### Phase matching for integrated cavities

The coupling rate g is non-zero when the phase-matching condition (momentum conservation) is satisfied, which is demanding in the case of microcavity and even nanocavity. Substantial progress including modal-, quasi- and cyclic-phase matching have demonstrated in the microrings. However, in the case of photonic crystal nanocavity, its ultra-small mode volume suffer from a large index dispersion (momentum mismatch), and require more stringent phase matching condition, whose effective nonlinearity  $\chi^{(2)}$  and spatial mode overlap  $\gamma$  are far from optimized so far.



level diagram (right panel). The anharmonicity of the nonlinear system is determined by the energy level splitting relative to their widths. (b) The coupling rate g, dissipation rate  $\kappa$  as well as the corresponding single-photon nonlinearity FOM demonstrated in various integrated  $\chi^{(2)}$  cavities.  $\mu$ ring, microring; PhC, photonic crystal. Reprinted with permission from [189].

### Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

To circumvent the aforementioned challenges, many advances would greatly benefit the future of single-photon nonlinearity in integrated quantum photonics employing bulk optical  $\chi^{(2)}$  nonlinearity for potential deployment. Some advances include the following:

### Material platforms with ultralow-loss

Several integrated platforms based on different materials have been exploited for nonlinear and quantum applications. Each material has its advantages and disadvantages. However, due to their significant  $\chi^{(2)}$  nonlinearity and demonstration of ultra-low loss, two platforms are particularly promising towards single-photon nonlinearity:

### LN on insulator platform

Due to the high EO coefficient ( $r_{33} = 32 \text{ pm V}^{-1}$ ), significant quadratic nonlinearity ( $d_{33} = 30 \text{ pm V}^{-1}$ ), and wide transparency window (350 nm–5  $\mu$ m), thin-film LN has recently risen to the forefront of chip-scale nonlinear and quantum optics research since its demonstration as an ultralow-loss integrated photonics platform [73]. Most recently, with the high-fidelity domain poling, an state-of-the-art second-harmonic generation efficiency of 5000 000% W<sup>-1</sup> is demonstrated in a periodically poled LN microring resonator, whose single-photon nonlinearity approaches 1%. Moreover, a photonic molecule using two coupled periodically-poled microrings is theoretically proposed to facilitate single-photon generation [189].

### (Al)GaAs on insulator platform

Compared to commonly used dielectric materials for integrated nonlinear and quantum applications, (Al)GaAs has the highest nonlinear coefficients in both  $\chi^{(2)}$  ( $d_{14} = 119 \text{ pm V}^{-1}$ ) and  $\chi^{(3)}$  ( $n_2 = 1.6 \text{ 10} - 13 \text{ cm}^2 \text{ W}^{-1}$ ) and its high refractive index provides high optical confinement and small mode volume [46]. Along with its recent advance in high-Q microring fabrication, ultra-low threshold optical parametric oscillator (OPO) and efficient second-harmonic generation have been obtained in (Al)GaAs on insulator platform, showing its great potential for strong nonlinearity at the single-photon level [45].

### Novel photonic structures

Due to the trade-off between the Q and V in the traditional microring resonators, some novel photonic structures such as micro-post and grating-slab cavities, and heterostructure photonic crystal slab cavities utilizing bound states in the continuum [190, 191], are theoretically proposed to ensure the high Q/V and large mode overlap factor  $\gamma$  simultaneously, which is critical for approaching the unity single-photon nonlinearity FOM.

### **Concluding remarks**

Although recent advances on the ultralow-loss demonstration of thin-film LN and AlGaAs integrated circuits along with their significant  $\chi^{(2)}$  nonlinearities show very encouraging performance, research on the

single-photon nonlinearity in integrated quantum photonics employing bulk optical nonlinearities remains at its early stages and experimental implementation has yet to be demonstrated. Further breakthroughs on high Q/V integrated resonator fabrication and strong  $\chi^{(2)}$  coupled device design are required to reach the single-photon nonlinear regime, and pave the way for the emitter free, room-temperature quantum photonic applications.

# Acknowledgments

We acknowledge financial support from Department of Energy, Office of Basic Energy Sciences, Division of Materials Sciences and Engineering under Grant No. DE-SC0019406.

# 18. Quantum transducers

#### Wentao Jiang, Timothy P McKenna and Amir H Safavi-Naeini

Department of Applied Physics, Ginzton Lab, Stanford University, Stanford, CA 94305, United States of America

#### Status

The ability to control quantum coherence and entanglement in several physical platforms has now reached the level where significant industrial resources are being applied to realize the promises of large-scale QIP. One such platform consists of superconducting circuits operating at microwave frequencies. Microwave frequency photons are used to store, process, and control the internal quantum dynamics of these systems. The most striking recent manifestation is the result achieved by Google in 2019 on a processor consisting of 53 microwave-frequency qubits [82]. Though this experiment demonstrated that a quantum processor can perform tasks beyond the reach of classical computing technology, it is nonetheless possible that much larger-scale systems consisting of many more qubits will need to be realized before 'useful' quantum computing algorithms can be routinely used to solve problems of real scientific, industrial, and commercial interest. One approach to facilitate scaling is to implement quantum transducers that can act as transparent interfaces between distant microwave-frequency nodes in a quantum data-center. The advantage of such an approach is that it would enable increased modularity in the system design, enable implementation of specialized (and possibly heterogeneous) subunits that can perform certain tasks more efficiently, and enable larger scales by distributing computational tasks across many cryogenic systems which can be operated independently. A natural approach to this problem is to realize a microwave-to-optical converter that efficiently interconverts between microwave and optical photons. The most important characteristic of a microwave-to-optical transducer is the rate of entanglement generation between optical and microwave photons that is possible given the constraints on dissipated power and other deleterious effects caused by absorption of light. Other important factors are the bandwidth, efficiency, whether the converter can support heralded operation, and the ease at which it may be scaled up to more channels. Fundamentally, a nonlinear process must occur to change the photon frequency. At this stage, the hardware remains the primary challenge and is the focus of this roadmap. We consider here the approaches based on the direct EO conversion, and approaches that use an optomechanical resonator as an intermediary. There are also promising approaches based on rare-earth dopants or other solid-state emitters, which we will not discuss here due to lack of space, but note that they share many of the same implementation challenges [192].

#### Current and future challenges

#### Figures of merit

In most approaches, the effective interaction rate between light and microwaves can be captured in a single parameter called the coupling rate g<sub>0</sub>. In an EO transducer, a microwave resonator has an oscillating voltage V which drops across the electrodes of an integrated electrooptical resonator with a tuning coefficient of  $g_V$ Hz  $V^{-1}$ . The coupling rate  $g_0$  is the optical frequency fluctuation of the EO cavity caused by vacuum fluctuations of the microwave voltage,  $V_{zp} = \omega$  sqrt(hZ/2). This number is typically on the order of a few microvolts for standard microwave resonators, while high impedance resonators utilizing super-inductors have been able to achieve  $V_{zp}$  on the order of a hundred millivolts [193]. EO tuning rates  $g_V/2\pi$  are on order of 1 GHz V<sup>-1</sup> in many systems, leading to coupling rates of  $g_0/2\pi$  in the range of a few 1–30 kHz in integrated cavity EO devices. In the integrated optomechanical transducers, a closely related parameter signifying the optomechanical coupling can reach values in excess of 1 MHz. The interaction rate is only one part of the story. Other important parameters include the linewidths of the optical and microwave modes,  $\kappa_{\rm a}, \kappa_{\rm b}$ . Together, with an incident optical field, an internal efficiency of 4  $C/(1+C)^2$  is achieved where  $C = 4g_0^2 n_a / (\kappa_a \kappa_b)$  is the cooperativity. The total efficiency is the product of the internal efficiency with the efficiencies of the various coupling junctions the signal experiences, including the chip-to-fiber coupling. The conversion bandwidth  $C_{\kappa b}$  scales with pump power. Since bandwidth scales with power, the energy per bit scales simply as  $E \approx h\omega_a (\kappa_a/g_0)^2$  [194].

## Electro-optic conversion

The direct EO approach to microwave-to-optical transduction uses an EO material for photon frequency conversion via a three-wave mixing interaction. An incident microwave photon creates an electric field that modulates the index of refraction of the EO material. When pumped with a strong optical beam, this coupling scatters a microwave photon to a sideband optical photon with the pump photon acting to conserve energy. This three-wave mixing process is bidirectional and enables quantum state transfer between microwave and optical photons. The process can also be configured to create entangled pairs of microwave

and optical photons. The efficiency of these systems is often enhanced by incorporating low loss superconducting microwave and optical resonators in a single device. The three waving mixing process is enhanced by confining the interacting photons to a small volume—and by bringing the electrodes as close as possible to the optical field; however, the metal used for the microwave resonator causes optical loss. Superconducting circuits can also suffer increased loss from quasi-particle generation due to incident optical pump photons, so proper codesign is clearly required. Recent demonstrations in aluminum nitride [195], LN [79, 196], and EO polymer have demonstrated total efficiencies roughly ranging from  $10^{-9}$  to  $10^{-2}$ . A key challenge is integrating high-Q optical and microwave resonators on the same chip while achieving large overlap with EO material. For example, in the LN platforms, the microwave modes can have significant unintended losses due to the piezo-electric properties of the EO substrate and care must be taken in the integration [79, 196]. Extrapolating what is achievable with the current approach, and assuming that improvements in system performance will enable demonstrations to reach the basic energy-per-qubit limit of roughly 10 pJ based on the material EO properties and best demonstrated quality factors ( $Q > 10^7$ ,  $g_0/2\pi \approx 10$  kHz), we expect achievable communication rates on the order of 100 kHz if we are limited to 10 microwatts of dissipated power, as is typical in a dilution cryostat. Much higher rates may be achieved by either using materials with effective EO coefficients that are much higher (e.g. the piezo-optomechanical approach described below), or working with higher frequency electromagnetic fields (100–300 GHz) that can operate at a higher temperature with no added thermal noise, and where much higher dissipated optical powers are manageable. The latter scheme calls for a two-stage converter to move information between microwaves (10 GHz) and mm-waves (100–300 GHz) [194], and mm-waves and optical photons (193 THz).

#### Optomechanical conversion

Optomechanical converters utilize a two-step process for the microwave-to-optical quantum transduction. A microwave photon is first converted to a mechanical phonon with the same frequency, the phonon then scatters with a pump optical photon in an optomechanical cavity where they combine into the converted photon. The first step is enabled either by piezoelectric coupling between the electric field from the microwave resonance and mechanical deformation or using a parametric coupling between the two [193], while the second step relies on optomechanical interaction where mechanical deformation introduces a frequency shift of an optical resonance via photo-elastic effect as well as radiation pressure, realizing a three-wave mixing process. Several challenges need to be resolved to achieve an efficient piezo-optomechanical frequency conversion. High coupling rates between both the microwave and mechanical resonances, as well as between the mechanical and optical resonance are desired to overcome the intrinsic loss and enable larger conversion bandwidth. Efforts towards higher coupling rate include miniaturizing the mode volume and utilizing new materials with higher interaction strength. Optomechanical crystals (OMC) offer wavelength-scale confinement of both the optical and mechanical modes with a simultaneous photonic-phononic crystal structure, with  $g_0/2\pi \sim 1$  MHz in high-index materials such as Si and GaAs. This improvement in  $g_0$  would increase the QC rates by  $10^4$  over an EO converter with  $g_0/2\pi \sim 10$  kHz—if the rest of the converter system can be suitably implemented. One challenge is frequency matching microwave mechanics and electromagnetic fields, though approaches with tuning the microwave resonances have recently succeeded in this by using magnetic fields and specially patterned superconducting resonators [197]. Another challenge is that materials with strong piezoelectricity are favored for the microwave-mechanics coupling-these materials, such as LN and AlN, are typically lower index and have lower optomechanical coupling. Combining the two components remains challenge and requires careful design and engineering of the full system [198, 199]. Piezo-optomechanical frequency converters have been demonstrated with different piezoelectric materials, including GaAs [200], AlN [197, 201, 202], and LN [198]. Recent focus of development has been shifted towards heterogeneous integration of different materials such as LN on silicon and aluminum nitride on silicon [199, 202], as the two steps involved in the conversion process favors different material properties. Heterogeneous integration allows combination of large optomechanical coupling in silicon OMC and high piezoelectricity of LN or AlN, enabling considerably higher optomechanical coupling or higher microwave-to-mechanical conversion efficiency compared to single material converters.

## Controlling coupling and noise

An important factor in operating a converter is the fiber-to-chip coupling efficiency. Efficiently coupling light into and out of optical structures is a common challenge to all device types. Since quantum microwave systems operate at extremely low temperatures (<1 K), optical coupling schemes also need to be robust against thermal stresses induced by thermal cycling. Tapered fiber coupling that features a tapered fiber that is aligned to evanescently couple to an on-chip waveguide has achieved broadband operation with >90% efficiency at cryogenic temperatures. Edge coupling has also been demonstrated at cryogenic temperatures

but also requires in-situ alignment. In general, schemes that require in-situ alignment do not scale well enough to enable larger systems involving many optical devices. A common coupling technique at room temperature utilizes gratings patterned on the surface of a chip to scatter off chip light into a waveguide. A recent demonstration glued an angle polished fiber to a grating coupler and cooled the device down to <10 mK. The relatively high tolerance of the technique to misalignment due to thermal stresses allowed the technique to achieve 25% coupling efficiency [196]. Far more efficient approaches will be needed to achieve deterministic quantum operations, and generalizable solutions are currently lacking. While major efforts have been focused on improving the efficiency of QFC between microwave and optical frequencies, state-of-the-art converters suffer from combinations of added noise or high energy consumption. To minimize the added noise in the conversion process, efficient thermalization of the involved microwave/mechanical mode is required to keep its thermal occupation as low as possible. For a piezo-optomechanical converter, the absorption of pump photons generates heating and adds noise to the mechanical mode, which is the predominant noise source especially for one dimensional OMCs. Pulsed pump has been widely adopted in cryogenic optomechanical and piezo-optomechanical measurements with sufficient intervals for the mechanical mode to relax to the ground state. Better thermalization has been achieved with 3He buffer gas and 2D OMCs [203], the latter has shown an effective quantum cooperativity above unity. On the other hand, the microwave circuit is prone to quasiparticles generated by stray pump photons. Cares need to be taken to minimize such negative impact [199].

### **Concluding remarks**

We discussed the current state of the art EO converters, which use either the direct EO effect in a material with a high EO coefficient such as LN, or use an indirect piezo-optomechanical approach. Achieving highly efficient conversion remains a daunting task requiring optimization and ultra-high performance from every part of a whole heterogeneous system. With several paths forward on all remaining technical challenges, we expect transducers to become reality in the next decade and to enable a variety of new and exciting applications in quantum computing, communications, and sensing as well as forming part of the technological bedrock of an emerging quantum internet.

# **INTEGRATED DETECTORS**

### 19. Waveguide-integrated superconducting single-photon detectors

Stephan Steinhauer, Ali W Elshaari and Val Zwiller KTH Royal Institute of Technology, Stockholm, Sweden

#### Status

PICs have found wide-spread applications in classical optics and quantum information technology. To take full advantage of the powerful capabilities offered by integrated photonics (e.g. high circuit complexity, integration density, stability), effective schemes for on-chip coupling of high-performance photodetectors with PICs is required. In this regard, SNSPDs devices are a most promising technology: they are capable of light detection at the single-photon level from the visible to the mid-infrared, can be fabricated in a straight-forward manner (superconducting layer patterned in a single lithographic step) and allow for efficient coupling of the detectors to the evanescent field of the guided optical modes. After first demonstrations of waveguide-integrated SNSPDs around a decade ago, research and development efforts resulted in devices with excellent performance metrics such as on-chip detection efficiencies >90%, <20 ps timing jitter, low noise with dark count rates in the mHz range and ultrafast recovery times enabling maximum count rates exceeding 1 GHz [29]. Superconducting materials typically used for fiber-coupled as well as waveguide-integrated SNSPDs include nanocrystalline (e.g. NbN and NbTiN) and amorphous (WSi and MoSi) thin films that are most commonly deposited by magnetron sputtering. Thin film deposition and nanowire device fabrication are compatible with the major integrated photonics materials, which allowed the successful realization of waveguide-integrated SNSPDs on SOI, SiN, GaAs, AlN, LN and diamond platforms. Major advances have also been made in the deterministic integration of high-performance detectors, e.g. via pick-and-place approaches [204] or by photonic circuit fabrication on top of pre-selected nanowire devices [205]. Despite the outstanding detector properties and the versatile options for PIC realization, several challenges still need to be addressed to realize complex PICs comprising a large number of SNSPDs (>1000) that can be reproducibly fabricated and reliably operated with minimized trade-off or compromise in performance.

### Current and future challenges

Ongoing research and developments efforts aim at further improvements of the SNSPD performance metrics at the single-device level. SNSPD devices with enhanced properties are needed as several QIP schemes place stringent requirements on certain detector parameters, in particular detection efficiency and maximum count rate. Photon number resolution (PNR) is another important capability required for many quantum protocols and linear optical quantum computing [206], which is typically not offered by SNSPDs. Alternatively, transition-edge detectors would provide the possibility for PNR, but they often need to be operated at low temperatures in the 100 mK range and are linked with disadvantages of slow reset times in the microsecond range and limited timing resolution. Significant progress has been achieved in the development of SNSPDs with pseudo PNR, relying on spatial multiplexing in arrays of superconducting nanowires [207].

Figure 26 shows different device concepts for single-detector, multi-detector and cavity-enhanced SNSPDs integrated with photonic circuits, highlighting their advantages and shortcomings. To achieve GHz detection rates, it is required to minimize the reset time of the detectors to the sub-nanosecond range. Although decreasing the device length reduces the kinetic inductance and hence the detection pulse decay time constant, this approach places limitations on the on-chip detection efficiency due to reduced waveguide-detector interaction length. This challenge has been successfully addressed by integrating SNSPDs with 1D and 2D photonic bandgap cavities, boosting the on-chip detection efficiency for short nanowires. However, it remains a major challenge to simultaneously optimize several key detection parameters and combine them with (pseudo) PNR capabilities.

Moreover, scalability and yield, i.e. the ability to reproducibly fabricate waveguide-integrated detectors with tight control over their properties such as critical current, on-chip detection efficiency, and timing resolution, are at the forefront of current challenges. Additionally, realizing radically up-scaled systems with many independently addressed waveguide-integrated detectors can pose challenges on the readout scheme. Although a free-space coupled kilo-pixel SNSPD array suitable for imaging systems was recently realized using a row-column multiplexing architecture [208], demonstrating even larger systems in conjunction with complex networks of integrated quantum photonic devices will require sophisticated interfacing and multiplexing solutions.

	Single SNSPD	Multiple SNSPDs	Cavity-enhanced SNSPD
Complexity of design and fabrication	low	medium	high
Active detector area	large	large	small
Max count rate / efficiency	trade-off	trade-off	no trade-off
Detection wavelength range	broad	broad	narrow
Photon number resolution (PNR)	none	pseudo-PNR	none

Figure 26. Device concepts for SNSPDs coupled to PICs. U- or W-shaped SNSPD coupled to a single waveguide (yellow). Multiple SNSPDs on a single waveguide or an array of waveguides (blue). SNSPDs coupled to 1D and 2D cavities (green).

### Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

Reports in recent literature have highlighted the importance of engineering microwave signal propagation in SNSPD devices. Multi-photon coincidence detectors based on two-terminal devices consisting of 16 detector elements were accomplished by slow-wave transmission lines for time-domain multiplexing via signal delays [209]. The detectors were designed for integration with waveguide arrays and are thus suited for on-chip QIP applications. Another example is the demonstration of PNR capabilities of a single SNSPD enabled by tapered transmission lines for measuring Hong–Ou–Mandel interference [210]. The reported taper design combines high impedance load for the SNSPD and 50  $\Omega$  matching with the readout electronics, while showing multiple advantages including single-layer fabrication process, simple readout scheme and suitability for high packing density. However, significant engineering efforts will be needed to enable reliable operation of large-scale PICs employing waveguide-integrated SNSPDs as a multitude of factors needs to be considered, e.g. on-chip footprint, noise and electrical/optical crosstalk, cryostat heat load via cabling and optical fibers, efficient optical coupling and interfaces to electronic circuitry. Hence, it will be crucial to identify application-specific requirements and devise optimized tailored solutions. It can be expected that these developments will profit from advances in multiple fields, including microwave engineering, cryogenics and photonic packaging.

To address current challenges related to large-scale fabrication and yield, it will be important to establish a better understanding of the relationship between nanoscale material structure/chemical composition, nanofabrication processes and the resulting superconducting device properties. To date, it appears that amorphous superconductors are favourable for the high-yield fabrication of SNSPDs with consistent properties. However, a recent report on NbN detectors realized by plasma-enhanced atomic layer deposition demonstrated excellent yield and reproducibility [211], which highlights the promising prospects for SNSPD technology upscaling via improving thin film deposition. Further advances in materials science and fabrication technology combined with developments in characterization and metrology tools for defect analysis would also allow the local identification of SNSPD failure mechanisms, which would in turn provide crucial input for the rational development of industrial detector fabrication processes to achieve superior device reliability.

### **Concluding remarks**

Waveguide-integrated SNSPDs are central to quantum photonics as they enable scalable measurements of quantum states and their interference directly on-chip. There are ongoing efforts in the community to push the limits of single-detector metrics. The overarching goal is to realize complex quantum photonic circuits

co-integrated with SNSPDs that provide unprecedented performance and functionality for emerging QIP applications. As the complexity of photonic quantum circuits is continuously growing, innovative methods to interface and address individual photonic and superconducting elements will become increasingly crucial. Exciting future avenues include combining on-chip detection with dynamic reconfiguration of photonic circuits using EO materials, for instance LN and AlN. Realizing such devices will enable on-chip qubit rotations through active feed-forward architectures and fast interconversion of quantum and classical information, which would for instance eliminate the need for post-selection in Bell-state measurements and teleportation [4].

# Acknowledgments

S S acknowledges support from the Swedish Research Council, Starting Grant (Grant No. 2019-04821). A W E acknowledges support from the Swedish Research Council, Starting Grant (Grant No. 2016-03905).

# 20. Integrated waveguide-coupled single photon detection near room temperature

*Paul S Davids, Nicholas Martinez and Michael Gehl* Sandia National Labs, Albuquerque, NM, United States of America

### Status

Detection at extremely low-light levels is of fundamental importance for imaging and remote sensing applications and lies at the heart of quantum information systems and interconnects. SPDs are a key building block device of quantum photonics, which integrates quantum optical circuits onto a densely integrated chip-scale platform that leverages advanced Si-CMOS processing and heterogenous integration.

Commercially available SPDs are available in a number of technologies. The highest performance detectors are based on superconducting nanowires, providing high single photon detection efficiency and low dark counts, with the drawback of required cooling below 4 K, making them impractical for many applications. An alternative technology is single photon APDs (SPAD) utilizing charge multiplication to convert a single photogenerated carrier into a detectable current pulse. Sillicon based SPADs provide high efficiencies in the visible and near infrared wavelengths, while InGaAs versions provide operation out to telecom wavelengths. The ability to operate near room temperature increases the appeal of this technology. Implementing this technology in a scalable CMOS fabricated quantum integrated photonic platform is desirable to realize deployable, low power quantum devices. One path towards this integration is to utilize epitaxial growth of Ge on Si in a separate absorption and charge multiplication APD (SACM-PD). This device, demonstrated near room temperature, takes advantage of the low noise avalanche gain provided by intrinsic silicon, combined with narrow band absorption of germanium [212, 213]. Figure 27(a) shows a schematic and fabricated cross-section of the waveguide-coupled Ge absorption layer and lateral Si multiplication APD device. These SPDs work in the telecom bands and operate with moderate cooling near room-temperature and can be deployed in QKD chip-based transceivers that do not rely on high SPD efficiency [214]. Figure 27(b) shows the impact of temperature and Geiger mode gate duration on dark counts and illustrates the need for significant reduction in dark count rates. Thermal generation in semiconductor photodetection is intrinsic due to the bandgap of the photo-absorbing material and can be mitigated through extreme volume reduction of the absorber material to reduce the impact of bulk and surface defects and by cooling of the device. The single photon detection efficiency and the dark count rate are complex functions of the Geiger mode operation of the device and depend critically on the gate duration, repetition rate, over bias, temperature, and device size. For advanced quantum interconnect applications, dramatic improvement in the performance of uncooled integrated SPAD's is required due to the preciousness of each photon.

Moreover, non-cryogenically cooled SPDs with selected wavelength absorbers can be used in a host of applications; such as to extend the range of LIDAR systems, improve scintillation for radiation detection, reduce power consumption in focal-plane array imagers, and for quantum sensing for chip-based atomic sensors. These semiconductor-based devices are compatible with advanced CMOS manufacturing processes and with advances in heterogenous integration can be integrated into complex photonic circuits. Further research and development on integrated SPAD devices is needed to reach the full potential of these devices for quantum interconnects.

#### Current and future challenges

Single-photon detectors based on APDs (SPAD) work by amplifying a weak photogenerated current from a single absorption of a photon into a detectable signal while supressing dark detection events due to thermal or defect driven processes in the device. These two processes seem to be in opposition, indeed the high amplified device currents needed can create localized heat sources and emit out of band photons which can influence dark counts in nearby detectors. However, by reducing the active volume of the narrow bandgap absorbing material and reducing defect density at interfaces we can mitigate thermal generation effects that contribute to dark counts in these devices. Continued advances in semiconductor processing and integrated control circuits can be used to reduce these effects.

A major challenge in semiconductor SPDs is to reduce spurious dark counts while maintaining high quantum efficiency. Dark count rates can be manipulated with temperature but other methods, specifically fabrication, exist to reduce these noise sources. In selectively grown epitaxial structures on Si, defects exist at interfaces due to lattice mismatch resulting in strain which can act as traps and release carriers in strong fields. Graded strain relief layers can be used to reduce the interfacial defects. Furthermore, by reducing the selective growth interface area where defects from the lattice mismatch occur, the crystalline quality of the selectively grown material is greatly improved through aspect ratio trapping, and defect areal density is reduced. Figure 27(c) illustrates the modified selective epitaxial template for aspect ratio trapping growth of



cladding removed. (b) (Left) Measured dark counts of SACM APD for various operating temperatures and (right) dark count probability for fixed repetition rate with variable gate duration. (c) SEM template for aspect ratio trapped growth of Ge on Si for reduction of defects and improved dark count rate. Reprinted with permission from [212].

Ge. Another device technique to reduce dark counts is by operating the SPAD in gated Geiger mode. This high-speed Geiger mode gating acts as a system level trick to reduce the influence of dark counts by reducing the probability of triggering a dark event in a small gate time window which is similar to lock-in techniques. However, this method requires that the arrival of the single photon signal to be in a synchronous timing window for detection. Gated operation gives rise to capacitive feed-thru response and various circuit subtraction methods can be used to reduce the triggering threshold [215]. Furthermore, careful consideration and design of the location of high electric field regions within the device can be tailored to avoid high defect surfaces using doping, symmetrically placed electrodes, strain engineering and other semiconductor processes. Similarly, photonic design principles can be used to improve light trapping in the waveguide coupled structure and to remove parasitic absorption that does not lead to viable photogeneration.

### Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

Low-defect selective epitaxial growth of Ge or related materials on Si by UHV-CVD processes with in-situ doping in compact templates would be a significant scientific advance that would benefit semiconductor-based SPDs. Novel photonic light trapping structures integrated into SACM-APD devices that resonantly confine light to subwavelength volumes offer potentially efficient single photon detection with moderately cooled devices. Furthermore, integrated fast electronic gating and signal analysis or hybrid APD coherent detection schemes can be used to improve moderately cooled SPD performance. One key advantage for the separate absorber charge multiplication APD design is the flexibility to change wavelength absorption band by changing the absorber material but retaining the advantages of the Si multiplication. High confinement dielectric resonant absorber designs allow for compact device structures that result in lower bulk thermal generation (see figure 28). Recently, advances in selective epitaxial growth of strained  $Ge_{1-x}Sn_x$  alloys have led to a new high-refractive-index semiconductor alloy with a tuneable direct bandgap for varying Sn concentration (x = 5%-20%) [216]. This allows for strong absorption in the short-wave infrared (SWIR) spectral range with tuning between wavelengths in the range of 2–2.5  $\mu$ m while maintaining CMOS compatible processing. In the SWIR band, Si remains transparent but with improved free-carrier dispersion effect for active device modulation and a reduction in TPA allowing for interesting possibilities for



non-linear optical phenomena on-chip.  $Ge_{1-x}Sn_x$  single photon SACM APD's would allow for the building of a new complete quantum photonics platform with potentially new quantum and classical applications [217–219].

### **Concluding remarks**

SNSPDs with background limited performance have been demonstrated with the major drawback that they need to operate at cryogenic temperatures near 4 K which may not be practical for some applications [220]. Recent developments in semiconductor based SPDs based on compact Ge on Si separate charge absorption and multiplication region APD's present opportunities for large scale integration and improved performance through fabrication advances and designs in applications that are non-cryogenically cooled. Remember that the human-eye is a few-photon visible light sensor that operates above room-temperature!

# Acknowledgments

Sandia National Laboratories is a multimission laboratory managed and operated by National Technology & Engineering Solutions of Sandia, LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of Honeywell International Inc. for the U.S. Department of Energy's National Nuclear Security Administration under Contract DE-NA0003525.

This paper describes objective technical results and analysis. Any subjective views or opinions that might be expressed in the paper do not necessarily represent the views of the U.S. Department of Energy or the United States Government.

# APPLICATIONS

# 21. Photonics for trapped-ion quantum systems

# John Chiaverini<sup>1,2</sup> and Karan K Mehta<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Lincoln Laboratory, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Lexington, MA 02421, United States of America

<sup>2</sup> Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, MA 02139, United States of America

<sup>3</sup> Department of Physics, Institute for Quantum Electronics, ETH Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland

#### Status

Atomic ions held in electromagnetic traps and manipulated with lasers and/or radio-frequency and microwave fields form one of the most promising physical implementations of QIP [11]. Current systems employed in industry, academia, and national laboratories can precisely manipulate up to a few tens of ions in 1D arrays with sufficient control to perform basic quantum algorithms. However, optical systems currently used for trapped-ion control, mainly based on bulk optics, are susceptible to substantial noise and drift that can introduce errors even in few-qubit operations. Furthermore, they are challenging to make extensible as required to surpass noisy intermediate-scale quantum (NISQ)-era scales [221] and thereby enable practically relevant quantum computation.

An approach instead relying on photonics tightly integrated within ion trap chips offers a path to addressing these challenges. In this architecture, as illustrated in figure 29, the multiple visible/UV wavelengths required for ion control and readout are routed on-chip and emitted, via diffractive elements, toward ions held in surface electrode traps typically 50–100  $\mu$ m above the electrode surfaces. Single-photon detectors integrated in such a platform would allow for qubit state readout in largescale arrays via site-specific fluorescence collection. Additionally, waveguide splitting and appropriate active devices would allow frequency, phase, and amplitude control of optical fields as required for parallel modulation of a number of channels in excess of the number of optical inputs to the device.

Experiments to date have demonstrated the core addressing element of this architecture [222], at all wavelengths relevant to particular species [15], as well as in low-error multi-qubit operations [10]. Realization of the full set of components and functions required for optical control and readout of precise, large-scale trapped ion systems for quantum computation, simulation, and precision measurement motivates basic research and development along multiple lines in the years ahead.

### Current and future challenges

While low-loss ( $\sim 1 \text{ dB cm}^{-1}$ ) single-mode waveguide propagation has been achieved at wavelengths as low as 370 nm [225], pushing operation wavelengths further into the UV is an outstanding challenge. While some species, such as Ca<sup>+</sup>, Sr<sup>+</sup>, and Ba<sup>+</sup>, require only longer wavelengths for full functionality, several others require yet shorter wavelengths; for example, logic operations in the Yb<sup>+</sup> ion are often implemented using pulsed laser light near 355 nm, and Be<sup>+</sup> and Mg<sup>+</sup> have transitions near or below 300 nm. Realizing low-loss propagation, as well as high-confinement waveguides with sufficiently low spurious scatter, is a particular challenge at such wavelengths.

The requirement to precisely address individual ions within a larger ensemble motivates beam-forming optics capable of delivering micron-scale spots with  $<10^{-4}$  relative intensities a few microns from the beam center. While early work has shown promise on this front [226], efficient methods for optimizing beam profiles in flexible geometries have received relatively little attention. Optimization routines for tailored free-space emission profiles, e.g. flat-top envelopes for uniformly addressing multiple ions, or with carefully positioned nulls to minimize crosstalk at certain locations, are likely to be of value for both QIP and atomic clock applications.

Ion experiments with integrated photonic addressing to date [10, 15, 222, 227] utilize multiple inputs passively routed on-chip to arrays of ions, with modulation implemented off-chip. As systems scale to beyond tens of ions addressed in parallel, input-fiber number will become a practical limit and it will be valuable to supply light for multiple channels from a single input, and then to split and modulate multiple channels independently. Integrated active components for visible and UV wavelengths are at a relatively early stage of development, and the high extinction (of order 60 dB) and precise frequency/phase control required for high-fidelity operations, together with the requirement for compatibility with the multilayer metal and insulator structures employed for trap-chip fabrication, are significant challenges. This will motivate research on new electro- and acousto-optic materials and device architectures for visible and UV wavelengths, with major impacts for trapped ion quantum systems and other photonic applications at these wavelengths.

On-chip photodetection with single-photon efficiency and site-specific collection over an array can enable larger-scale experiments not limited by light collection via external bulk optics. As most QIP

applications do not require ion imaging, but only collecting fluorescence from each ion into a single detector, single-pixel detectors local to each ion site can be more quickly read out than an image of a typically sparse ion array obtained by a macroscopic lens. While impressive performance for single-ion readout has been achieved with integrated superconducting single-photon detectors [224], implementing high-quality detectors in a platform capable of appropriate shielding to minimize unwanted coupling to the ion qubits has not been addressed.

As these multiple elements are developed and brought together, careful characterization within trapped-ion quantum experiments will be critical to understand any additional noise introduced by such components. In this regard, experiments to date are encouraging in some respects, demonstrating that such approaches in fact reduce some typical sources of noise, e.g. vibrations and phase fluctuations [10, 15]. However, electric-field noise, both at megahertz frequencies where it heats ion motion and at much lower frequencies where it leads to trap potential drifts, can be more problematic in complex traps with integrated functionality [10, 15, 227]. Feedback on such issues from experiments will in general be critical as complexity grows.

### Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

Relatively few materials candidates, even for passive waveguides at blue/UV wavelengths, have been thoroughly explored in the community, and this is likely to constitute a fruitful area. Careful characterization of nonlinearities and power limits will play a critical role in informing which platforms can support the routing of optical powers required for large-scale arrays. On-chip optical amplifiers could obviate the need for high power in a single bus waveguide, but the feasibility of integration of such devices in the visible/UV is relatively unexplored.

Both EO and acousto-optic configurations are of interest for related active beam-control devices. This broadly motivates effort into assessing materials candidates for the wavelengths of interest, their integrability in larger systems, power handling, and susceptibility to photodamage, including at cryogenic temperatures. Materials of interest include but are not limited to LN, BBO, AlN, and GaN. Surface-, guided-, or bulk-acoustic wave configurations could enable established materials for short-wavelength operation, e.g. Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> to serve as the modulation interaction region when paired with appropriate transducers and coupled optical/acoustic mode design; this challenge points to a vast design space with much room for optimization.

While integrated, high-efficiency, single-photon detection has been demonstrated with superconducting detectors (SNSPDs), integration with standard CMOS is somewhat challenging due to the materials required, and many candidate superconductors have somewhat impractical transition temperatures, i.e. below 4 K [224]. APDs can achieve similar single-photon efficiencies in the blue and UV, particularly in silicon, with the opportunity for monolithic integration into CMOS-based platforms [223]. Challenges with this technology include minimizing defects that cause dark counts and addressing after-pulsing through active biasing and readout circuitry. Both detector technologies suffer from susceptibility to RF pickup from trap electrodes; scatter from light routed in nearby waveguides may also lead to excess background. Careful electrical and optical shielding is likely needed to mitigate these effects. Alternatively, the use of diffractive elements for collection of ion fluorescence into waveguides can potentially address some of these challenges in interoperability of photodetectors by allowing the latter to be somewhat removed from the ions' locations.

Integrated collection optics, when further combined with single- or few-mode waveguide beamsplitters, may also enable high-speed remote-entanglement generation via single-photon interference [228] in a parallelizable implementation. Multiplexed collection using arrays of ions would enable parallel heralded generation of entangled pairs at a distance within a single chip, or between separate chips; such pairs can subsequently be used for gate teleportation between distant ions, in conjunction with more traditional Coulomb-based multi-qubit gates.

No less important than advances in individual components as described above will be the development of a platform that can bring together the multiple required elements—passive/active photonics, detectors, integrated electronics, and appropriately shielded multilayer trap structures—in a robust and accessible fashion. As requirements and constraints become more clear, a CMOS-based photonics platform with some custom layers and steps is likely to be of interest in this regard [16, 229, 230].

#### **Concluding remarks**

Advances in photonics, particularly at visible and UV wavelengths, are likely to play a critical role in extending trapped-ion quantum computing systems beyond NISQ scales. Resulting systems, leveraging solid-state photonics and electronics intimately coordinated with naturally pristine atomic-ion qubits, promise a strong foundation for quantum applications more broadly, including portable, precise systems for metrology. The components motivated by this pursuit furthermore are likely applicable to quantum systems



separate, bonded substrate.

based on neutral atoms and solid-state defect centers, as well as more broadly in visible/UV photonic applications.

# Acknowledgments

This material is partially based upon work supported by the Department of Defense under Air Force Contract No. FA8702-15-D-0001. Any opinions, findings, conclusions, or recommendations expressed in this material are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of the Department of Defense. K K M acknowledges support from an ETH postdoctoral fellowship.

# 22. Photonic qudits on chip

## Jacquiline Romero

Australian Research Council Centre of Excellence for Engineered Quantum Systems (EQUS), Australia School of Mathematics and Physics, University of Queensland, Queensland 4072, Australia

### Status

Qudits [231]—the *d*-level version of the more ubiquitous two-level qubit—should figure greatly in future quantum technologies, whether they be for communication, sensing, or computation. The most compelling reason is that quantum systems are *naturally* high-dimensional. The restriction to qubits is not necessary, particularly when engineering coupled systems together is difficult and qudit entanglement is physically possible. Qudits have the potential to outperform their qubit counterparts by providing access to a larger state space for storing and processing quantum information. Integrating qudit systems—like those that exploit multiple degrees of freedom—offers more favourable scaling than multi-particle qubit approaches because detection rate significantly decreases as the number of entangled particles becomes larger. Qudit advantages have been shown for QC and quantum computation, e.g. qudits lead to enhanced robustness against eavesdropping and simplified gates. More importantly, qudit entanglement has been shown to overcome noise in entanglement distribution, which is important for any future QC network [232].

It is well known that a photon possesses several properties that naturally accommodate a qudit description, e.g. path, frequency, time-bins, photon number, and transverse spatial mode such as those associated with orbital angular momentum (OAM). Long room-temperature coherence times, ease of transmission via free space or optical fibre, and availability of efficient detectors also make photonic platforms excellent for implementing quantum technologies based on qudits.

Photonic qudits on chip is a nascent field but there have been some notable results in recent times. The most mature photonic qudit on chip platform uses path encoding: in [6] Wang *et al* demonstrated  $15 \times 15$  dimensional entanglement using a silicon photonic device that integrated photon-pair sources, multimode interferometers, phase-shifters, beamsplitters, waveguide crossers, and grating couplers; in [34] Llewellyn *et al* demonstrated quantum teleportation between two silicon chips. Using time and frequency encodings (figure 30), both Imany *et al* [233] and Kues *et al* [234] demonstrated two-qudit gates acting on photons generated via SFWM in a microring resonator. Exploiting the transverse spatial modes, an on-chip source of polarisation and OAM modes have been demonstrated on a silicon platform, and quantum interference has been demonstrated using photons generated from SPDC and SiN waveguides that act as mode multiplexer and mode beamsplitter [235] (figure 31).

#### Current and future challenges

A key hurdle that applies to the study of qudits in general—not just for qudits on chip—is that qudits attract less attention than qubits. A Hilbert space of dimension *d* is associated with  $d^2 - 1$  distinct unitaries which could be seen as unnecessary complication—both for theory and experiments. Qudit versions of the various quantum computation models are thus seldom explored. Nonetheless, photonic qudit information processing on chip is an active area of research, with path, time-bin, and frequency encodings the most developed in experiments.

Like in any other platform for quantum computation, scaling up is a huge challenge. Current estimates of the number of logical qubits necessary for doing quantum simulations—arguably the first practical application of a quantum computer—is in the order of at least hundreds. This number significantly increases when quantum error correction is considered with estimates going as high as  $\sim 10^6$  physical qubits. Scaling up is challenging whether we consider the circuit-based or measurement-based models of quantum computation. In both cases we need to integrate a significant number of photon sources and detectors, in addition to the requisite quantum gates and measurements necessary. Integration also minimises loss, which is especially evident when coupling in and out of chip (where one can have  $\sim 10$  s dB of insertion loss).

Universal quantum gate sets for qudits are more challenging to implement, regardless of the degree of freedom used. Specific to path encoding is the need for thermo-optic phase-shifting that often requires cooling. Thermal phase shifting is even more of a constraint when there are several transverse modes in a single path because more heat is needed to introduce a phase shift between the various modes. For frequency modes, conversion is often achieved using nonlinearities and achieving both high selectivity and high efficiency remains a challenge. However, recent results using ring resonators in LN have shown ~99% efficiency and also programmability [78]. This could be important for QC since frequency is compatible with current optical fibre networks.



**Figure 30.** Two *d*-dimensional qudits can be encoded a single photon using time bins and frequency. Arbitrary superpositions of different time and frequency bins can be encoded (unused time–frequency slots are shown as dashed circles). Deterministic quantum operations can be performed on the two-qudit state such that the orientation of the time–frequency superpositions is changed, hence creating a new two-qudit state. This approach gets rid of the multiphoton interaction usually required for this kind of operation. Reprinted with permission from [233].





### Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

There is significant work to be done on the theoretical side in order to motivate focused efforts that use qudits for quantum technologies. For the same dimensionality, we have to compare (a) ideal qudits to ideal qubits, and (b) noisy qudits to noisy qubits. The latter is especially important given the rapid advance of NISQ technology. We have to show that the advantages gained from using qudits persist even in realistic noise scenarios. For example [236], shows that using qutrits achieves logarithmic depth decomposition (cf linear depth for qubit-only counterpart) of the generalised Toffoli gate with no ancilla and that the qutrit circuit remains reliable even in noisy regimes.

There are two approaches to scaling up qudits on chip. One is to increase the dimension of the qudit. This approach has to be weighed carefully with the capability to do operations in a larger Hilbert space for although it is straightforward to increase the dimension—due to the theoretically infinite state space of photonic qudits—implementing *d*-level operations is not. Another approach is to use lower-dimensional qudits (e.g. qutrits) while increasing the density of source, gates, and detectors.

For example, there could be multiple microring resonators in a single chip to produce either heralded single photons or entangled photon pairs. SPDs should also be integrated to the chip to limit losses. The availability of photon-number-resolving detectors should also be exploited, either to use photon-number as a qudit or to account for multiple photon pair events which limit quantum interference in parametric processes.

Implementing operations for qudits on chip depends on the degree of freedom used. For path encoding, phase-shifters based on electromechanical actuation will be more efficient—because they do not need

Qudit	Path [6]	Frequency [233]	Transverse mode [234]	Time-frequency [236]
Source	SFWM on-chip	SFWM on-chip	SFWM on-chip	SPDC off-chip
Operation	Unitaries (Reck-Zeilinger) on-chip	Phase gates via programmable filters and electro-optic modulation off-chip	Unitaries (Reck-Zeilinger) on-chip	Controlled phase gate via fibre Bragg mirrors and electro-optic modulation off-chip
Detection	Off-chip	Off-chip	Off-chip	Off-chip
Quantum demonstration	Bell-CGLMP inequality violation; randomness expansion	Bell-CGLMP inequality violation;	Hong–Ou–Mandel interference	One-way qudit cluster state processing

<b>Tuble 5.</b> Examples of quants on emplacinonstrations,	Table 3.	Exam	oles of o	judits-on	-chip	demonstrations.
--	----------	------	-----------	-----------	-------	-----------------

cooling—and precise—because there will be no thermal crosstalk with other paths. For other degrees of freedom like transverse spatial mode, designing from first principles often lead to more complex devices (e.g. increased number of interferometers). For such cases, inverse design based on desired output properties can prove to be advantageous as dimension increases. Hyper-entanglement, wherein multiple degrees of freedom are entangled, is readily achievable in photons. Hyperentanglement should be developed not just for dense coding but also for generating cluster states for quantum computation [237]. Implementing two-qudit gates is also likely to require nonlinearities, which can also be useful in interfacing with memories that are naturally multilevel. LN will possibly be a valuable material for future photonic chips at is has a strong  $\chi^{(2)}$  nonlinearity and can be used to provide precise timing control via EO modulation [238].

### **Concluding remarks**

Qudits hold great potential for improving current quantum technologies and opening up research avenues not possible with qubits. Photons are endowed with naturally high-dimensional properties that can be used as qudits—there have been many impressive qudit experiments using bulk optics.

Qudit on chip provides a better way of scaling up, especially when compared to multiple photons where state purity and detection rate decrease dramatically with increasing number of photons. Qudits on chip are expected to provide access to increased information capacity and information processing capability not achievable with bulk optics.

Qudit on chip platforms are most mature for path, time, and frequency degrees of freedom, table 3 summarises current progress. However, there is still much room for improvement especially in precise control of these systems and in integrating source, gates, and detectors into one device. Qudit gates are the least developed of these, although recent advances in programmability for frequency [78] and path [239] holds promise for the quantum regime.

# Acknowledgments

The author thanks: Westpac Bicentennial Foundation; L'Oreal-UNESCO For Women in Science Foundation; Australian Research Council Centre of Excellence for Engineered Quantum Systems (EQUS, CE170100009); Stephen Barnett and Barry Sanders for useful discussions; Andrew G White and William J Munro for reading an early draft of this roadmap.

# 23. Frequency bin quantum photonics

### Navin B Lingaraju and Andrew M Weiner

School of Electrical and Computer Engineering and Purdue Quantum Science and Engineering Institute, Purdue University, West Lafayette, IN 47907, United States of America

### Status

Quantum frequency combs are the single- or few-photon analog of classical frequency combs. As one might presume, these states populate a superposition of modes that are equidistant from one another in frequency. What makes them particularly attractive is that they can support many temporal and frequency modes (figure 32); high dimensionality and hyperentanglement can potentially offer a large quantum resource over just a few photons. Quantum frequency combs were first observed in OPOs pumped below threshold. More recent interest in the field was spurred by the generation of two-photon quantum frequency combs in CMOS-compatible optical microresonators [234, 240]. Owing to their compact geometry, these sources support free spectral ranges in the 10 s of GHz—a range well suited to commercial telecom equipment. Recent accomplishments [68] include characterization of high-dimensional frequency-bin entanglement, single-photon two qudit gates, generation of four-party 32-dimensional Greenberger–Horne–Zeilinger states, and nonlocal delay metrology featuring picosecond-scale resolution with potential relevance to the synchronization of quantum networks [241].

Progress in the field also extends to the emergence of a paradigm for QIP with comb-like states. Like any platform, one needs to access individual modes to apply prescribed phase shifts, as well as mix a combination of modes in any desired ratio. The former is readily accomplished with programmable filter banks or Fourier transform pulse shapers. The latter, on the other hand, poses a real challenge as there is no off-the-shelf component to mix frequency modes in an arbitrary manner. To overcome this limitation, a team at Oak Ridge National Laboratory devised a protocol capable of arbitrary spectral transformations using EOMs and Fourier transform pulse shapers [242]. This concatenation, called a quantum frequency processor or QFP for short, was used in a series of demonstrations over the last couple of years, culminating in completion of the gate set for frequency [68].

This progress in realizing arbitrary spectral transformations is perhaps most relevant to the development of quantum interconnects, which would benefit from the ability to implement high-dimensional gates, work with spectrally multiplexed quantum channels, and carry out in-band QFC.

#### Current and future challenges

Outside of photon pair sources, experiments to date have relied on off-the-shelf telecommunications equipment to manipulate and retrieve quantum information. However, such experiments have some important limits. One drawback to working with discrete components is that they have high insertion losses (4 dB for EOMs and 5 dB for pulse shapers). Reducing these losses is critical for scalable QIP and deployment in quantum networks.

Another limit is that adjacent modes must be separated by at least 20 GHz—set by the resolution of commercial pulse shapers—in order to avoid crosstalk. Consequently, if one wants to efficiently mix even just adjacent modes, EOMs need to be driven with at least a 20 GHz radiofrequency (RF) drive tone. However, to connect more distant modes, or implement high-dimensional quantum gates using a QFP, one needs access to not just a 20 GHz tone but also to higher RF harmonics. For example, to permit the full range of 2D quantum operations with both high fidelity (>0.9999) and high success probability (>0.95) using just two modulators and a pulse shaper, the RF drive needs to include at least two harmonics. Similar behavior holds for higher dimensions as well. This points to a unique advantage of the QFP protocol—gate complexity can be scaled without any increase to the number of physical elements! This interplay between the modulator bandwidth (BW<sub>RF</sub>) and the fundamental mode separation (FSR) suggests a rough gauge of operation complexity. To first order, the ratio  $BW_{RF}/FSR$  corresponds to the highest dimensional gate set one can synthesize using a three-element QFP. Thus, even with a generous RF bandwidth of 60 GHz, one is limited to just 3D gates owing to the 20 GHz pulse shaper resolution.

For these reasons, realizing the full potential of QIP in the frequency domain will require the migration of functionality to an integrated optical platform. In addition to a reduction in optical loss, integrated photonics will enable more complex operations, either by increasing the number of RF harmonics accessible to the system or by permitting realization of QFPs that comprise concatenations of additional pulse shaper and modulator elements.



#### Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

Quantum comb sources have benefited from advances in the development of microresonator-based (classical) comb sources. While further refinements, like reducing the comb FSR, are desirable, there is a greater need for tools to manipulate frequency-encoded quantum information on chip. This includes pulse shapers for channel-by-channel phase control and EOMs for frequency mixing (figure 33).

Pulse shapers can be realized using banks of tunable ring resonators [243] and are not tied to any one material system. Low waveguide propagation loss ( $<1 \text{ dB cm}^{-1}$ ) has been reported in a variety of platforms at both academic facilities [74] and at commercial foundries [244]. These developments, coupled with astute design choices, have made it possible to realize sub-GHz filters with minimal drop loss [244]; such elements will enable more closely spaced frequency modes.

On-chip phase modulators compatible with low loss and large-scale photonic integration have traditionally been problematic, but recent research provides new possibilities. Especially notable are developments with TFLN, which has a native EO efficient. By relying on the Pockels effect rather than on free carrier dispersion or some other intrinsically lossy mechanism, devices capable of high-speed operation (>100 GHz) and low propagation loss ( $0.2 \text{ dB cm}^{-1}$ ) can be realized [74]. While the headline numbers are impressive, it is important to recognize that average loss alone does not tell the full story. A better prism through which to view modulator performance is the voltage-loss product expressed in VdB. Quite simply this is the loss incurred when the modulator is scaled to support a half-wave voltage of 1 V. TFLN leads the pack ( $\alpha V_{\pi}L = 0.5 \text{ VdB}$ ), but indium phosphide (0.9 VdB) [245], as well as more exotic approaches like silicon-organic hybrids (1.0 VdB) [246], are not far behind and have advantages in terms of platform maturity and economies of scale.

At the device level, progress in coupled-cavity modulators [246] or so-called 'photonic molecules' offers a complement to the QFP protocol. These devices comprise two evanescently coupled optical microresonators and, owing to mode hybridization, can scatter an input light field between two, *and only two*, closely separated spectral modes—an operation potentially equivalent to a frequency qubit rotation.



**Figure 33.** (Top) Concept illustration for a three-element quantum frequency processor. The physical configuration comprises phase modulators and a central pulse shaper. (Bottom) Measured correlations of a two-qubit frequency-bin entangled state, where each qubit is operated on by either the identity (I) or Hadamard (H) gates independently. Reprinted with permission from [68], © Springer Nature 2019.

### **Concluding remarks**

It is notable that frequency bin quantum photonics has synergies with fields that are the subject of significant research and development interest—Kerr microcombs, RF photonics, and high-performance computing. Quantum frequency combs, like their classical counterparts, can be generated in nonlinear microresonators with low anomalous group velocity dispersion. Scalable production of these sources would make this platform readily accessible to the wider research community. Similarly, progress in high-performance computing and wideband communications hinges on the development of high-speed, low-loss optical switches, which differ from low-loss phase modulators by only a scaling of the device length. While frequency encoding has some catch up to do, the natural advantages of this degree of freedom—stability over standard optical fiber, compatibility with telecom infrastructure, and support for multilevel quantum information—coupled with recent developments in integrated photonics, point to a bright future in the development of practical quantum networks.

# Acknowledgments

The authors acknowledge funding from the National Science Foundation (2034019-ECCS, 1839191-ECCS). N B Lingaraju acknowledges support from a QISE-NET Triplet Award (NSF 1747426-DMR).

# 24. Continuous variables computing with lithium niobate photonics

### Daniel Peace, Robert Cernansky and Mirko Lobino

Centre for Quantum Computation and Communication Technology and Centre for Quantum Dynamics, Griffith University, Brisbane, QLD 4111, Australia

### Status

CV quantum technologies encode information in specific states of the electromagnetic field quadrature operator  $\hat{q} = (\hat{a}^{\dagger}e^{i\theta} + \hat{a}e^{-i\theta})/\sqrt{2}$  whose spectrum has continuous values. This approach offers several advantages compared to polarization and photon number encoding, both with a discrete set of eigenvalues, but is more susceptible to losses. Specifically, the generation of large entangled states and high efficiency detection are open problems and technological challenges for discrete variable (DV) systems. In contrast, quadrature entanglement and squeezing can be generated deterministically, and homodyne detectors (HD) can measure quadrature with efficiency greater than 99%.

Two-dimensional cluster states, which are necessary universal resource for CV computation, have been demonstrated in experiments over several thousands of nodes [247, 248], highlighting the scaling potential of the CV approach especially for MBQC (see figure 34). Furthermore, proposals based on the Gottesman–Kitaev–Preskill (GKP) state encoding [249] recently established a fault tolerance threshold for CV-MBQC. But while a basic computation of ~100 steps has been demonstrated with 1D cluster [250], the implementation of non-Gaussian resources, which is necessary for universal quantum computation, is still an open problem.

LN is one of the most widely used materials in photonics. This is because of its wide transparency window (400 nm–5  $\mu$ m), high second order nonlinearity ( $d_{33} = 25$  pm V<sup>-1</sup> at 1550 nm), and large EO coefficient, which enables fast amplitude and phase modulation. These properties are essential for the realization of a MBQC platform and have been recently demonstrated in a single integrated device where CV squeezing and entanglement was generated, manipulated, and measured [251].

While the experiments in [251] used in-diffused LN waveguide, which are 6–10  $\mu$ m wide and have a low index contrast, LN-on-insulator (LNOI) waveguides offer scaling properties similar to silicon photonics, but with the cited benefits of LN [252]. Propagation losses as low as 2.7 dB m<sup>-1</sup> [252], ultra-fast amplitude modulation, and single pass SHG efficiency more than an order of magnitude higher than their diffused counterparts [252]. So far, uses of LNOI waveguide for quantum photonics have been limited to generation of single photons [252].

### Current and future challenges

The realization of a universal CV-MBQC machine requires technological innovation for the LNOI platform and theoretical advances for the efficient generation of non-Gaussian resources. The error correction threshold for CV 2D cluster based on GKP encoding requires  $\sim$ 15–17 dB of squeezing, independent on the level of anti-squeezing [253]. This value caps the maximum amount of total loss tolerable in a given circuit to a few percent and includes both propagation and coupling losses in addition to detection efficiency. To date the largest level of squeezing reported is 15 dB, obtained from a semi-monolithic OPO operating in the continuous-wave regime [254].

On-chip generation of squeezed vacuum is currently limited to 6 dB from a ridge waveguides in ZnO-doped LN with a 5  $\times$  6  $\mu$ m cross section in a single-pass configuration [255]. Broadband single-pass sources are more suited for time-multiplexed 2D cluster states since they enable shorter temporal modes thereby increasing the size of the cluster state for a given time window resulting in a larger computational power. The strong nonlinearity and low losses of LNOI waveguides can provide a crucial advantage over other material platforms [252].

A time multiplexed MBQC is characterized by two main timescales: a short time scale which separates two neighbouring nodes of the cluster, and a long one which set the qubit width of the computation [247, 248]. While a fully integrated approach offers clear advantages (see figure 35), it is possible that CV-MBQC machines will use off-chip delays to increase their computational power and that high efficiency in/out coupling photonic structure will be necessary in order to perform within the fault tolerant threshold.

Large-scale cluster states and Gaussian operations are not enough for universal quantum computation. Non-Gaussian states, operations or measurements must be included. Utilising GKP encoding is optimal for universality and error correction, but experimentally they are yet to be realised with photonics. For a large-scale system, a high rate of GKP states is required, which remains one of the main fundamental challenges for the realization of a MBQC universal machine.


Figure 54. (a) Schematic for the generation of a 1D cluster state [250], where p and q squeezed vacua are interfered creating a series of EPR states every time constant  $\Delta t$ . One spatial mode of the EPR state is delayed by one time constant forming a dual rail cluster state which is represented by (a) and (b) linear chain of temporal modes. Extending the 1D scheme with a second set of squeezers and delay of length  $N\Delta t$  forms (a) and (c) 2D cluster state with a square lattice shape, which is the primary resource for CV-MBQC. Circuit for 2D cluster state shown figure 35. Blue circles indicate temporal modes, yellow circles are GKP states inserted into the cluster for error correction or non-Gaussian operations. Red arrow shows the flow of information encoded in the input states down the chain (cluster) for 1D (2D) cluster states. BS—beam splitter, HD—homodyne detector, LO—local oscillator.

### Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

Recently, spurred by advances in the commercial availability of up to 6" wafers, the thin film LNOI platform has gained significant interest, with demonstrated low-loss ridge waveguides and small bending radii (<100  $\mu$ m), ultrafast light manipulation, and large nonlinearity, highlighting its potential for scalable quantum technologies in communication, metrology and computation.

With propagation losses as low as 2.7 dB m<sup>-1</sup> at 1550 nm and measured nonlinear conversion efficiency of 4600% W<sup>-1</sup>cm<sup>-2</sup>, a periodically poled LNOI waveguide (ppLNOI) can theoretically reach the 15 dB squeezing threshold for fault-tolerance if pumped with  $\sim$ 130 mW of power in 15 mm long devices. So far ppLNOI waveguides have underperformed in terms of propagation losses when compared to the 2.7 dB m<sup>-1</sup> mark, and improvements in the fabrication process are necessary.

The low loss threshold of CV quantum computation requires the integration with high efficiency detectors. Integrated superconducting SPD on LNOI have been recently demonstrated [81] and while the 46% efficiency is not the state of the art, this is an important result. High efficiency photodiodes for HD already exist off chip, an integrated version is yet to be demonstrated. Designs for coupling structures such as grating couplers, tapers, and mode converters have been proposed showing theoretical efficiencies near 80%, however experimental realisations typically half that are still far from the few percent tolerable losses. As such work is still required to further reduce these losses, possibly with the use of inverse design tools and improved fabrication processes.

The efficient generation of a GKP state is the main theoretical challenge for the implementation of a full scale, error corrected universal CV quantum computer. This state is a coherent superposition of a comb quadrature eigenstates that could be generated from optical Schrödinger cat state strongly coupled to a qubit system. No experimental generation of GKP states using photonics has been reported so far. Theoretical proposals based on PNR detectors, squeezed states and linear optical circuits [253] offering an approximate, non-deterministic, heralded path for experimentalists to follow.

#### **Concluding remarks**

The development of the LNOI photonic platform with low propagation losses, large nonlinearity, and ultrafast EO reconfigurability embed several key properties necessary for MBQC. This technology, together with the recent generation of large CV cluster states and theoretical progress for fault tolerant computation hold great potential for the realization of a photonic universal quantum computer. While a LN device has



demonstrated the generation, manipulation and detection of CV quantum states, future technological development will focus on the integration of efficient homodyne and SPDs, and low loss delay lines.

Theoretical progress is still needed for the efficient generation of non-Gaussian resources necessary for universal quantum computation. While here we focused on GKP state encoding because it is the one used for the derivation of the fault-tolerance threshold, other proposals to solve the encoding and error correction problem may arise in the future.

# Acknowledgments

This work was supported financially by the Australian Research Council Centres of Excellence Scheme Number CE170100012. M L was supported by the Australian Research Council Future Fellowship (FT180100055).

# 25. Quantum cryptography

*Eleni Diamanti and Luis Trigo Vidarte* CNRS, Sorbonne University, Paris, France

### Status

Quantum cryptography encompasses primitives that use the properties of quantum mechanics to offer new cryptographic services or provide security advantages with respect to their classical counterparts. It is part of the broader field of QC, which includes all technologies and applications involving the transfer of quantum states between distant locations. QC implementations typically use photons as carriers of information and optical fiber or free space (including satellite) links as communication channels. This makes integrated photonics a key player in the development of these systems, where it can facilitate scalability, reproducibility, interconnectivity and reliability, as well as a reduction in price and physical footprint [256], speeding up the adoption of these technologies at the user level in emerging global-scale QC infrastructures.

QKD [257] is perhaps the most well-known application of quantum cryptography and commercial products are already available. It allows the exchange of a private secret key between two trusted parties over an untrusted quantum channel provided that the parties have access to an authenticated classical channel and true random number sources. The main advantage of QKD with respect to classical alternatives like post-quantum cryptography is that the security does not rely on the computational resources of the attacker, but on the faithfulness of the implementation with respect to the model used in the security proof of the protocol. QKD offers information-theoretic, long-term security, making it an application of great interest in many sectors (medicine, finance, government, defence...) where these properties are essential.

Quantum random number generation (QRNG) is very commonly associated with cryptography, since it uses entropy sources based on the laws of quantum mechanics to generate true random values, which is required for cryptography, including QKD, but is also useful for other purposes. Commercial QRNG products are already available, some of them based on PICs. Other interesting quantum cryptographic primitives include secret sharing, digital signatures, commitment schemes, secure multiparty computation (oblivious transfer, coin flipping) and position-based cryptography. These protocols can involve different assumptions in terms of trust between the users, levels of security and particular requirements at the system level, and offer a wide range of advanced functionalities useful for applications in QC networks. Here, we focus mostly on the challenges on the way to the use of integrated photonics in QKD since these cover the main requirements for the other quantum cryptographic protocols as well.

#### Current and future challenges

QC primitives and QKD in particular become interesting when the quantum states can be distributed at relatively high rates and over long distances. On the quest for high-performance QKD systems, a great number of protocols have been successfully implemented [257], mostly in laboratory or field experiments, and more rarely as commercial products, but many improvements need to be made before considering them a mature market (see figure 36 for a general forecast). A major family of protocols are DV ones, where typically coherent states generated by lasers are attenuated and then manipulated in some degree of freedom (polarization, phase, time) before being detected by single-photon detectors. In CV QKD systems, the coherent states are modulated in phase-space and detected by coherent detectors, where the quantum states are mixed with a local oscillator (generated by a laser at the receiver in most modern implementations). While in such systems the receiver needs to be trusted, measurement device independent (MDI) and twin field QKD allow for a third untrusted party to perform the measurements. Fully device independent QKD uses Bell nonlocality to remove trust assumptions from all devices but imposes stringent constraints that cannot be satisfied by currently available technology.

System demonstrations involving photonic integrated components have been performed for DV [258], CV [259] and MDI QKD [260, 261], based mostly on the Si platform but InP has also been used in some cases. These are essentially proof-of-principle experiments, and a major challenge for these systems is to reach the performance of QKD implementations based on bulk components. To increase the level of integration, it will be necessary to address important challenges that remain on the single-photon detection side and on the operation with multiple polarizations and time delays. Furthermore, in general, a particular photonic integration platform may not be optimal for all of the required components in the system. Advancing towards heterogeneous integration [262] is therefore a crucial challenge, and will also be of great importance for ultimately integrating also the electronic functionalities of the system needed for signal control and data processing. Functionalities linked to network architectures (synchronization, multiplexing, routing) should also be considered.



Since classical signal amplification techniques are detrimental for quantum signals, the range achieved by QKD and more generally by QC systems is ultimately limited by the inherent exponential loss suffered by light in optical fibers. For QKD, this limits the distance over which secret key generation can be performed to a few hundred kilometers, with a strong trade-off with respect to the achievable rate. Ideally, quantum repeaters, which involve quantum memories, can be used for extending the distance. Research efforts are underway toward on-chip quantum memories [263] but several challenges will need to be addressed for such components to be sufficiently mature for use within advanced quantum cryptographic systems. Such systems also rely, for instance, on entangled-photon generation and frequency conversion, where photonic integration has considerably advanced. While developments in quantum repeaters are in process, trusted nodes can be used to extend the range, but for intercontinental distances a more interesting approach is to use satellite communications, where free-space attenuation is quadratic with the distance. Although free-space QKD using Si integrated components has shown promising results [264], to prepare the ground for satellite-based demonstrations it will be necessary to advance towards space qualification of such systems, including their photonic integrated components.

#### Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

Telecom C-band and O-band are the most common wavelengths of choice in optical fiber communications. Free-space communications can use a broader range, but the current trend is to use telecom wavelengths for compatibility. This creates a lot of synergies with classical communications, in particular for CV-QKD which shares many elements with coherent transceivers, for which implementation agreements from the Optical Internetworking Forum (e.g. TROSA) offer an industry standard. Current devices allow bandwidths of several GHz in the size of a coin suitable for high-rate classical communications, but desirable improvements for quantum systems include higher detection efficiency and narrower laser linewidths.

Efficient detection of single photons at telecom wavelengths is more problematic than coherent detection [265] and it typically requires cooling, which reduces the advantage of integration. An interesting solution in this case is to use integrated transmitters and bulk receivers, which is practical for MDI-QKD protocols as was already shown [260, 261]. Preparation of the quantum states in phase-space is straightforward (using phase, amplitude and IQ modulators) [259], but polarization and time operations can also be performed using custom systems [258, 259].

The interest in significant advances in heterogeneous (or hybrid) integration spans all quantum technologies. Of particular interest for quantum cryptography is wafer-scale SOI, typically interesting for telecommunication wavelengths, Si photonics matched with polymer wave guiding offering advantages in terms of manufacturability, III–V (InP and GaAs) platforms for integrating active sources, and substrates like SiC, which may be interesting for quantum repeaters. It is clear, however, that for these technologies to become relevant for advanced quantum cryptographic system implementations, important developments at the component level are necessary.

### **Concluding remarks**

Quantum cryptography is a diverse field with a broad range of potential applications. Some applications like QRNG and QKD are already targeting large markets, while other protocols could greatly benefit a niche public before becoming mainstream. The nature of the protocols gives a lot of predominance to the system level of the implementation, making it interesting to provide flexible systems that can operate multiple protocols or configurations with the same hardware. The potential benefits of integrated photonics are extensive as it enables more functionalities to become available as building blocks for different technologies

allowing for the design of reliable custom subsystems that can be part of quantum cryptographic systems. Improvements on heterogeneous integration of multiple platforms and packaging (including particular cases such as space qualification) will continue to expand the presence of integrated photonic devices in QC systems, driving their scalable deployment in global network infrastructures.

# Acknowledgments

The authors acknowledge funding from the European Union's Horizon 2020 Research and Innovation Programme under Grant Agreement No. 820466 (CiViQ).

# 26. Machine learning for photonics

#### Ryan M Camacho

Brigham Young University, Provo, UT, United States of America

#### Status

Machine learning algorithms can automatically learn patterns within a dataset, even in the absence of a physical model. In contrast to most early targets for machine learning, Maxwell equations are well-known with robust numerical techniques successfully developed and commercialized. Machine learning has become valuable in photonics primarily owing to its reduced computational cost. Traditional full-wave techniques, such as finite-difference time domain, finite element method, and others, solve Maxwell's equations directly, but become costly with larger systems. This problem is compounded for *design* problems, in which a geometry is sought to enable a desired photonic transfer function. In such cases, many forward simulations are required along with an optimization strategy to find the optimal solution [266]. Machine learning tools greatly increase the speed of forward design, and thereby also enable rapid inverse design when coupled with techniques such as adjoint methods.

Among the most popular class of machine learning algorithms are discriminative artificial neural networks, which specify nonlinear mappings between input and output variables using matrix multiplication, neuron-based processing, and nonlinear activation functions [267]. Compared with traditional electromagnetic solvers, discriminative neural networks can evaluate forward problems orders of magnitude faster [268]. Generative neural networks using latent random variable inputs have also become popular, producing one-to-many photonic mappings that enable rapid simulation of a distribution of device layouts. In addition, several other machine learning techniques have been explored and used successfully to model photonic devices and systems [269]. An ever-increasing range of photonic devices and systems have now be successfully modelled using machine learning, ranging from integrated photonic devices [268] to ultrafast photonic systems [270] and many more.

A more recent application of machine learning is for quantum photonic systems (figure 37), where techniques are being developed to solve Schrodinger's equation rather than Maxwell's equations [271]. An exponential number of terms describing a quantum state can be encoded in a neural network with a polynomial number of qubits, thereby enabling efficient quantum photonic tasks such as quantum state tomography [272].

#### Current and future challenges

There are several significant challenges and opportunities for machine learning in classical and quantum photonics. Among the most formidable is improved model training, which currently requires large datasets and significant up-front computational cost. While traditional direct solvers can be used to generate datasets, future efforts would be greatly benefitted by community collaboration to generate data sets and develop transfer learning techniques amenable to a wide class of photonic simulations. Community efforts to construct better benchmarking problems to assess new models is also needed.

Another related challenge is the residual uncertainty in the solutions provided by machine learning tools, and the relative difficulty of interpreting the results. Even the most carefully trained models are known to be at risk of diverging solutions within data points. Integrating the known structure of the underlying physical models (such as Schrodinger and Maxwell equations) with machine learning training algorithms, loss functions, and the resulting models may be the key to increasing the interpretability of the models, mitigating errors, and increasing training speed. Faster conventional solvers will also be helpful for model generation and verification. There continues to be rapid advances in forward solutions in the form of compact models and abstractions, many of which incorporate machine learning as subroutines [273].

Future efforts will also focus on incorporating more degrees of freedom and system complexity in machine learning models. Currently, most models include outputs such as reflection, transmission, scattering, absorption etc, but opportunities exist for incorporating additional properties to fully model the optical response, such phase, angular momentum, trajectories, nonlinearities, topology, and field distributions. Furthermore, opportunities exist of incorporating global optimizations that include elements of fabrication and experimental testing variables, and find hidden features and adaptations as the model is exposed to new data.

In the field of machine learning for quantum photonics, there is a need to improve optimization techniques and strategies. For example, only recently have viable techniques been introduced to find the quantum equivalent of the classical gradients used in most model optimizations [274], and further generalization as still sought. Another exciting research direction is the emerging ability to use machine learning models to suggest new and interesting quantum experiments [275].



Finally, enormous potential exists in developing improved photonic hardware to train and implement machine learning models. A major bottleneck using traditional hardware is the interconnect speed among neurons, which would be greatly enhanced using photonics, with a significant resulting societal impact. Quantum photonic implementations of neural networks may also greatly improve the ability to the enormous multi-dimensional datasets generated by quantum computers.

### **Concluding remarks**

In summary, machine learning has become a vital tool for both classical and quantum photonic systems. It is anticipated that the field will continue to grow and have increasing impact.

# Acknowledgment

This work is supported by the National Science Foundation under Grant No. 1941583.

### Data availability statement

No new data were created or analysed in this study.

# **ORCID** iDs

Galan Moody Dhttps://orcid.org/0000-0002-6265-2034 Daniel J Blumenthal () https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1735-7220 Jonathan C F Matthews in https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6184-1813 Niels Quack () https://orcid.org/0000-0001-5189-0929 Igor Aharonovich 
https://orcid.org/0000-0003-4304-3935 Martin A Wolff b https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1632-9797 Carsten Schuck b https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9220-4021 David Weld () https://orcid.org/0000-0002-4574-9491 Shayan Mookherjea in https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9864-2367 Sonia Buckley bhttps://orcid.org/0000-0003-2809-9287 Stephan Reitzenstein <sup>(b)</sup> https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1381-9838 Debsuvra Mukhopadhyay b https://orcid.org/0000-0002-3468-0273 Alexey Akimov b https://orcid.org/0000-0002-4167-5085 Girish S Agarwal https://orcid.org/0000-0002-8320-4708 Kartik Srinivasan () https://orcid.org/0000-0003-2589-3688 Amir H Safavi-Naeini 💿 https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6176-1274

### References

- National Academies of Sciences Engineering and Medicine 2020 Manipulating Quantum Systems: An Assessment of Atomic, Molecular, and Optical Physics in the United States (Washington, DC: The National Academies)
- [2] Blumenthal D J 2020 Photonic integration for UV to IR applications APL Photonics 5 020903
- [3] Bogdanov S, Shalaginov M Y, Boltasseva A and Shalaev V M 2017 Material platforms for integrated quantum photonics Opt. Mater. Express 7 111–32
- [4] Elshaari W, Pernice W, Srinivasan K, Benson O and Zwiller V 2020 Hybrid integrated quantum photonic circuits Nat. Photon. 14 285–98
- [5] Politi A, Cryan M J, Rarity J G, Yu S and O'Brien J L 2008 Silica-on-silicon waveguide quantum circuits Science 320 646
- [6] Wang J et al 2018 Multidimensional quantum entanglement with large-scale integrated optics Science 360 285–91
- [7] Wang J, Sciarrino F, Laing A and Thompson M G 2020 Integrated photonic quantum technologies Nat. Photon. 14 273-84
- [8] Spring J B et al 2013 Boson sampling on a photonic chip Science 339 798
- [9] Wan N H et al 2020 Large-scale integration of artificial atoms in hybrid photonic circuits Nature 583 226-31
- [10] Mehta K K, Zhang C, Malinowski M, Nguyen T-L, Stadler M and Home J P 2020 Integrated optical multi-ion quantum logic Nature 586 533–7
- [11] Bruzewicz C D, Chiaverini J, McConnell R and Sage J M 2019 Trapped-ion quantum computing: progress and challenges Appl. Phys. Rev. 6 021314
- [12] Hausken T et al 2020 OIDA quantum photonics roadmap OSA Industry Development Associates Report
- [13] Blumenthal J, Heideman R, Geuzebroek D, Leinse A and Roeloffzen C 2018 Silicon nitride in silicon photonics *Proc. IEEE* **106** 2209
- [14] Fathpour S 2015 Emerging heterogeneous integrated photonic platforms on silicon Nanophotonics 4 143
- [15] Niffenegger R J et al 2020 Integrated multi-wavelength control of an ion qubit Nature 586 538-42
- [16] Sorace-Agaskar C et al 2019 Versatile silicon nitride and alumina integrated photonic platforms for the ultraviolet to short-wave infrared IEEE J. Sel. Top. Quantum Electron. 25 8201515
- [17] Kharas D, Plant J J, Loh W, Swint R B, Bramhavar S, Heidelberger C, Yegnanarayanan S and Juodawlkis P W 2020 High-power (>300 mW) on-chip laser with passively aligned silicon-nitride waveguide DBR cavity IEEE Photon. J. 12 1504612
- [18] Swint R B, Spector S J, Chen C L, Plant J J, Lyszczarz T M and Juodawlkis P W 2012 Waveguide engineering for hybrid Si/III-V lasers and amplifiers Proc. Conf. on Lasers and Electro-Optics (CLEO) p CTu2N.7
- [19] Heidelberger C, Santis C T, Plant J J, Morissette E M, Kharas D, Swint R B, Yariv A and Juodawlkis P W 2021 InGaAsP/InP membrane gain sections for III-V/SiNx heterogeneous photonic integration Proc. Conf. on Lasers and Electro-Optics (CLEO)
- [20] Ghosh S, Yegnanarayanan S, Ricci M, Kharas D and Juodawlkis P 2020 Low-loss thin-film lithium niobate bonded on silicon nitride waveguides Proc. Conf. on Lasers and Electro-Optics (CLEO)
- [21] Klamkin J, Wang L, Song B, Shi B, Brunelli S S and Meissner T 2020 Lasers on silicon by heteroepitaxy *Proc. IEEE Photonics Conf.* (*IPC*)
- [22] Loh W, Yegnanarayanan S, O'Donnell F and Juodawlkis P W 2019 Ultra-narrow linewidth Brillouin laser with nanokelvin temperature self-referencing Optica 6 152–9
- [23] Loh W, Stuart J, Reens D, Bruzewicz C D, Braje D, Chiaverini J, Juodawlkis P W, Sage J M and McConnell R 2020 Operation of an optical atomic clock with a Brillouin laser subsystem *Nature* 588 244–9
- [24] Paesani S, Ding Y, Santagati R, Chakhmakhchyan L, Vigliar C, Rottwitt K, Oxenløwe L K, Wang J, Thompson M G and Laing A 2019 Generation and sampling of quantum states of light in a silicon chip Nat. Phys. 15 925–9
- [25] Vigliar C et al 2020 Error protected qubits in a silicon photonic chip (arXiv:2009.08339 [quant-ph])
- [26] Puckett M W et al 2021 422 million Q planar integrated all-waveguide resonator with 3.4 billion absorption limited Q and sub-MHz linewidth Nat. Commun. 12 934
- [27] Rosenfeld L M, Sulway D A, Sinclair G F, Anant V, Thompson M G, Rarity J G and Silverstone J W 2020 Mid-infrared quantum optics in silicon Opt. Express 28 37092
- [28] Han S S, Park J, Kwon K and Yu K 2013 High-efficiency broadband light coupling between optical fibers and photonic integrated circuits Nanophotonics 7 1845
- [29] Ferrari S, Schuck C and Pernice W 2018 Waveguide-integrated superconducting nanowire single-photon detectors Nanophotonics 7 1725–58
- [30] Chakraborty U, Carolan J, Clark G, Bunandar D, Gilbert G, Notaros J, Watts M R and Englund D R 2020 Cryogenic operation of silicon photonic modulators based on the DC Kerr effect Optica 7 1385–90
- [31] He M et al 2019 High-performance hybrid silicon and lithium niobate Mach–Zehnder modulators for 100 Gbit/s and beyond Nat. Photon. 13 359–64
- [32] Eltes F et al 2020 An integrated optical modulator operating at cryogenic temperatures Nat. Mater. 19 1164-8
- [33] Tasker J F, Frazer J, Ferranti G, Allen E J, Brunel L F, Tanzilli S, D'Auria V and Matthews J C F 2021 Silicon photonics interfaced with integrated electronics for 9 GHz measurement of squeezed light *Nat. Photon.* 15 11–15
- [34] Llewellyn D et al 2020 Chip-to-chip quantum teleportation and multi-photon entanglement in silicon Nat. Phys. 16 148-53
- [35] Bowers J E et al 2019 Realities and challenges of III-V/Si integration technologies 2019 Optical Fiber Communications Conf. and Exhibition (OFC) pp 1–3
- [36] Moody G, Chang L, Steiner T J and Bowers J E 2020 Chip-scale nonlinear photonics for quantum light generation AVS Quantum Sci. 2 041702
- [37] Liang D et al 2011 Uniformity study of wafer-scale InP-to-silicon hybrid integration Appl. Phys. A 103 213
- [38] Bakir B B, Seassal C, Letartre X, Regreny P, Gendry M, Viktorovitch P, Zussy M, Cioccio L D and Fedeli J M 2006 Room-temperature InAs/InP quantum dots laser operation based on heterogeneous '2.5 D' photonic crystal *Opt. Express* 14 9269–76
- [39] Tanabe K, Guimard D, Bordel D, Iwamoto S and Arakawa Y 2010 Electrically pumped 1.3 μm room-temperature InAs/GaAs quantum dot lasers on Si substrates by metal-mediated wafer bonding and layer transfer Opt. Express 18 10604–8

- [40] Davanco M, Liu J, Sapienza L, Zhang C-Z, De Miranda Cardoso J V, Verma V, Mirin R, Nam S W, Liu L and Srinivasan K 2017 Heterogeneous integration for on-chip quantum photonic circuits with single quantum dot devices Nat. Commun. 8 889
- [41] Schnauber P, Singh A, Schall J, Park S I, Song J D, Rodt S, Srinivasan K, Reitzenstein S and Davanco M 2019 Indistinguishable photons from deterministically integrated single quantum dots in heterogeneous GaAs/Si3N4 quantum photonic circuits Nano Lett. 19 7164–72
- [42] Kim H, Bose R, Shen T C, Solomon G S and Waks E 2013 A quantum logic gate between a solid-state quantum bit and a photon Nat. Photon. 7 373–7
- [43] Sünner T, Schneider C, Strauß M, Huggenberger A, Wiener D, Höfling S, Kamp M and Forchel A 2008 Scalable fabrication of optical resonators with embedded site-controlled quantum dots Opt. Lett. 33 1759–61
- [44] Pu M, Ottaviano L, Semenova E and Yvind K 2016 Efficient frequency comb generation in AlGaAs-on-insulator Optica 3 823
- [45] Chang L et al 2020 Ultra-efficient frequency comb generation in AlGaAs-on-insulator microresonators Nat. Commun. 11 1331
- [46] Chang L et al 2018 Heterogeneously integrated gaas waveguides on insulator for efficient frequency conversion Laser Photonics Rev. 12 1800149
- [47] Xie W, Chang L, Shu H, Norman J C, Peters J D, Wang X and Bowers J E 2020 Ultrahigh-Q AlGaAs-on-insulator microresonators for integrated nonlinear photonics Opt. Express 28 32894
- [48] Stanton E J, Chiles J, Nader N, Moody G, Volet N, Chang L, Bowers J E, Woo Nam S and Mirin R P 2020 Efficient second harmonic generation in nanophotonic GaAs-on-insulator waveguides Opt. Express 28 9521–32
- [49] Qin J, Shu H, Chang L, Xie W, Tao Y, Jin M, Wang X and Bowers J E 2020 On-chip high-efficiency wavelength multicasting of PAM3/PAM4 signals using low-loss AlGaAs-on-insulator nanowaveguides Opt. Lett. 45 4539
- [50] Steiner T J, Castro J E, Chang L, Dang Q, Xie W, Norman J, Bowers J E and Moody G 2021 Ultra-bright entangled-photon pair generation from an AlGaAs-on-insulator microring resonator PRX Quantum 2 010337
- [51] McDonald C, Moody G, Nam S W, Mirin R P, Shainline J M, McCaughan A, Buckley S and Silverman K L 2019 III-V photonic integrated circuit with waveguide-coupled light-emitting diodes and WSi superconducting single-photon detectors *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 115 081105
- [52] Mi S, Kiss M, Graziosi T and Quack N 2020 Integrated photonic devices in single crystal diamond J. Phys. Photon. 2 042001
- [53] O'Brien J L, Furusawa A and Vučković J 2009 Photonic quantum technologies Nat. Photon. 3 687–95
- [54] Dutt V G, Childress L, Jiang L, Togan E, Maze J, Jelezko F, Zibrov A S, Hemmer P R and Lukin M D 2007 Quantum register based on individual electronic and nuclear spin qubits in diamond *Science* 316 1312–6
- [55] Aharonovich I and Neu E 2014 Diamond nanophotonics Adv. Opt. Mater. 2 911-28
- [56] Doherty W, Manson N B, Delaney P, Jelezko F, Wrachtrup J and Hollenberg L C L 2013 The nitrogen-vacancy colour centre in diamond Phys. Rep. 528 1–45
- [57] Wehner S, Elkouss D and Hanson R 2018 Quantum internet: a vision for the road ahead Science 362 eaam9288
- [58] Atatüre M, Englund D, Vamivakas N, Lee S-Y and Wrachtrup J 2018 Material platforms for spin-based photonic quantum technologies Nat. Rev. Mater. 3 38–51
- [59] Awschalom D D, Hanson R, Wrachtrup J and Zhou B B 2018 Quantum technologies with optically interfaced solid-state spins Nat. Photon. 12 516–27
- [60] Sipahigil A et al 2016 An integrated diamond nanophotonics platform for quantum-optical networks Science 354 847
- [61] Santori P E, Barclay P E, Fu K-M C, Beausoleil R G, Spillane M and Fisch M 2010 Nanophotonics for quantum optics using nitrogen-vacancy centers in diamond Nanotechnology 21 274008
- [62] Kim J-H, Aghaeimeibodi S, Carolan J, Englund D and Waks E 2020 Hybrid integration methods for on-chip quantum photonics Optica 7 291
- [63] Belt M, Davenport M L, Bowers J E and Blumenthal D J 2017 Ultra-low-loss Ta<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub>-core/SiO<sub>2</sub>-clad planar waveguides on Si substrates Optica 4 532–6
- [64] Jung H, Yu S-P, Carlson D R, Drake T E, Briles T C and Papp S B 2021 Tantala Kerr-nonlinear integrated photonics Optica 8 811-7
- [65] Lamee K F, Carlson D R, Newman Z L, Yu S-P and Papp S B 2020 Nanophotonic tantala waveguides for supercontinuum generation pumped at 1560 nm Opt. Lett. 45 4192–5
- [66] Zhao Q, Behunin R O, Rakich P T, Chauhan N, Isichenko A, Wang J, Hoyt C, Fertig C, Lin M H and Blumenthal D J 2020 Low-loss low thermo-optic coefficient Ta<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub> on crystal quartz planar optical waveguides APL Photonics 5 116103-1–8
- [67] Subramanian Z, Oton C J, Shepherd D P and Wilkinson J S 2010 Erbium-doped waveguide laser in tantalum pentoxide IEEE Photonics Technol. Lett. 22 1571–3
- [68] Kues M, Reimer C, Lukens J M, Munro W J, Weiner A M, Moss D J and Morandotti R 2019 Quantum optical microcombs Nat. Photon. 13 170–9
- [69] Schrinner P J, Olthaus J, Reiter D E and Schuck C 2020 Integration of diamond-based quantum emitters with nanophotonic circuits Nano Lett. 20 8170–7
- [70] Wolff M A, Vogel S, Splitthoff L and Schuck C 2020 Superconducting nanowire single-photon detectors integrated with tantalum pentoxide waveguides Sci. Rep. 10 17170-1–9
- [71] Splitthoff L, Wolff M A, Grottke T and Schuck C 2020 Tantalum pentoxide nanophotonic circuits for integrated quantum technology Opt. Express 28 11921–32
- [72] Maleki L and Matsko A 2009 Ferroelectric Crystals for Photonic Applications (Berlin: Springer)
- [73] Zhang M, Wang C, Cheng R, Shams-Ansari A and Lončar M 2017 Monolithic ultrahigh-Q lithium niobate microring resonator Optica 4 1536–7
- [74] Wang C, Zhang M, Chen X, Bertrand M, Shams-Ansari A, Chandrasekhar S, Winzer P and Lončar M 2018 Integrated lithium niobate electro-optic modulators operating at CMOS-compatible voltages *Nature* 562 101–4
- [75] Wang C, Langrock C, Marandi A, Jankowski M, Zhang M, Desiatov B, Fejer M M and Lončar M 2018 Ultrahigh-efficiency wavelength conversion in nanophotonic periodically poled lithium niobate waveguides Optica 5 1438
- [76] Lu J, Li M, Zou C-L, Al Sayem A and Tang H X 2020 Toward 1% single-photon anharmonicity with periodically poled lithium niobate microring resonators *Optica* 7 1654–9
- [77] Zhang M, Wang C, Hu Y, Shams-Ansari A, Ren T, Fan S and Lončar M 2019 Electronically programmable photonic molecule Nat. Photon. 13 36–40
- [78] Hu Y, Yu M, Zhu D, Sinclair N, Shams-Ansari A, Shao L, Holzgrafe J, Puma E, Zhang M, Loncar M 2020 Reconfigurable electro-optic frequency shifter (arXiv:2005.09621v1 [physics.optics])
- [79] Holzgrafe J, Sinclair N, Zhu D, Shams-Ansari A, Colangelo M, Hu Y, Zhang M, Berggren K K and Lončar M 2020 Cavity electro-optics in thin-film lithium niobate for efficient microwave-to-optical transduction Optica 7 1714–20

- [80] He L, Zhang M, Shams-Ansari A, Zhu R, Wang C and Marko L 2019 Low-loss fiber-to-chip interface for lithium niobate photonic integrated circuits Opt. Lett. 44 2314
- [81] Al Sayem A A, Cheng R, Wang S and Tang H X 2020 Lithium-niobate-on-insulator waveguide-integrated superconducting nanowire single-photon detectors Appl. Phys. Lett. 116 151102
- [82] Arute F et al 2019 Quantum supremacy using a programmable superconducting processor Nature 574 505-10
- [83] Zhong H-S et al 2020 Quantum computational advantage using photons Science 370 1460-3
- [84] Tran A, Huang D and Bowers J E 2019 Tutorial on narrow linewidth tunable semiconductor lasers using Si/III-V heterogeneous integration APL Photonics 4 111101
- [85] Jones R, Doussiere P, Driscoll J B, Lin W, Yu H, Akulova Y, Komljenovic T and Bowers J E 2019 Heterogeneously integrated InP/silicon photonics: fabricating fully functional transceivers IEEE Nanotechnol. Mag. 13 17–26
- [86] Jiang F et al 2019 Efficient InGaN-based yellow-light-emitting diodes Photon. Res. 7 144
- [87] Park H, Zhang C, Tran M A and Komljenovic T 2020 Heterogeneous silicon nitride photonics Optica 7 336–7
- [88] Walmsley A 2015 Quantum optics: science and technology in a new light *Science* **348** 525–30
- [89] Shadbolt J, Verde M R, Peruzzo A, Politi A, Laing A, Lobino M, Matthews J C F, Thompson M G and O'Brien J L 2012 Generating, manipulating and measuring entanglement and mixture with a reconfigurable photonic circuit Nat. Photon. 6 45–49
- [90] Jin H, Liu F, Xu P, Xia J, Zhong M, Yuan Y, Zhou J, Gong Y, Wang W and Zhu S 2014 On-chip generation and manipulation of entangled photons based on reconfigurable lithium-niobate waveguide circuits *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 113 103601
- [91] Orieux A, Versteegh M A M, Jöns K D and Ducci S 2017 Semiconductor devices for entangled photon pair generation: a review Rep. Prog. Phys. 80 076001
- [92] Caspani L, Xiong C, Eggleton B J, Bajoni D, Liscidini M, Galli M, Morandotti R and Moss D J 2017 Integrated sources of photon quantum states based on nonlinear optics Light Sci. Appl. 6 11
- [93] Wang Y, Jöns K D and Sun Z 2021 Integrated photon-pair sources with nonlinear optics Appl. Phys. Rev. 8 011314
- [94] Trivedi R, Fischer K A, Vučković J and Müller K 2020 Generation of non-classical light using semiconductor quantum dots Adv. Quantum Technol. 3 1900007
- [95] Schaeff C, Polster R, Huber M, Ramelow S and Zeilinger A 2015 Experimental access to higher-dimensional entangled quantum systems using integrated optics Optica 2 523
- [96] Krastanov S, Heuck M, Shapiro J H, Narang P, Englund D R and Jacobs K 2021 Room-temperature photonic logical qubits via second-order nonlinearities Nat. Commun. 12 191
- [97] Lu X, Li Q, Westly D A, Moille G, Singh A, Anant V and Srinivasan K 2019 Chip-integrated visible-telecom entangled photon pair source for quantum communication Nat. Phys. 15 373–81
- [98] Zhao J, Ma C, Rüsing M and Mookherjea S 2020 High quality entangled photon pair generation in periodically poled thin-film lithium niobate waveguides *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 124 163603
- [99] Clemmen S, Huy K P, Bogaerts W, Baets R G, Emplit P and Massar S 2009 Continuous wave photon pair generation in silicon-on-insulator waveguides and ring resonators Opt. Express 17 16558–70
- [100] Kumar R, Ong J R, Savanier M and Mookherjea S 2014 Controlling the spectrum of photons generated on a silicon nanophotonic chip Nat. Commun. 5 5489
- [101] Ma C, Wang X, Anant V, Beyer A D, Shaw M D and Mookherjea S 2017 Silicon photonic entangled photon-pair and heralded single photon generation with CAR > 12,000 and  $g^{(2)}(0) < 0006$  Opt. Express 25 32995
- [102] Helt L, Brańczyk A M, Liscidini M and Steel M J 2017 Parasitic photon-pair suppression via photonic stop-band engineering Phys. Rev. Lett. 118 073603
- [103] Savanier M, Kumar R and Mookherjea S 2015 Optimizing photon-pair generation electronically using a p-i-n diode incorporated in a silicon microring resonator Appl. Phys. Lett. 107 131101
- [104] Savanier M and Mookherjea S 2016 Generating photon pairs from a silicon microring resonator using an electronic step recovery diode for pump pulse generation Appl. Phys. Lett. 108 251102
- [105] Vernon Z et al 2017 Truly unentangled photon pairs without spectral filtering Opt. Lett. 42 3638
- [106] Xue G-T et al 2020 Ultra-bright multiplexed energy-time entangled photon generation from lithium niobate on insulator chip (arXiv:2012.06092 [physics, physics: quant-ph])
- [107] Castelletto S A and Scholten R E 2008 Heralded single photon sources: a route towards quantum communication technology and photon standards Eur. Phys. J. Appl. Phys. 41 181–94
- [108] Ma Z, Chen J-Y, Li Z, Tang C, Sua Y M, Fan H and Huang Y-P 2020 Ultrabright quantum photon sources on chip Phys. Rev. Lett. 125 263602
- [109] Tomm N et al 2021 A bright and fast source of coherent single photons Nat. Nanotechnol. 16 399-403
- [110] Meyer-Scott E, Silberhorn C and Migdall A 2020 Single-photon sources: approaching the ideal through multiplexing *Rev. Sci. Instrum.* 91 041101
- [111] Joshi C, Farsi A, Clemmen S, Ramelow S and Gaeta A L 2018 Frequency multiplexing for quasi-deterministic heralded single-photon sources Nat. Commun. 9 847
- [112] Christ A and Silberhorn C 2012 Limits on the deterministic creation of pure single-photon states using parametric down-conversion Phys. Rev. A 85 023829
- [113] Davies G 1989 The optical properties of luminescence centres in silicon Phys. Rep. 176 83–188
- [114] Shainline J M and Xu J 2007 Silicon as an emissive optical medium Laser Photonics Rev. 1 334-48
- [115] Buckley S, Chiles J, McCaughan A N, Moody G, Silverman K L, Stevens M J, Mirin R P, Nam S W and Shainline J M 2017 All-silicon light-emitting diodes waveguide-integrated with superconducting single-photon detectors *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 111 141101
- [116] Hollenbach M, Berencén Y, Kentsch U, Helm M and Astakhov G V 2020 Engineering telecom single-photon emitters in silicon for scalable quantum photonics Opt. Express 28 26111
- [117] Redjem W et al 2020 Single artificial atoms in silicon emitting at telecom wavelengths Nature Electronics 3 738
- [118] Durand A et al 2021 Broad diversity of near-infrared single-photon emitters in silicon Phys. Rev. Lett. 126 083602
- [119] Morse K J et al 2017 A photonic platform for donor spin qubits in silicon Sci. Adv. 3 e1700930
- [120] Chartrand C, Bergeron L, Morse K J, Riemann H, Abrosimov N V, Becker P, Pohl H-J, Simmons S and Thewalt M L W 2018 Highly enriched Si 28 reveals remarkable optical linewidths and fine structure for well-known damage centers *Phys. Rev.* B 98 195201
- [121] Yin C, Rancic M, de Boo G G, Stavrias N, McCallum J C, Sellars M J and Rogge S 2013 Optical addressing of an individual erbium ion in silicon Nature 497 91–94

- [122] Tait A N, Buckley S M, Chiles J, McCaughan A N, Olson S, Rao S P, Nam S W, Mirin R P and Shainline J M 2020 Microring resonator-coupled photoluminescence from silicon W centers J. Phys. Photon. 2 45001
- [123] Radulaski M et al 2017 Scalable quantum photonics with single color centers in silicon carbide Nano Lett. 17 1782-6
- [124] Crook L et al 2020 Purcell enhancement of a single silicon carbide color center with coherent spin control Nano Lett. 20 3427–34
- [125] Lukin D M et al 2020 4H-silicon-carbide-on-insulator for integrated quantum and nonlinear photonics Nat. Photon. 14 330-4
- [126] Radulaski M, Fischer K and Vučković J 2017 Nonclassical light generation from III-V and group-IV solid-state cavity quantum systems Advances in Atomic, Molecular, and Optical Physics, AAMOP vol 66, ed E Arimondo, C C Lin and S F Yelin (New York: Academic) pp 111–79
- [127] Soykal Ö O, Dev P and Economou S E 2016 Phys. Rev. B 93 081207(R)
- [128] Zargaleh S A, Hameau S, Eble B, Margaillan F, Von Bardeleben H J, Cantin J L and Gao W 2018 Nitrogen vacancy center in cubic silicon carbide: a promising qubit in the 1.5 μm spectral range for photonic quantum networks Phys. Rev. B 98 165203
- [129] Wang J-F *et al* 2020 Coherent control of nitrogen-vacancy center spins in silicon carbide at room temperature *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 124 223601
- [130] Spindlberger L, Csóré A, Thiering G, Putz S, Karhu R, Ul Hassan J, Son N T, Fromherz T, Gali A and Trupke M 2019 Optical properties of vanadium in 4H silicon carbide for quantum technology *Phys. Rev. Appl.* 12 014015
- [131] Song S, Jeon S, Kim H, Kang D D, Asano T and Noda S 2018 High-Q-factor nanobeam photonic crystal cavities in bulk silicon carbide Appl. Phys. Lett. 113 231106
- [132] Mu Z et al 2020 Coherent manipulation with resonant excitation and single emitter creation of nitrogen vacancy centers in 4H silicon carbide Nano Lett. 20 6142–7
- [133] Morioka N et al 2020 Spin-controlled generation of indistinguishable and distinguishable photons from silicon vacancy centres in silicon carbide Nat. Commun. 11 2516
- [134] Martini F, Gaggero A, Mattioli F and Leoni R 2019 Single photon detection with superconducting nanowires on crystalline silicon carbide Opt. Express 27 29669–75
- [135] Aharonovich I, Englund D and Toth M 2016 Solid-state single-photon emitters Nat. Photon. 10 631-41
- [136] Srocka N, Mrowiński P, Große J, Von Helversen M, Heindel T, Rodt S and Reitzenstein S 2020 Deterministically fabricated quantum dot single-photon source emitting indistinguishable photons in the telecom O-band Appl. Phys. Lett. 116 231104
- [137] Paul M, Olbrich F, Höschele J, Schreier S, Kettler J, Portalupi S L, Jetter M and Michler P 2017 Single-photon emission at 1.55 μm from MOVPE-grown InAs quantum dots on InGaAs/GaAs metamorphic buffers Appl. Phys. Lett. 111 033102
- [138] Musiał A, Holewa P, Wyborski P, Syperek M, Kors A, Reithmaier J P, Sęk G and Benyoucef M 2019 High-purity triggered single-photon emission from symmetric single InAs/InP quantum dots around the telecom C-band window Adv. Quantum Technol. 3 1900082
- [139] Xiang Z-H, Huwer J, Skiba-Szymanska J, Stevenson R M, Ellis D J P, Farrer I, Ward M B, Ritchie D A and Shields A J 2020 A tuneable telecom wavelength entangled light emitting diode deployed in an installed fibre network *Commun. Phys.* 3 121
- [140] Kim J-H, Cai T, Richardson C J K, Leavitt R P and Waks E 2016 Two-photon interference from a bright single-photon source at telecom wavelengths *Optica* 3 577
- [141] Rickert L, Kupko T, Rodt S, Reitzenstein S and Heindel T 2019 Optimized designs for telecom-wavelength quantum light sources based on hybrid circular Bragg gratings Opt. Express 27 36824
- [142] Srocka N, Mrowiński P, Große J, Schmidt M, Rodt S and Reitzenstein S 2020 Deterministically fabricated strain-tunable quantum dot single-photon sources emitting in the telecom O-band Appl. Phys. Lett. 117 224001
- [143] Musiał A et al 2020 Plug&play fiber-coupled 73 kHz single-photon source operating in the telecom O-band Adv. Quantum Technol. 3 2000018
- [144] Bremer L et al 2020 Quantum dot single-photon emission coupled into single-mode fibers with 3D printed micro-objectives APL Photonics 5 106101
- [145] Hensen B et al 2015 Loophole-free Bell inequality violation using electron spins separated by 1.3 kilometres Nature 526 682-6
- [146] Humphreys C, Kalb N, Morits J P J, Schouten R N, Vermeulen F L, Twitchen D J, Markham M and Hanson R 2018 Deterministic delivery of remote entanglement on a quantum network *Nature* 558 268–73
- [147] Abobeih M H, Cramer J, Bakker M A, Kalb N, Markham M, Twitchen D J and Taminiau T H 2018 One-second coherence for a single electron spin coupled to a multi-qubit nuclear-spin environment Nat. Commun. 9 1–8
- [148] Bradley C E, Randall J, Abobeih M H, Berrevoets R C, Degen M J, Bakker M A, Markham M, Twitchen D J and Taminiau T H 2019 A ten-qubit solid-state spin register with quantum memory up to one minute *Phys. Rev.* X 9 031045
- [149] Evans R E et al 2018 Photon-mediated interactions between quantum emitters in a diamond nanocavity Science 362 662-5
- [150] Bhaskar M K et al 2020 Experimental demonstration of memory-enhanced quantum communication Nature 580 60-64
- [151] Machielse B *et al* 2019 Quantum interference of electromechanically stabilized emitters in nanophotonic devices *Phys. Rev.* X 9 031022
- [152] Riedel I S, Shields B J, Starosielec S, Appel P, Neu E, Maletinsky P and Warburton R J 2017 Deterministic enhancement of coherent photon generation from a nitrogen-vacancy center in ultrapure diamond *Phys. Rev. X* 7 031040
- [153] Chia C et al 2020 Diamond quantum nanophotonics and optomechanics Semiconductors and Semimetals: Diamond for Quantum Applications Part 2 vol 104, ed I Aharonovich, C Nebel, N Mizuochi and M Hatano (New York: Academic) ch 6 pp 219–51
- [154] Bassett L C, Alkauskas A, Exarhos A L and Fu K-M C 2019 Quantum defects by design Nanophotonics 8 1867–88
- [155] Trusheim M E et al 2020 Transform-limited photons from a coherent tin-vacancy spin in diamond Phys. Rev. Lett. 124 023602
- [156] Dory C et al 2019 Inverse-designed diamond photonics Nat. Commun. 10 1–7
- [157] Kien F, Gupta S D, Balykin V I and Hakuta K 2005 Spontaneous emission of a cesium atom near a nanofiber: efficient coupling of light to guided modes *Phys. Rev.* A 72 032509
- [158] Sorensen H L, Beguin J-B, Kluge K W, Iakoupov I, Sorensen A S, Muller J H, Polzik E S and Appel J 2016 Coherent backscattering of light off one-dimensional atomic strings Phys. Rev. Lett. 117 133604
- [159] Mukhopadhyay D and Agarwal G S 2019 Multiple Fano interferences due to waveguide-mediated phase coupling atoms Phys. Rev. A 100 013812
- [160] Mukhopadhyay D and Agarwal G S 2020 Transparency in a chain of disparate quantum emitters strongly coupled to a waveguide Phys. Rev. A 101 063814
- [161] Zhou Y, Chen Z and Shen J-T 2017 Single-photon superradiant emission rate scaling for atoms trapped in a photonic waveguide Phys. Rev. A 95 043832
- [162] Nair J M, Mukhopadhyay D and Agarwal G S 2021 Enhanced sensing of weak anharmonicities through coherences in dissipatively coupled anti-PT symmetric systems *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **126** 180401

- [163] Hood J D, Goban A, Asenjo-Garcia A, Lu M, Yu S-P, Chang D E and Kimble H J 2016 Atom-atom interactions around the band edge of a photonic crystal waveguide Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA 113 10507
- [164] Hughes S and Agarwal G S 2017 Anisotropy-induced quantum interference and population trapping between orthogonal quantum dot exciton states in semiconductor cavity systems Phys. Rev. Lett. 118 063601
- [165] Petrov N L, Fedotov A B and Zheltikov A M 2019 High-brightness photon pairs and strongly antibunching heralded single photons from a highly nonlinear optical fiber Opt. Commun. 450 304–7
- [166] Petrov N L, Voronin A A, Fedotov A B and Zheltikov A M 2019 Ultrahigh-contrast cross-polarized entangled photon pairs from a strongly birefringent photonic-crystal fiber Appl. Phys. B 125 54
- [167] Chen Z, Zhou Y and Shen J-T 2017 Exact dissipation model for arbitrary photonic Fock state transport in waveguide QED systems Opt. Lett. 42 887
- [168] Asenjo-Garcia A, Kimble H J and Chang D E 2019 Optical waveguiding by atomic entanglement in multilevel atom arrays Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA 116 25503–11
- [169] Radulaski M et al 2019 Nanodiamond integration with photonic devices Laser Photonics Rev. 13 1800316
- [170] Kumar P 1990 Quantum frequency-conversion Opt. Lett. 15 1476-8
- [171] Fejer M M 1994 Nonlinear optical frequency conversion Phys. Today 47 25
- [172] Agrawal P 2007 Nonlinear Fiber Optics (New York: Academic)
- [173] Radnaev G et al 2010 A quantum memory with telecom-wavelength conversion Nat. Phys. 6 894–9
- [174] Raymer M G and Srinivasan K 2012 Manipulating the color and shape of single photons Phys. Today 65 32–37
- [175] Maring N, Farrera P, Kutluer K, Mazzera M, Heinze G and de Riedmatten H 2017 Photonic quantum state transfer between a cold atomic gas and a crystal Nature 551 485–8
- [176] Yu Y et al 2020 Entanglement of two quantum memories via fibres over dozens of kilometres Nature 578 240-5
- [177] McGuinness J, Raymer M G, McKinstrie C J and Radic S 2010 Quantum frequency translation of single-photon states in a photonic crystal fiber Phys. Rev. Lett. 105 093604
- [178] Pelc J S, Ma L, Phillips C R, Zhang Q, Langrock C, Slattery O, Tang X and Fejer M M 2011 Long-wavelength-pumped upconversion single-photon detector at 1550 nm: performance and noise analysis Opt. Express 19 21445
- [179] Kielpinski D, Corney J F and Wiseman H M 2011 Quantum optical waveform conversion Phys. Rev. Lett. 106 130501
- [180] Awschalom D et al 2021 Development of quantum interconnects (QuICs) for next-generation information technologies PRX Quantum 2 017002
- [181] Bradford M, Obi K C and Shen J-T 2012 Efficient single-photon frequency conversion using a sagnac interferometer Phys. Rev. Lett. 108 103902
- [182] Moss D J, Morandotti R, Gaeta A L and Lipson M 2013 New CMOS-compatible platforms based on silicon nitride and Hydex for nonlinear optics Nat. Photon. 7 597–607
- [183] Li Q, Davanço M and Srinivasan K 2016 Efficient and low-noise single-photon-level frequency conversion interfaces using silicon nanophotonics Nat. Photon. 10 406–14
- [184] Lu X, Moille G, Rao A and Srinivasan K 2021 Proposal for noise-free visible-telecom quantum frequency conversion through third-order sum and difference frequency generation Opt. Lett. 46 222–5
- [185] Lu J, Surya J B, Liu X, Bruch A W, Gong Z, Xu Y and Tang H X 2019 Periodically poled thin-film lithium niobate microring resonators with a second-harmonic generation efficiency of 250,000%/W Optica 6 12
- [186] Fan L, Zou C-L, Poot M, Cheng R, Guo X, Han X and Tang H X 2016 Integrated optomechanical single-photon frequency shifter Nat. Photon. 10 766–70
- [187] Singh A et al 2019 Quantum frequency conversion of a quantum dot single-photon source on a nanophotonic chip Optica 6 563
- [188] Girvin M 2014 Circuit QED: superconducting qubits coupled to microwave photons Quantum Machines: Measurement and Control ofEngineered Quantum Systems (Les Houches Summer School, Session XCVI) ed M Devoret, B Huard, R Schoelkopf and L F Cugliandolo (Oxford: Oxford University) pp 113–255
- [189] Juanjuan L, Ming L, Zou C-L, Al Sayem A and Tang H X 2020 Towards 1% single photon nonlinearity with periodically-poled lithium niobate microring resonators Optica 7 1654
- [190] Lin Z, Liang X, Lončar M, Johnson S G and Rodriguez A W 2016 Cavity-enhanced second-harmonic generation via nonlinear-overlap optimization Optica 3 233–8
- [191] Minkov M, Gerace D and Fan S 2019 Doubly resonant  $\chi^{(2)}$  nonlinear photonic crystal cavity based on a bound state in the continuum *Optica* 6 1039–45
- [192] Bartholomew J G, Rochman J, Xie T, Kindem J M, Ruskuc A, Craiciu I, Lei M and Faraon A 2020 On-chip coherent microwave-to-optical transduction mediated by ytterbium in YVO4 Nat. Commun. 11 3266
- [193] Arnold G *et al* 2020 Converting microwave and telecom photons with a silicon photonic nanomechanical interface *Nat. Commun.* **11** 4460
- [194] Pechal M and Safavi-Naeini A H 2017 Millimeter-wave interconnects for microwavefrequency quantum machines Phys. Rev. A 96 042305
- [195] Fan L, Zou C-L, Cheng R, Guo X, Han X, Gong Z, Wang S and Tang H X 2018 Superconducting cavity electro-optics: a platform for coherent photon conversion between superconducting and photonic circuits Sci. Adv. 4 eaar4994
- [196] McKenna T P, Witmer J D, Patel R N, Jiang W, Van laer R, Arrangoiz-Arriola P, Wollack E A, Herrmann J F and Safavi-Naeini A H 2020 Cryogenic microwave-to-optical conversion using a triply resonant lithium-niobate-on-sapphire transducer Optica 7 1737
- [197] Han X et al 2020 Cavity piezo-mechanics for superconducting-nanophotonic quantum interface Nat. Commun. 11 3237
- [198] Jiang W, Sarabalis C J, Dahmani Y D, Patel R N, Mayor F M, McKenna T P, Van Laer R and Safavi-Naeini A H 2020 Efficient bidirectional piezo-optomechanical transduction between microwave and optical frequency *Nat. Commun.* 11 1166
- [199] Mirhosseini M, Sipahigil A, Kalaee M and Painter O 2020 Superconducting qubit to optical photon transduction Nature 588 599–603
- [200] Balram K C, Davanço M I, Song J D and Srinivasan K 2016 Coherent coupling between radiofrequency, optical and acoustic waves in piezo-optomechanical circuits Nat. Photon. 10 346–52
- [201] Vainsencher A, Satzinger K J, Peairs G A and Cleland A N 2016 Bi-directional conversion between microwave and optical frequencies in a piezoelectric optomechanical device Appl. Phys. Lett. 109 033107
- [202] Peairs G A *et al* 2020 Continuous and time-domain coherent signal conversion between optical and microwave frequencies *Phys. Rev. Appl.* 14 061001
- [203] Ren H, Matheny M H, MacCabe G S, Luo J, Pfeifer H, Mirhosseini M and Painter O 2020 Two-dimensional optomechanical crystal cavity with high quantum cooperativity Nat. Commun. 11 3373

- [204] Najafi F et al 2015 On-chip detection of non-classical light by scalable integration of single-photon detectors Nat. Commun. 6 5873
- [205] Gourgues R, Zadeh I E, Elshaari A W, Bulgarini G, Los J W N, Zichi J, Dalacu D, Poole P J, Dorenbos S N and Zwiller V 2019 Controlled integration of selected detectors and emitters in photonic integrated circuits Opt. Express 27 3710–6
- [206] Slussarenko S and Pryde G J 2019 Photonic quantum information processing: a concise review *Appl. Phys. Rev.* 6 041303
   [207] Mattioli F, Zhou Z, Gaggero A, Gaudio R, Jahanmirinejad S, Sahin D, Marsili F, Leoni R and Fiore A 2015
- Photon-number-resolving superconducting nanowire detectors Supercond. Sci. Technol. 28 104001
- [208] Wollman E E, Verma V B, Lita A E, Farr W H, Shaw M D, Mirin R P and Nam S W 2019 Kilopixel array of superconducting nanowire single-photon detectors *Opt. Express* 27 35279–89
- [209] Zhu D, Zhao Q-Y, Choi H, Lu T-J, Dane A E, Englund D and Berggren K K 2018 A scalable multi-photon coincidence detector based on superconducting nanowires Nat. Nanotechnol. 13 596–601
- [210] Zhu D, Colangelo M, Chen C, Korzh B A, Wong F N C, Shaw M D and Berggren K K 2020 Resolving photon numbers using a superconducting nanowire with impedance-matching taper Nano Lett. 20 3858–63
- [211] Cheng R, Wang S and Tang H X 2019 Superconducting nanowire single-photon detectors fabricated from atomic-layer-deposited NbN Appl. Phys. Lett. 115 241101
- [212] Martinez N J D, Gehl M, Derose C T, Starbuck A L, Pomerene A T, Lentine A L, Trotter D C and Davids P S 2017 Single photon detection in a waveguide-coupled ge-on-si lateral avalanche photodiode Opt. Express 25 16130–9
- [213] Vines P, Kuzmenko K, Kirdoda J, Dumas D C S, Mirza M M, Millar R W, Paul D J and Buller G S 2019 High performance planar germanium-on-silicon single-photon avalanche diode detectors Nat. Commun. 10 1086
- [214] Bunandar D et al 2018 Metropolitan quantum key distribution with silicon photonics Phys. Rev. X 8 021009
- [215] Migdal A, Polyakov S Y, Fan J and Bienfang J C 2013 Single photon generation and detection: physics and applications Experimental Methods in Physical Sciences vol 45 (New York: Academic)
- [216] Grant C et al 2019 UHV-CVD growth of high quality gesn using SnCl<sub>4</sub>: from material growth development to prototype devices Opt. Mater. Express 9 3277–91
- [217] Soref R 2010 Mid-infrared photonics in silicon and germanium Nat. Photon. 4 495-7
- [218] Wirths S et al 2015 Lasing in direct-bandgap GeSn alloy grown on Si Nat. Photon. 9 88–92
- [219] Ackert J, Thomson D J, Shen L, Peacock A C, Jessop P E, Reed G T, Mashanovich G Z and Knights A P 2015 High-speed detection at two micrometres with monolithic silicon photodiodes *Nat. Photon.* **9** 393–6
- [220] Pernice W H P, Schuck C, Minaeva O, Li M, Goltsman G N, Sergienko A V and Tang H X 2012 High-speed and high-efficiency travelling wave single-photon detectors embedded in nanophotonic circuits *Nat. Commun.* 3 1325
- [221] Preskill J 2018 Computing in the NISQ era and beyond Quantum 2 79
- [222] Mehta K, Bruzewicz C D, McConnell R, Ram R J, Sage J M and Chiaverini J 2016 Integrated optical addressing of an ion qubit Nat. Nanotechnol. 11 1066
- [223] Mehta K K 2017 Integrated optical quantum manipulation and measurement of trapped ions *PhD Thesis* Massachusetts Institute of Technology
- [224] Todaro S, Verma V, McCormick K, Allcock D, Mirin R, Wineland D, Nam S, Wilson A, Leibfried D and Slichter D 2021 State readout of a trapped ion qubit using a trap-integrated superconducting photon detector *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 126 010501
- [225] West G N, Loh W, Kharas D, Sorace-Agaskar C, Mehta K K, Sage J, Chiaverini J and Ram R J 2019 Low-loss integrated photonics for the blue and ultraviolet regime *APL Photonics* **4** 026101
- [226] Mehta K K and Ram R J 2017 Precise and diffractionlimited waveguide-to-free-space focusing gratings Sci. Rep. 7 1
- [227] Ivory, Setzer W, Karl N, McGuinness H, DeRose C, Blain M, Stick D, Gehl M and Parazzoli L 2020 Integrated optical addressing of a trapped ytterbium ion (arXiv:2011.12376 [quant-ph])
- [228] Stephenson L J, Nadlinger D P, Nichol B C, An S, Drmota P, Ballance T G, Thirumalai K, Goodwin J F, Lucas D M and Ballance C J 2020 High-rate, highfidelity entanglement of qubits across an elementary quantum network Phys. Rev. Lett. 124 110501
- [229] Orcutt J S *et al* 2012 Open foundry platform for high-performance electronic-photonic integration Opt. *Express* 20 12222
- [230] Mehta K K, Eltony A M, Bruzewicz C D, Chuang I L, Ram R J, Sage J M and Chiaverini J 2014 Ion traps fabricated in a CMOS foundry Appl. Phys. Lett. 105 044103
- [231] Rungta P, Munro W J, Nemoto K, Deuar P, Milburn G J and Caves C M 2001 Qudit entanglement *Directions in Quantum Optics:* A Collection of Papers Dedicated to the Memory of Dan Walls ed H J Carmichael, R J Glauber and M O Scully (Berlin: Springer) pp 149–64
- [232] Ecker S et al 2019 Overcoming noise in entanglement distribution Phys. Rev. X 9 041042
- [233] Imany P, Jaramillo-Villegas J A, Alshaykh M S, Lukens J M, Odele O D, Moore A J, Leaird D E, Qi A M and Weiner A M 2019 High-dimensional optical quantum logic in large operational spaces npj Quantum Inf. 5 59
- [234] Kues M et al 2017 On-chip generation of high-dimensional entangled quantum states and their coherent control Nature 546 622–6
- [235] Mohanty A, Zhang M, Dutt A, Ramelow S, Nussenzveig P and Lipson M 2017 Quantum interference between transverse spatial waveguide modes Nat. Commun. 8 14010
- [236] Gokhale P, Baker J M, Duckering C, Brown N C, Brown K R and Chong F T 2019 Asymptotic improvements to quantum circuits via qutrits *Proc. 46th Int. Symp. on Computer Architecture* pp 554–66
- [237] Reimer C et al 2018 High-dimensional one-way quantum processing implemented on d-level cluster states Nat. Phys. 15 148-53
- [238] Luo K-H, Brauner S, Eigner C, Sharapova P R, Ricken R, Meier T, Herrmann H and Silberhorn C 2019 Nonlinear integrated quantum electro-optic circuits *Sci. Adv.* 5 eaat1451
- [239] Harris N C et al 2017 Quantum transport simulations in a programmable nanophotonic processor Nat. Photon. 11 447-52
- [240] Imany P, Jaramillo-Villegas J A, Odele O D, Han K, Leaird D E, Lukens J M, Lougovski P, Qi M and Weiner A M 2018
   50-GHz-spaced comb of high-dimensional frequency-bin entangled photons from an on-chip silicon nitride microresonator *Opt. Express* 26 1825
- [241] Seshadri S, Imany P, Lingaraju N, Leaird D E and Weiner A M 2020 Harnessing spectral phase in broadband time-energy entangled photons for precision delay sensing *Frontiers In Optics / Laser Science* p FW7C.1
- [242] Lukens J M and Lougovski P 2017 Frequency-encoded photonic qubits for scalable quantum information processing Optica 4 8
- [243] Wang J *et al* 2015 Reconfigurable radio-frequency arbitrary waveforms synthesized in a silicon photonic chip *Nat. Commun.* 6 5957

- [244] Gevorgyan O H, Zhang B, Khilo A and Popović M A 2020 Ultra-high Q resonators and sub-GHz bandwidth second order filters in an SOI foundry platform Optical Fiber Communication Conf. (OFC) 2020, OSA Technical Digest (Optical Society of America) p W1A.4
- [245] Ogiso Y et al 2020 80-GHz bandwidth and 1.5-V V# InP-based IQ modulator J. Lightwave Technol. 38 249-55
- [246] Kieninger C et al 2020 Silicon-organic hybrid (SOH) Mach–Zehnder modulators for 100 GBd PAM4 signaling with sub-1 dB phase-shifter loss Opt. Express 28 24693–707
- [247] Asavanant W et al 2019 Generation of time-domain-multiplexed two-dimensional cluster state Science 366 373-6
- [248] Larsen M V, Guo X, Breum C R, Neergaard-Nielsen J S and Andersen U L 2019 Deterministic generation of a two-dimensional cluster state *Science* **366** 369–72
- [249] Baragiola Q, Pantaleoni G, Alexander R N, Karanjai A and Menicucci N C 2019 All-Gaussian universality and fault tolerance with the Gottesman-Kitaev-Preskill code Phys. Rev. Lett. 123 200502
- [250] Asavanant W et al 2021 One-hundred step measurement-based quantum computation multiplexed in the time domain with 25 MHz clock frequency Phys. Rev. Applied 16 034005
- [251] Lenzini F et al 2018 Integrated photonic platform for quantum information with continuous variables Sci. Adv. 4 eaat9331
- [252] Qi Y and Li Y 2020 Integrated lithium niobate photonics *Nanophotonics* **9** 1287–320
- [253] Tzitrin I, Bourassa J E, Menicucci N C and Sabapathy K K 2020 Progress towards practical qubit computation using approximate Gottesman-Kitaev-Preskill codes Phys. Rev. A 101 032315
- [254] Vahlbruch H, Mehmet M, Danzmann K and Schnabel R 2016 Detection of 15 dB squeezed states of light and their application for the absolute calibration of photoelectric quantum efficiency Phys. Rev. Lett. 117 110801
- [255] Kashiwazaki T, Takanashi N, Yamashima T, Kazama T, Enbutsu K, Kasahara R, Umeki T and Furusawa A 2020 Continuous-wave 6-dB-squeezed light with 2.5-THz-bandwidth from single-mode PPLN waveguide APL Photonics 5 036104
- [256] Orieux A and Diamanti E 2016 Recent advances on integrated quantum communications J. Opt. 18 083002
- [257] Diamanti E, Lo H-K, Qi B and Yuan Z 2016 Practical challenges in quantum key distribution *npj Quantum Inf.* 2 16025
- [258] Paraïso K, De Marco I, Roger T, Marangon D G, Dynes J F, Lucamarini M, Yuan Z and Shields A J 2019 A modulator-free quantum key distribution transmitter chip npj Quantum Inf. 5 42
- [259] Zhang G et al 2019 An integrated silicon photonic chip platform for continuous-variable quantum key distribution Nat. Photon. 13 839
- [260] Semenenko H, Sibson P, Hart A, Thompson M G, Rarity J G and Erven C 2020 Chip-based measurement-device-independent quantum key distribution Optica 7 238
- [261] Wei W L et al 2020 High-speed measurement-device-independent quantum key distribution with integrated silicon photonics Phys. Rev. X 10 031030
- [262] Chen W and Bottoms B 2019 Heterogeneous integration roadmap: driving force and enabling technology for systems of the future 2019 Symp. on VLSI Technology (Kyoto, Japan) pp T50–T51
- [263] Craiciu M L, Rochman J, Bartholomew J G and Faraon A 2020 Multifunctional on-chip storage at telecommunication wavelength for quantum networks (arXiv:2008.10795 [quant-ph])
- [264] Avesani M et al 2020 Full daylight quantum-key-distribution at 1550 nm enabled by integrated silicon photonics (arXiv:1907.10039 [quant-ph])
- [265] Raffaelli G F, Ferranti G, Mahler D H, Sibson P, Kennard J E, Santamato A, Sinclair G, Bonneau D, Thompson M G and Matthews J C F 2018 A homodyne detector integrated onto a photonic chip for measuring quantum states and generating random numbers *Quantum Sci. Technol.* 3 025003
- [266] Liu Z, Zhu D, Raju L and Cai W 2021 Tackling photonic inverse design with machine learning Adv. Sci. 8 2002923
- [267] Carleo G, Cirac I, Cranmer K, Daudet L, Schuld M, Tishby N, Vogt-Maranto L and Zdeborová L 2019 Machine learning and the physical sciences *Rev. Mod. Phys.* 91 045002
- [268] Hammond M and Camacho R M 2019 Designing integrated photonic devices using artificial neural networks Opt. Express 27 29620–38
- [269] Jiang M C and Fan J A 2021 Deep neural networks for the evaluation and design of photonic devices Nat. Rev. Mater. 6 679
- [270] Genty G et al 2021 Machine learning and applications in ultrafast photonics Nat. Photon. 15 91
- [271] Dunjko V and Briegel H J 2018 Machine learning & artificial intelligence in the quantum domain: a review of recent progress Rep. Prog. Phys. 81 074001
- [272] Tiunov E S, Tiunova (Vyborova) V V, Ulanov A E, Lvovsky A I and Fedorov A K 2020 Experimental quantum homodyne tomography via machine learning *Optica* 7 448–54
- [273] Potokar E, Collings R S, Hammond A M and Camacho R M 2021 Rapid simulation of scattering parameters for coupled waveguides with arbitrary geometries J. Lightwave Technol. 39 566–73
- [274] Stokes J I, Izaac J, Killoran N and Carleo G 2020 Quantum natural gradient Quantum 4 269
- [275] Krenn M, Erhard M and Zeilinger A 2020 Computer-inspired quantum experiments Nat. Rev. Phys. 2 11